THE SOUTHERN COMPONENT OF THE LABRADOR INUIT COMMUNAL HOUSE PHASE: The Analysis of an 18<sup>01</sup>--Century Muhy House at Huntingdon Island 5 (Fkbg-3)









## THE SOUTHERN COMPONENT OF THE LABRADOR INUIT

## COMMUNAL HOUSE PHASE:

# THE ANALYSIS OF AN 18<sup>TH</sup>-CENTURY INUIT HOUSE AT

## HUNTINGDON ISLAND 5 (FkBg-3)

By

## C Phoebe Murphy

A thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts

Department of Archaeology/Faculty of Arts Memorial University of Newfoundland

> September 2011 St. John's, Newfoundland

#### Abstract

The focus of this thesis reasen his the excavation of a Labrador limit witter bource occupied during the 18<sup>th</sup> century. The 18<sup>th</sup> century in Labrador was the period in which permanent European enterment beag and allow the formation of the theory of the construct large multi-family houses and this is referred to as the Communal House phase. This research concerns the execution and analysis of an Init winter house at the Huntingdon Mand 5 site (FRIgs.2) in Stadwich Bay, southern Labrador. This research respective the first sector and the intercomman Bouse to be investigated south of Grosswater Bay, and consequently, contributes to the overall understanding of the Communal House phase and the distinct southern component of this period I limit histore.

## Acknowledgments

The completion of this research would not have been possible without the financial contributions from various organizations, as well as the assistance from a number of different people. First, the financial support from the Northern Scientific Training Program, the Provincial Archaeology Office of Norsformland and Larkaroka Smallwood Research Foundation, Momorial University, the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council (SSHRC), and the Community-University Research Alliance (CURA/SSIRC) provided the necessary finds to undertake this research and data analysis. The allocated financial support permitted the tavel to Lahndor, hirting of a crew, purchasing of supplies, and specialist analysis of recovered famal remains, scientum stupes, start fundocurbo alting.

My research in part of a much larger CURA project titled "Understanding the Part Bield the Parter", which is a multi-disciplinary enderoors involving both scholarly research and community-based initiatives in partnerships with the Larbardon Imit-Mittis Nation. Having the opportunity to work on one aspect of such a cooperative and innovative project has been both a positive and an enlightening experience. Working under the CURA project introduced me to a diverse group of posphe in Newformland and Larbardow and Fed fortunate to have correlated to this research enderover.

The fieldwork component of my research went remarkably well due to the valuable contributions from a variety of people. The community of Carstvilgh Labrador provided work and laboratory space as well as a welcoming environment in which to conduct research. I an also grateful for the ansittance provided by Doris and Lew Davis who took exception are of the crew while excavating at Humingdon bland 5. Furthermore, I would like to thank all of the crew who were not only dedicated workers, had were grant company for the summer. I would like to thank. Attory Adler, Adlessa Burns, Guy Dake, Rohyn Fleming, Kristina Hannis, Jennifer Jones, Laura Kelvin, Brent Keutler, Rence Shae, and Linday Swintmort for all heirh ald work in the summer of 2010. Moreover, the laboratory crew based in Cartwright consisting of Charlene Clark, Cheluea Dyson, Branden Morris, Chelsea Morris, and Laura Termes, made my life significantly less stressful due to their copious announts of cataloguing during the summer, I would also like to thank the special guest excursts that stopped in and picked up a towed during the summer, including Dr. Mario Blaner from Memorial University. Alicia Eban from the Labradez Melis Nikon, and arists and Timmer Paul Morin.

The assistance with my thesis research continued well past the field/work and I would like to thank Linday Swinarton for her speedy funal analysis, Robyn Fleming and Corey Hutchings for their endless assistance in the prehistory laboratory. Amy St. John for her caracterizes, and Melliss harms for her constant supply of historical artifact sources. I would also like to thank Dr. Barry Gnahon for his help with all my historic artifact identification and seemingly endless questions in that regard. Doma Teadade, the aechanology department's conservator, was also infinitely helpful and insightful. Furthermore, I would like to acknowledge Tim Rast for his assistance in facility in my whalehone artifacts. I also had the exportantly to meet members of the geology department during the course of my research and would like to thank Dr. Graham Layne for his help with identifying my prire concretions and his necyclopedic knowledge on the subject. I an also grateful for the assistance provided by Erick Goldesine, carator of behavioral Artars and Nummarkies at Coldman Uliminotry, for Mark

iv.

quick identification of the sword hilts recovered from House 3 and Elaine Anton from the St. John's Provincial Museum, the Rooms, for allowing me access to comparative collections.

My experience at Memorial University exceeded my expectations and I believe this is completely due to the amazing group of people I met in the archaeology department. My fellow classmates have become great friends and I am so glad to have met such incredible and supportive people in this department. In addition, I would like to thank my family for their unwavering support and endless proofreading and, of course, Steve for all of his support and for calmly dealing with my thesis-induced stress. Furthermore, I am incredibly grateful for all of the beautiful maps and figures graciously produced by Dr. Peter Ramsden for my use. I know I bombarded him with emails and questions and I really appreciate all of his work, insights, and speedy replies! The quality of my thesis yastly improved through his skills. Finally, I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Lisa Rankin, for her continual support and motivation. I have learned so much from Lisa and consider her to be the driving force behind my positive experience at Memorial University and I could not have asked for a more considerate, innovative, and supportive supervisor. I feel eternally grateful to her for introducing me to Labrador and to Inuit archaeology and for being such a wonderful supervisor.

v

## Table of Contents

Abstract	11
Acknowledgements	iii
List of Tables	ix
List of Figures	х
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
1.1 Research Outline and Objectives	1
1.1.1 Project Overview.	1
1.1.2 Research Objectives	- 4
1.2 Interpretive Framework	7
1.3 Thesis Outline	11
Chapter 2 Cultural Background and Research Context	13
2.1 Thule/Inuit Cultural Background	13
2.1.1 Thule Origins and Migration	13
2.1.2 Thule Labrador Migration and Colonization.	15
2.2 Europeans in Labrador: Historical Background	18
2.2.1 Migratory Fishery 16th and 17th Centuries.	18
2.2.2 French Fishery 17th and 18th Centuries	20
2.2.3 Labrador Post-1763	22
2.2.4 Conclusions	25
2.3 Southern Labrador Archaeological Context	26
2.4 Research Context: Communal Houses	28
2.4.1 Thule/Inuit House Forms.	29
2.4.2 Thule/Inuit Chronology: Northern Labrador	30
2.4.3 Thule/Inuit Chronology: Central Labrador	32
2.4.4 Hypotheses Pertaining to the Adoption of Communal Houses	34
2.4.4.1 Environmental Causes	34
2.4.4.2 Socio-Economic Complexity	35
2.4.4.3 Internal Factors	37
2.4.5 Communal House Conclusions	39
Chapter 3 Methodology and Excavation.	41
3.1 Site Description	41
3.1.1 The Sandwich Bay Region	41
3.1.2 Huntingdon Island	45
3.1.3 House 3 (FkBg-3), Huntingdon Island 5	47
3.2 Field Methods.	49
3.3 Excavation Results: Architecture	51
3.3.1 House Description	51
3.3.2 Discussion	55

Chapter 4 Results	59
4.1 Introduction and Artifact Classification.	59
4.2 Artifact Results	60
4.2.1 Metals	60
4.2.1.1 Iron	60
4.2.1.2 Lead.	67
4.2.1.3 Copper.	69
4.2.1.4 Pewter	72
4.2.2 Glass.	74
4.2.3 Stone	76
4.2.4 Ceramic	79
4.2.5 Bone and Mammal-Derived Products.	85
4.2.5 Clay	87
4.2.7 Wood	89
4.3 Artifact Discussion	90
4.3.1 Artifact Distribution	90
4.3.2 Assemblage Dates	93
4.3.3 Radiocarbon Dating Results	95
4.3.4 Artifact Summary	97
4.4 Faunal Results.	100
4.4.1 Quantification and Results	100
4.4.2 Seasonality	103
4.4.3 Archaeoentomology Results.	105
4.5 Faunal Discussion	106
4.5.1 Faunal Distribution	106
4.5.2 Faunal Summary	109
Chapter 5 Communal House Comparisons	111
5.1 Comparative Sites	111
5.1.1 Ikkusik, House 8.	114
5.1.2 Uivak Point, House 7.	115
5.1.3 Eskimo Island 1, House 2.	116
5.1.4 Seal Islands.	118
5.1.5 Illorpaat 3, House IV	119
5.2 General Trends in Comparison to Huntingdon Island 5, House 3	121
5.2.1 Introduction.	121
5.2.2 Dimensions and Organization	122
5.2.3 Material Culture.	124
5.2.4 Faunal Data	125
5.2.5 Discussion	107

Chapter 6 Discussion and Conclusions	132
6.1 Introduction	132
6.1.1 Summary of House 3 Excavation and Findings	132
6.2 Addressing Initial Research Questions.	133
6.2.1 Dating of the House 3 Excavation	134
6.2.2 Inuit-European Cultural Encounters	135
6.2.2.1 Incorporation of European Goods	135
6.2.2.2 Nature of Interactions	137
6.2.3 Comparative Framework	139
6.2.3.1 Continuity and Change in 18th-Century Labrador	140
6.2.3.2 The Nature of the House 3 Occupation	143
6.2.4 Summary: A Southern Variation	145
6.3 Suggestions for Future Research	146
6.4 Conclusions and Final Remarks	147
Pafarancas Citad	149

# List of Tables

Table 4.1 Table of recovered artifacts sorted by material type.	59
Table 4.2 Artifact dating chart.	94
Table 4.3 Dating chart, including radiocarbon results.	97
Table 4.4 Origin of artifacts.	98
Table 4.5 Faunal quantifications.	101
Table 5.1 Comparative site data.	121

# List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Map of Labrador with Sandwich Bay highlighted.	2
Figure 1.2 Map of Sandwich Bay with the Huntingdon Island 5 site indicated.	3
Figure 2.1 The Thule migration from Alaska to Labrador and Greenland.	14
Figure 2.2 Thule entry and colonization of Labrador.	17
Figure 2.3 Map of Labrador with Hamilton Inlet highlighted.	27
Figure 2.4 Labrador Inuit house forms (Early and Communal House periods).	31
Figure 3.1 Map of Sandwich Bay.	42
Figure 3.2 Map of Huntingdon Island.	45
Figure 3.3 Huntingdon Island 5 site map.	47
Figure 3.4 House 3 prior to excavation.	48
Figure 3.5 House 3 with floor and features exposed.	52
Figure 3.6 House 3 floor plan map.	53
Figure 3.7 Profile of North-South trench.	55
Figure 3.8 House plan map with each family's area circled.	57
Figure 4.1 Iron ulu.	62
Figure 4.2 Probable iron ulus.	63
Figure 4.3 Iron men's knife.	63
Figure 4.4 Iron axe.	64
Figure 4.5 Iron padlock.	66
Figure 4.6 Hammered lead harpoon head.	67
Figure 4.7 Lead pendants.	68

Figure 4.8 French sword hilts.	70
Figure 4.9 George II coin.	71
Figure 4.10 Copper coins.	72
Figure 4.11 Pewter spoon.	73
Figure 4.12 Green heart beads.	76
Figure 4.13 Soapstone pot.	78
Figure 4.14 Normandy coarse stoneware base fragment.	81
Figure 4.15 Green-glazed coarse earthenware.	82
Figure 4.16 Ligurian-style ceramic sherd.	83
Figure 4.17 Whalebone sled parts.	86
Figure 4.18 Whalebone mattock.	87
Figure 4.19 Kaolin pipe bowls (A, B, and C).	88
Figure 4.20 Metal distribution map.	91
Figure 4.21 Soapstone distribution map.	92
Figure 4.22 Items of adomment distribution map.	92
Figure 4.23 Graph displaying the radiocarbon dating results.	96
Figure 4.24 Faunal distribution map.	107
Figure 4.25 Distribution map of seal remains.	108
Figure 4.26 Distribution map of caribou remains.	108
Figure 5.1 Comparative site locations.	113
Figure 5.2 Huntingdon Island 5, House 3 compared to Ikkusik House 8.	123

#### Chapter 1: Introduction

## 1.1 Research Outline and Objectives

#### 1.1.1 Project Overview

The purpose of this research is to investigate the Inuit in southern Labrador during the dynamic and complex contact period through the excavation of an Inuit dwelling. Labrador has a lengthy and entangled contact history involving European fishers and whaters from various countries as well as Inuit. Recent Indian, and Dorset Paleo-Eskimopopulations. The Inuit and the European fishers and whalers arrived in Labrador at approximately the same time (McGhee 2009a; Ramsden and Rankin 2010), and are the dominant cultural groups discussed in this study. From the 16th century onward, the Inuit were interacting with European groups on the Labrador landscape and finding new and meaningful ways to deal with the foreign presence. This research is concentrated on the Inuit populations who resided in the southern coastal area of Labrador, specifically in the Sandwich Bay region (Figure 1.1). Southern Labrador was previously considered to be outside the zone of traditional Inuit settlement: however, this issue is seemingly resolved and parts of southern Labrador are now considered traditional Inuit land-use areas and have received intense archaeological focus in recent years (Beaudoin 2008; Brewster 2005, 2006; Rankin 2010a, 2010b, 2010c; Stopp 2002). This research aims to contribute to the understanding of the Inuit occupation in Sandwich Bay, southern Labrador, through the excavation and analysis of a contact period Inuit winter house.

In the early 1990s, the Huntingdon Island 5 site (FkBg-3) in Sandwich Bay was identified as an historic period occupation (Stopp 1992) (Figure 1.2). In 2006 the site was revisited and it was determined that the site was larger than previously recorded and that



Figure 1.1. Map of Labrador with Sandwich Bay highlighted.

the site was representative of an Inuit occupation (Rankin 2009). Excavation began at the site in 2009 (Bankin 2010b). The Huntingdon Island 5 site contains at least five semisubtermanel Inuit wither houses (Houses 1-5) and a minimum of six summer season text rings suggesting the statistict even of this island by Inuit groups over multi-seasonal visits. During the excavation of House 1 in 2009, it was determined that House 3 would form the host of my takes research and it was stated for investigation in 2010. Initial



Figure 1.2. Map of Sandwich Bay with the Huntingdon Island 5 site indicated.

testing and preliminary assessment of the shape and size of House 3 led project supervisor, Dr. Lian Rankin, to suspect an 18<sup>th</sup>-century date for the occupation of the dotting Rankin 2016b, The roughly rectangular shape and large time of House 3 was likely a communal atyle dwelling. Communal atyle structures appeared suddenly in Labrade drating the 18<sup>th</sup> eventury and have been the focus of much archaeological research and interest beaues they indicate an immediate shift in the histic intertimeter and economic pattern (Jordan 1978; Jordan and Kaplan 1980; Asplan 1983, 1985; Kaplan and Weollett 2000; Richling 1993; Schledermann 1971, 1976a, 1976b; Taylor 1976; Wihridge 2000; Woollett 2003). The securation of House 3 recealed that it is indeed a communal struct deving and as a receale it is one of the first structures of this phase of Inuit history to be investigated south of Groswater Bay, and the only such structure of this type to be examined in the Standwich Bay area. The excavation and interpretation of House 3 from the Hamingdon Island 5 site contributes meaningful information concerning the Communal House planse of Labrador Inuit esture with a particular focus on the nature of command houses shall be of Groswater Bay.

#### 1.1.2 Research Objectives

Specific research objective sever outlined and refinding droit or the escavation of House 3 to both facus and guide the project. Southern Labrader has only recently began to be systematically investigated and hasies research questions involving the timing of the initial limit arrival in this area and the unique adaptations to limit life ways as a result of the southern migration are now actively being addressed (Rankin 2010e, Rankin et al. 2011). While my research alone cannot directly answer these overarching encorems, my research will combine the refinement of the southern chronology of Intuit exquisition and provide insights into the specific adaptations of the Imit populations in southern Labrader. There are three specific dispetitions of the Imit populations in southern Eastenders 1: Distantion of the southern chronology of Intuit exquisitions through the analysis of the collected assemblage and house features; and, 3) interpreting the analysis of the collected assemblage and house features; and, 3) interpreting the mathy of community houses in the south of Labrader in order to contribute the travent debate concerning the purposed prime community houses.

The primary research objective is concerned generally and most significantly with the dating of the House 3 occupation. Although obtaining an exact date is unlikely, by employing various means of analysis a date range for the occupation may be determined.

The during methods include during European manufactured objects, applying established Imit architecture chronologies developed for other regions of Labrader, and indication analysis of viable erganic samples. The three during methods used in this research are considered complementary in order to provide a feasible data range for the occupation of the structure. Determining a date range for the structure is important for later interpretations of the dwelling includuality understanding junit European interactions during the bourse exception and for comparing House 3 to contemperators structures.

The secondary research objective is concerned with the manner in which European goods were incorporated and used by the Inuit inhabiting House 3 and the nature of the cultural interactions between the Inuit and European populations. In terms of the incorporation of European goods by the Inuit, the recovered assemblage is examined to assess whether European manufactured items are present, and if so, to determine the manner in which these items were used and/or adapted for use by the Inuit. For instance, were European items directly replacing traditional items in the Inuit toolkit or were new practices and behaviours adopted? Does the assemblage indicate what types of items the Inuit were predominately acquiring? Apart from the focus on the use of European goods by the Inuit, the secondary objective is also concerned with the nature of the cultural encounters between the Inuit and Europeans. Trade with the indigenous groups in southern Labrador was an essential aspect of the European voyages and historic documents chronicle the attempts to establish and maintain peaceful trade relations with the Inuit: nonetheless, the Inuit were also known to pillage seasonally abandoned European settlements (Auger 1991; Stopp 2002; Trudel 1981). Understanding how the Inuit obtained European commodities is important because it can shed light on the state of

local relations between the limit and the European neighbours. Different European groups had control of southern Labrador at different points in history and determining which European groups is represented in the assemblage will no coly help to discern the period of occupation, but will also allow a discussion about the ongoing relations between the limit and the dominant European cultural groups.

The final research objective focuses on the nature of Inuit communal houses in southern Labrador. House 3 is the first communal style dwelling to be examined in Sandwich Bay, and only the second to be recognized in southern Labrador (Auger 1989. 1991) For this reason it is important to contextualize this feature by comparing it to known Inuit communal houses elsewhere in I abrador in order to reveal similarities or disparities throughout the greater region. There is currently a debate within Labrador Inuit studies concerning the nature and purpose of Inuit communal houses. Leading hypotheses suggest that the large dwelling structure developed abruntly in response to changing climate (Peterson 1974/1975: Schledormann 1971 1976a 1976b; Woollett 1999) increasing socio-economic complexity as a result of social and trade relationships with Europeans (Jordan 1978: Jordan and Kaplan 1980: Kaplan 1983: Richling 1993: Taylor 1976), or the ongoing internal dynamics of Inuit culture (Kaplan and Woollett 2000; Whitridge 2008). The excavation and interpretation of House 3 will contribute to the debate by presenting data from a communal house that is located outside of the area traditionally considered to be the core Labrador settlement area. In some manner House 3 is already distinctive given that the Inuit inhabitants of the Huntingdon Island 5 site lived in proximity to the European settlements and, as a result, experienced different circumstances than central and northern Inuit including sustained European contact An

important component of this objective is to understand whether the limit proximity to the European presence produced any discernible differences in the House 3 occupation and assemblage of if cultural continuity is seen within the region of Labrador during the Communal House phase. Essentially, the goal is to determine if House 3 represents a typical style Labrador limit communal house, or is representative of a different phonomenon linkto its southern location.

The research objectives are ultimately three-pronged: to date and describe a contact period lmuit dwelling in standwich. Buy, to examine lmuit-European interactional during this period, and to interpret the nature of the occupation within the context of 18<sup>th</sup>. Century Laheador, The executation of a single household represents only one brief temperal view inits fluit life ways, and to needs to be positioned and understood within the long-term history of the lmuit. The following section discusses the complexities of cultural encounters and the corresponding relation to archaeological data sets and interpretations. The purpose of the emsing discussion is to set the onceptual framework in which the research questions are later addressed and the executation of House 3 ta interpretation.

#### 1.2 Interpretive Framework

The aim of this research is to investigate a contact period Labrador huilt winter house, and as such, the interpretive focus of this research project will be situating the House 3 excavation within current verins of culture contact studies. Culture contact studies are particularly relevant for the discussion and interpretation of archaeological sites in colonial situations and incorporate aspects of various theoretical stances, including but no limited to, predict theory, structuralized proceedoonal theory, and gatewy. The

analysis of House 3 involves engaging with culture contact themes and the material record recovered to provide insightful information about the nature of the House 3 occupation.

For the purpose of this study, contact is viewed not solely as dualistic relations of domination and subordination but as entanelement: a concept particularly suited for Labrador as the establishment of a permanent colonial institutional presence occurred more than two centuries after the initial European arrival. The concept of cultural entanglement incorporates the premise that cultures possess a negotiable identity that involves ideas of resistance, resilience, variability, and autonomy (Martindale 2009:61). instead of focusing exclusively on indigenous colonization as a result of colonial domination. The notion of entanglement provides denth and mutuality to the interaction of cultures instead of emphasizing contact as a singular or isolated event (Silliman 2005). Relations between indigenous groups and colonizing agents can endure for centuries and thus instigate an "indigenous historical consciousness in which local customs and solidarity are explicitly contrasted with the inequality characteristic of relations with outsiders" (Thomas 1991:4). In areas such as Labrador where encounters, however sporadic or indirect, were oneoing between foreigners and indigenous groups for hundreds of years, it is beneficial to conceive these interactions as lengthy and interwoven processes, rather than isolated contact events culminating in indigenous acculturation.

Material remains are integral to the analysis of House 2 as it certainly is to archaeology as a discipline with its heavy focus on the material record. Sillman (2001;196) discusses how colonial objects were "objects without local history" and could be generoristical by indigenous groups in order to negotiate social identities. The appropriation of foreign objects is largely contingent on the context, and in many cases exoric items were used by indigenous groups in familiar ways, thereby foreign at link to the past (Stable 2020; 334-335). The use of European commodities was a culturally mediated and selective process, not a direct indication of the adoption of European cultural practices or behaviours. The fact that indigenous groups adopted foreign objects is not as important as the manner in which foreign items were redefined and made relevant and useful within indigenous society (Kopytoff 1986;67). As objects cross boundaries between cultures, so do the meanings of objects (Stahl 2022;82); Thomas 1991).

With material culture constituting the encompassing focus of archaeological inquiry, the discipline is provided with an opportunity to examine the changing notes of objects in context similants. Through metal culture, such as challing and housing, identifies could be asserted and reasserted and existing boundaries could be real-aped and changed (Loren 2005). Certain individuals could manipulate traditional social relations of power and leadership roles to create new identifies that were not available previously (Silliam 2007). This coccept is significant to Labador in relation to the development and amplification of long-distance trade networks, which is explored in detail in later chapters. Chance context studies have typically focused on the artifict assemblages to assess change or acculturation through counts and ratios, assuming the number of Europeani terms in relation to the anather of indigenous iterus to be a gauge or representation of the level of culture change and acculturation (Lightfore 1995;206). This is no longer viewed as statificative as simple artifict counts assume the indigenous groups to be maxime networks in a subificition of the orthorized metal stations.

(Lightfoot 1995:206; Lightfoot et al. 1998:200). It is a better fit to consider the indigenous groups as active social agents involved in daily decision-making.

An intermetive tool deemed relevant for this research is a focus on daily activities and material culture to assess culture change and interaction as advocated by Lightfoot et al. (1998:201): "it is through daily practices - how space is structured, how mundane domestic tasks are conducted, how refuse is disposed of - that people both organize and make sense of their lives". These daily activities use and produce material culture, which ultimately becomes part of the archaeological record, and are evident in the construction and use of space within a domestic dwelling (Lightfoot et al. 1998). As the focus of this particular research is the excavation and analysis of a complete dwelling, a glimpse into the ordering of the daily lives of the inhabitants is obtained. It is through the structuring of everyday life that individuals continually act and re-enact the principles foundational to the cultural system and archaeology provides an avenue in which to explore the daily activities and use of space over time (Lightfoot et al. 1998:201). This becomes increasingly significant in the face of changing social conditions in colonial contexts as daily practices are redefined and mediated in order to remain relevant (I ightfoot et al. 1998).

Contact situations are so intriguing because there are a number of emneshed and historically dependent factors at play. An interpretive formal focused on cultural entanglements is particularly relevant for this type of research as it emphasizes long-term interactions rather than singular contact events, focuses on the agency and daily choice making of indigenous groups, and moves away from the colonizer/colonized dichotomy.

and spatial equanization analysis and through the material goods that dominate archaeological data sets. This study is concerned with situating the House 3 excavation in relation to other Labradon lumit houses and assessing cultural lead good or persistence over time to provide a manaced understanding of the contact milieu is southern Labrador. Artificet analysis and underlying culture contact thenses will aid in the interpretation of House 3 and its positioning within the Communal House phase of Labrador Inuit culture. L3 Thesis Outline

In order to start to address the research objectives outlined above, Chapter 2 of this thesis begins with the histories of both the Inuit and the European groups in Labrador. Chapter 2 also outlines the research context, which summarizes the current research nertaining to southern Labrador archaeology and also describes the Labrador Inuit architectural chronology. Furthermore, the various hypotheses concerning the shift to communal houses are presented to inform future discussions and interpretations. Chapter 3 describes the geographical setting of Sandwich Bay and the Huntingdon Island 5 site, outlines the methods for the House 3 excavation, and provides a description of the architecture results. Chapter 4 summarizes the archaeological data recovered from House 3. The artifacts are discussed first, including details of the artifact distribution within the dwelling and the relevant dates associated with the manufactured European goods recovered in the structure. The second part of Chapter 4 examines the faunal data including quantifications, seasonality, and the distribution of the faunal elements. Chapter 5 places House 3 within a comparative context by comparing it to contemporaneous Inuit houses from within Labrador and Greenland. Finally, Chapter 6 presents the discussion

and interpretation of House 3, which addresses the research objectives outlined in Chapter

I and suggests areas for future research.

#### Chapter 2. Cultural Background and Research Context

## 2.1 Thule/Inuit Cultural Background

#### 2.1.1 Thule Origins and Migration

The Inuit populations of Canada and Greenland are the direct descendants of the cultural group referred to archaeologically as the Thule. The Thule culture was first identified in northwestern Greenland near a settlement of the same name, during the Fifth Thule expedition of the early 1920s (Mathiassen 1927). The purpose of the expedition was to investigate the history of the Inuit populations in the Arctic through archaeology and ethnology in an attempt to shed light on their origins (Mathiassen 1927). Archaeological leader of the Fifth Thule expedition. Therkel Mathiassen, composed a lengthy trait list defining the Thule culture (Mathiassen 1927: Maxwell 1985). In brief, the Thule are classified as maritime hunters who possessed advanced sea-faring technology and an extensive bone and antler tool industry designed to exploit a variety of land and sea resources, including whales (Maxwell 1985). Apart from describing the Thule culture. Mathiassen suggested a western Arctic homeland for the Thule, an assertion that was generally correct (Mathiassen 1927). The origins of the Thule culture are indeed found in northern Alaska and the Bering Sea region and the Thule are descendants of the Birnirk culture (McGhee 2009b: Rankin 2009; Whitridge 1999). During the 13th century, the Thule undertook an eastward migration across the Arctic departing from northern Alaska and eventually reaching northeastern Canada and Greenland (Friesen and Arnold 2008:537; McGhee 2009a:75; 2009b:161) (Figure 2.1).

The Thule migration across the high Arctic from west to east covering a distance of over 4000 km was rapid and, it appears, purposeful (McGhee 2009b:160). The Thule



Figure 2.1. The Thule migration from Alaska to Labrador and Greenland.

migration has been attributed to be search for new and productive whising numuha and also to an eastward extension of the bowhead whale range due to the Medieval Warm period, which may have forced the Thatle to some east (Mahnisus 1927; McGhee 1969) 1970). Recently, whale-based and elimatic hypotheses have been called into question an the sole motivating factors for the migration, expectally as the chronology for the Thale movement out of Alaska is further refined (Friesen and Arnold 2005; McGhee 2004). McGhee (2006a, 2009b) has convincingly argued that the Thale migration Alaska was focused on metal sources simulated in the cast. Iron was familiar to the Thale while in Alaska through involvement and trade with Shering propa and metal quickly became a highly working (1); Rismond and Rankin 2010;8).

At the time of the Thule arrival in Greenland, Norse colonies had been established for nearly 200 years and it has been posited that the migration of the Thule eastward was deliberately focused on iron from both the Norse colonies and the Cane York meteorites (McGhee 2009a, 2009b; Ramsden and Rankin 2010). Word of the Norse settlements and nearby meteor deposits likely reached the Thule while in Alaska from Dorset Paleo-Eskimos groups, and an eastward migration began soon after to seek the iron sources directly (Friesen and Arnold 2008:535: McGhee 2009b:161: Ramsden and Rankin 2010/8). Thule transportation equipment including dog sleds and large boats could facilitate a rapid movement across the Arctic and the Thule could have conceivably reached the eastern destination in a less than a decade if desired (McGhee 2009b:161). McGhee (2009b:162) has compellingly referred to the Thule Arctic crossing not as a migration, but a purposeful "mercantile exploration" focused on iron. The Thule desire to obtain iron was to substitute metals in place of traditional materials such as stone, ivory, and bone in their toolkit (Fitzhugh 1985). Traditional items continued to be made and used in the traditional manner with iron simply substituting for blades, drills, and other tool parts (Fitzhugh 1985). Importantly, the Thule were only interested in acquiring the raw material, not in adopting the European technology of smelting (Fitzhugh 1985:36). The European items were essentially incorporated in the Thule toolkit without directing any social or cultural change (Ramsden 2010:4).

#### 2.1.2 Thule Labrador Migration and Colonization

In the 15<sup>th</sup> century, the Thule abundoned areas of high Arctic Canada and Greenland in favour of more southern locations, such as Labrador (McGhee 2009a:87; Ramsden and Rankin 2010-9). The migration southward away from the high Arctic coincides with the decline and eventual desertion of the Norse Creentlandic colonies (Ramdon and Rankin 2010). Once again, the Taule movement appears to have been proporchiptly scenetule to exploit European proop (McGhee 2009); Ramdon and Rankin 2010). Fortunately for the Thale, following the abandonment of the Norse Greenlandic colonies, Rumpean fishers, whates, and exploren begun to arrive in Labrador threely providing new source of iron and other desired items (McGhee 2009a; Ramdon and Rankin 2010). Scentually, it is specialated heat the Thus originging the Alabaka to purposefully locate and exploit the Norse colonies and meteor deposits (Ramsden and Rankin 2010). Following the decline of these sources of iron and European technologies, the Thule continued southward into Labrador where coincidentially and fortiatously different European prospowers pit artivity (Ramsden against 2010).

The Thule entered northern Labrador in the line 1:5<sup>4</sup> or cardy-16<sup>6</sup> entury and were by no means the first group to inhibit this region (Kaplan 1945; Ramaden 2010; Ramkin 2009; A the time of the Thale array, Labrador was compiled by Recent Indian populations in the central and southern regions, and potentially Dorset Paleo-Eakimo groups in the north (Fitzhugh 1977; Loring 1992; McGhee 1996); The Thale were quick to exploit the resource fich ecosystems of Labrador and were successful in settling this region and displacing and/or absorbing earlier inhabitants (Fitzhugh 1985); Rather than southern costal areas beginning in the 16<sup>th</sup> century, during which material culture and architectural design remained relatively uniform across the region (Rashika 2010;321). The seeed of the Thue imagins with Labrador may be subtrador to the seecification



Figure 2.2. Thule entry and colonization of Labrador.

land and sea transportation equipment the Thule brought with them to Labrador, namely dog-drawn sleds and *umiaks* or large multi-person boats (Kaplan 1985:48).

It is at the point of the Thule migration southward within Labrador during the 16<sup>th</sup> century that archaeologistis begin to refer to the Thule as the historic funit (Firzhugh 1977), Archaeological evidence indicates that the Inuit contenization of Labradow areas extensive, with groups eventually reaching as far south as the Senist of Belle Ide (Augur 1991), 1993; Song-2020; Figure 22; The Thurbleniat colonization of Labradow areas related as a structure of the Senist of Labradow areas related as a structure of Labradow areas related to the Senist of Labradow areas related as a structure of Labradow areas and encomposed areas ranging from the northern tip to the southern coastal stretches within a century of the initial array (Rankin 2009;36, 2010a;323). With Labrador representing part of the southernmost limit of Inuit expansion and occupation, the initial Thale/Inuit colonizers were clearly adaptable and resilient in order to thrive so successfully in southern territory (Brewster 2005; Rankin 2016a).

## 2.2 Europeans in Labrador: Historical Background

European groups frequented the Labrador coast for centuries and the presence of these groups has phayled adynamic role in shaping the triplectory of Hunil-European relations in this region. The European arrival and exploration in Labrador is generally added to the late-16 security, excluding the Norse who may have eccasionally made handhall close to five hundred years prior (Fizhngh 1985; Gooling 1916; Odeas et al. 2000; The Thule/Innit were unlikely to have encountered the Norse directly in Labrador (Rankin 2009;15), and for the purposes of this discussion, the European presence in Labrador will be outlined from the 15<sup>th</sup> entry anyonad. The focus of this section will be a neverive of the European presence in Labrador up to the early-19<sup>th</sup> century in order to provide a streamlined summary that is relevant to this study. Particular attention is pidd to the French theory in the 17<sup>th</sup> and 18<sup>th</sup> centuries due to the cocyupation date of the loware under cammination here, and the historical events following the French control of Labrador version effective one broady.

## 2.2.1 Migratory Fishery 16th and 17th Centuries

Various European groups plied the Labrador waters beginning in the late-15<sup>th</sup> century to exploit the abundant sea resources, search for the elusive Northwest Passage, or conduct trade (Tradel 1981). The dominant enterprise in Labrador during this period

was the migratory fishery, which involved a variety of fishers and whates originating from Spain, Portugal, France, and England (Gosling 1910, Trude 1911). The fishery was a sensule varieur and provided angle opportunity for the limit to stafe hashnodend camps over the winter when the fishers returned to their country of origin. The seasonal nature of the fishery allowed the limit to obtain desired European commodities with little interaction with the foreigners (Fisher) hits 36 seamented that the limit would scenerge the seasonal camps when the migratory fishers returned to Europe in the winter months, but that raids would also occer in the summer and were the major cause of coefficies between the European fishers and whatlers and the limit (Stopp 2002-83). During the tenter of the migratory fishers and whatlers and the limit European relations were tense and finangle with voluene.

By the 17<sup>th</sup> century, independent Dath traders were also salling the Laterstor waters in order to conduct trade with the lnuit (Kaplan 1983;163, 1985;55). An important contrast between the Dath trading explosits and the seasonal fishing ventures was that the Duch traders wiseless along the length of the Laberador costaline, whereas the seasonal fishing and whaling enterprise was predictably focused only on the southern costal region (Kaplan 1983, 1985). Visits to Laberador by Dath traders throughout the 17<sup>th</sup> century were both inconsistent and geographically variable in comparison to the southerm ingraver (Taber (Kaplan 1985).

Encounters between the various European groups and the limit were of a nonformalized, sporadic nature during this period and European goods recovered on limit sites from this time could have been easily obtained through seavenging and do not recessarily indicated index exchange (Kaplen 1985-56). In a sense, acquiring European Items was relatively simple during this period for the limit with the flow of goods constant as the futbery followed a predictable seasonal cycle. The limit were able to avoid the boolies and office magnetos diverse encounters with the fereigners while still accessing desired commodities. Although the Datch traders may have sought limit trade directly along the Labrador coast, the Datch traders were much less reliable than the migratory futbers and contacts vere similarly irregular, beief, and potentially hostile (Kophan 1983, 1983).

Once encisit result of the European migratory fulling and whaling in Larkator is that, except for the few Datch tradeers, the Europeans were frequenting the southern costal areas exclusions. This created conditions where goods of European manufacture were available from only a single entry point in Labrador (Firzhagh 1985). During the migratory flubry and well into the subsequent centuries, European goods were geographically restricted to the southern shores, which proved an integral factor for future development.

## 2.2.2 French Fishery 17th and 18th Centuries

Between the late 1600s and 1763, the French were the dominant European population on the Labradze Indecage. The French were in Labradze to exploit marrite resources and also to contact and trade with the lmuit and Recent Indian populations (Zimmerly 1973). The French presence uson became more intenses than the earlier migratory fishing and whaling ventures, and as a result Inuit-European interaction was altered. During the early years of the 18<sup>th</sup> contary, concessions were granted to French merchants to over-winter in Labradze in order to establish isolentary scaling and fishing station (Anderson 1904; Resvers: 2005; Kalen 1903; Saege 2006; The sofestary French failery meant that camps were no longer abandoned over the winter, upsetting the pre-existing fauit raiding system. Moreover, establishmett of the French sedentary failery caused major conflicts with the limit populations over competition for the best sealing grounds, an issue the limit did not have to face in earlier times with the seasonal failery (Anderson 1944; Stope 2002).

Although some French fishers involved in the sedentary fishery were already over-wintering in Labrador, the French presence was more severely felt after 1713 with the passing of the Treaty of Utrecht, in which Britain was granted the rights to Newfoundland Nova Scotia and Hudson's Bay (Auger 1991: Goding 1910). The Treaty of Utrecht caused the French to focus their attention more heavily on the southern areas of Labrador, including encouraging permanent settlement there (Anderson 1984; Kaplan 1983: Trudel 1981). Due to the resource rich coastline of Labrador, establishing nermanent French settlements in this region was seen as particularly beneficial for France and year-round residency was promoted (Anderson 1984). Establishing trade relations with the Inuit was seen as complementary to permanent settlement with the hopes of French settlers trading European manufactured goods for skins, fish, oil, and other commodities the Inuit were adept at harvesting (Anderson 1984:26: Trudel 1981:335-336). Elltimately, the goal was to engage the Inuit nonulations in the lucrative global commodities market with France reaping the economic benefits (Kaplan 1983; Rankin et al. 2011: Trudel 1981: Zimmerly 1975).

Despite the desires of France, French contacts and trade with the Inuit took place, as phrased by Trudel (1981:332), "in a climate of extreme mutual caution". The period prior to 1713 saw many hostile and even fatal encounters between the French and Inuit
that served to instil a foundational fear in both parties when meeting the other group and conducting trade (Stonn 2002: Trudel 1981). The French desired to establish peaceful relations with the Inuit, yet the majority of French documents from the 17th and 18th centuries describe aggressive and unfriendly encounters with the Inuit (Stonp 2002:82). Following the Treaty of Utrecht, French guidelines were established for dealing with the Inuit in an attempt to rectify the inimical trading relations of the past. This included no trading of alcohol, no firing of weapons or displays of aggressive actions toward the Inuit. and the promotion of treating Inuit trading partners with utmost respect and kindness (Trudel 1981:336) Desnite the good intentions: the legislation arrived much too late and had little impact on altering Inuit-European relations (Kaplan 1983). Nonetheless, over the decades of the French presence in Labrador, a number of individuals attempted, with varving degrees of success, to create amicable trading partnerships with the Inuit, most notably Courtemanche, Jolliet, and Fornel (Gosling 1910:134: Storn 2002:82-83). Although specific individuals may have secured relatively peaceful trading relationships with certain Inuit traders, overall the development of formalized trade did not occur. The hostile encounters of the past between the migratory fishery and the Inuit influenced the relationships of the future with wariness and fear experienced on both sides.

2.2.3 Labrador Post-1763

The French tenure in Labrador effectively came to an end following the Trenty of Paris in 1763 when French held regions of Labrador were coded to the British (Goaling 1910; Kaplan 1983; Tradd 1981). In an attempt similar to the French in earlier decades, the British introduced a fermal trade policy and also prohibited European attacks on the minit in an effect to reverse the adverse finalite European intencision of the part (Auge

1991; Explant 1983); Furthermore, permanent settlement was initially banned to prevent the year-round residents from claiming access to the best fishing grounds and to return the focus to seasual fishing ventures (Kaplus 1983; 163-169). The bas of permanent settlement was temporary, and by the end of the 18<sup>th</sup> century permanent settlement was again permitted with the stabilishment of independent traders in southern Labrador. Despite the attempts of British governance, relations between Europeans and Imit remained antanomistic during the Itaci 18<sup>th</sup> century.

In 1764, a Moravian missionary named Jens Haven met with the Governor of Newfoundland. Hugh Palliser, to discuss the notential of establishing missions in Labrador, as such ventures were successful among the Inuit in west Greenland (Kaplan 1983:169). The Moravians and the British had complementary goals, as the establishment of Moravian missions with trading posts in northern Labrador would draw the Inuit north to trade, leaving the southern coasts available for British use free of Inuit hostilities (Auger 1991; Kaplan 1983). Moravian lobbying was a success and in arrangement with British governance, the first mission station opened in Nain in 1771, with missions in Okak and Hopedale following shortly after (Kaplan 1985:64). The establishment of Moravian missions marked the first permanent European presence in Labrador north of Hamilton Inlet (Kaplan 1985). The full accounts of the Moravian presence in Labrador are beyond the scope of this project, but it is essential to state that the initial focus of the missionaries was to both introduce the Inuit to Christianity and preserve the traditional Inuit way of life (Cabak 1991; Cabak and Loring 2000). In spite of the Moravian desire for the Inuit to remain self-sufficient, the missions formed a largely economic relationship

with the Inuit, which altered the traditional subsistence systems and caused increasing reliance on European goods (Cabak 1991; Cabak and Loring 2000).

Distinct from the Moravian presence in the north, certain independent British traders were focusing on the south of Labrador in the late-18th century, including Captain George Cartwright (Zimmerly 1975). Cartwright was one of the first British merchants in Lahrador and beginning in 1770, lived for 16 years in southern Lahrador while operating fishing and sealing nosts (Stopp 2008:4). Cartwright resided between Cape Charles and Sandwich Bay and managed to develop and maintain amicable trading partnerships and relationships with the Inuit, at one point even bringing Inuit community members with him to London (Auger 1991: Kennedy 1995: Stonn 2008: Stonn and Mitchell 2010). During this period, the European men employed by the independent traders began to particulically take Inuit women as wives, which ultimately contributed to a distinct Labrador-Métis identity that continues to the present day (Kennedy 1995). From the late-18th to the early-19th century, independent traders residing year-round in Labrador, such as Cartwright, controlled the trading economy (Zimmerly 1975). By the 1830s, however, for trade companies gained a trade monopoly and managed to force out the independent traders, essentially ending the era of the independent trader/settler in southern Labrador (Zimmerly 1975).

The 18<sup>th</sup> century saw the French and British exchange rights to Labrador and the development of permanent European settlement in this region. Missions were established in the later part of the 18<sup>th</sup> century, and were followed in the next century by far trade companies (Zimmerky 1975). Certain individuals did manage to successfully build relationships with them, tach as Carrowshich though Intel<sup>2</sup> Encoura building relationships.

continued throughout the century in a similar pattern to earlier decades. It must be stressed that the establishment of missions and trading posts drastically altered the Inuit way of life in the late-18<sup>th</sup> and early-19<sup>th</sup> centuries in Labrador, the details of which have only been lowely addressed here.

#### 2.2.4 Conclusions

Inuit-European interaction in Labrador over the several centuries of the European tenure in this region resulted in three crucial developments. First, the realization of the presence of "the other" occurred centuries apo for the Thule/Inuit with a history of engaging in extensive trade networks and of colonizing inhabited lands. The value of European technologies was also quickly realized through access to foreign manufactured resources and products available through exchange networks while the Thule were still in Alaska (McGhee 2009b: Ramsden and Rankin 2010). The Inuit were prepared to exploit the Europeans in Labrador and to use whatever means necessary to acquire the highly sought European items. Second, the Inuit incorporated these foreign objects into their toolkit with little, if any, cultural, social, or economic change (Ramsden 2010:4: Schledermann 1971:19). As mentioned previously, the Inuit were not interested in smelting the iron themselves and instead the metal goods were directly replacing stone and other traditional materials in traditional style Thule/Inuit tools (Fitzhugh 1985:36). Third, prior to the arrival of the Moravians in the late-18th century, the European presence was restricted to the south of Labrador. The nature of the European fishing and whaling ventures, including both migratory and sedentary exploits, created conditions in Labrador where goods of European origin had a single, southern point of entry into the Inuit social system (Fitzhugh 1985). The combination of the southern entry point of European goods

and the linear distribution of finuit settlements along the length of the Labrador coastline afforded certain niche opportunities and shaped the social and economic realms of the linuit in the emaining decades (Kaplan 1985). The three factors outlined above contributed to the distinctive cultural setting of Labrador, which will be explored further in future chapters.

# 2.3 Southern Labrador Archaeological Context

Archeological investigation of the Labrador fuml begun with William Durane Strong in the late 1920s, not long after the conclusion of the Fifth Thale expedition, and research has provide usine (Tablain 2007); Par the faces of much the archaological research in Labrador to date has been concentrated on the central and northern regions while the investigation of southern Labrador has been relatively limited in stoper. The interest in investigation of southern Labrador has been relatively limited in stoper. The providing the method research and the stoper labrador has been on northern Labrador. Furthermore, it was widely assumed that the finit populations in Labrador din top permanently inhibit the southern region (Taylor 1900s, which has resulted in limited archaeological investigation of the area. As Rankin (2010a;320-320) eleidense, the assumption that the limit did not inhibit the south may reflect a findamental bias of researchers who perceived the finit as Arctic dwellers associated with an ice covered environment, and hence overloaded the potential for finita istics in the forefut, summer structures of the course.

Until recently, it was generally accepted that Hamilton Inlet was the terminus of permanent lauit occupation in Labrador (Jordan 1978; Jordan and Kaplan 1980) (Figure 2.3). It was argued that the Inuit populations in Labrador used areas south of Hamilton



Figure 2.3. Map of Labrador with Hamilton Inlet highlighted.

Inlet only as staging grounds for easonal forzys to trade with or raid the European populations (Fitzhugh 1977; Taylor 1980). The limit presence in the south was considered to be seasonal in nature beginning in the 16<sup>th</sup> century, which coincides with the arrival of the Europeans and the attraction of potential trade and pillaging opportunities (Goding 1910:166; Martijn and Clermont 1980). Only during the past two decades have these hypotheses about the limits of Labendor trade caugasions been challenged, thereby

initigating a reassessment of the former explanations. Stopp (2002-96) used documentary evidence to argue that the limit were occupying southern Labrador year-round from the mid-16<sup>46</sup> to mid-18<sup>46</sup> entries. Furthermore, recent archanological work in the Sandwich Bayergion, which is of Nm south of Flamilton Intel, has revealed a number of multiseason Inuit sites occupied between the 16<sup>46</sup> and the 19<sup>46</sup> centuries suggesting a sustained and continuous Innit preserve (Boassion 2005; Brewster 2005; Brachin 2007; Brachin et al. 2011). The discovery of sites in Sandwich Bay has challenged the notion that southern Labrador van merely a staging ground free limit and has provided substantial evidence that the southern stretches of Labrador were continually occupied. At long last, the contentions insue regarding famit occupation in southern Labrador in being resolved, with the areas ston of Hamilton Indet row warrarting more than staging ground status and indeed answers. Its traditional land-area area for the limit:

# 2.4 Research Context: Communal Houses

During the 18<sup>th</sup> century in northern Labrader and parts of Greenland, there is a visible change in lumi: winter bounding sizes toward large, reetangular soft losses in which multiple finalities resided. These structures have been termed communal houses. Such a profound and rupid restructuring of household composition has intrigued researchers for deades, especially due to the extensive geographic fices of this trend as communal houses appear in both Greenland and Labrador almost simultaneously (Gullar 1997). Communal houses and the reasons for the adoption of these structures have been the subject of continued investigation and debate in Labrador thanit studies. This section will first briefly outline the basic tenants of Thule/Imit architecture, including a description of established theorologies, Finally, an overview of the various lycoposes regarding the subject of continues in restructure of the various lycoposes regarding the subject of continues regarding the structure in the structure including a description of established theoremotics. adoption of communal houses in Labrador will be presented in order to highlight the main aspects of the communal house debate.

### 2.4.1 Thule/Inuit House Forms

The Thule/Imiti groups in Labrache constructed and lived in a variety of sensonally adapted hones: including texts, *qurmati*, sol homes, and now homes which complemented the sensonal resund (Taylor 1974). In terms of research forces, the concentration has mathiomally been on the solves due to the archaeological visibility, length of occupation, and relative preservation of these winter dwellings in comparison to the other homes forms. The Imiti would move into soch homes around mid-October and the homese were abundoned around the time of the gering flaw when the families would then move into texts, which were more confirmation for warenet workers.

Soft houses are defined as semi-subtrantant mellings with one or two rooms and are square to oval in shape (Mathiassen 1927). The floors generally consisted of flagged stones and offen a subtract of large stratege aspace (Maplan 1983). House frames were typically constructed with itimber or whatebone, depending on geographic resource availability, and overed with kins and sod (Breesster 2005). The sleeping platforms were typically mised above the floor level and constructed of parved stones or gravel and oged by upright tone slabs (Gaplan 1983). The sleeping platforms were typically mised above the floor level and constructed of parved stones or gravel and oged by upright tone slabs (Gaplan 1983). The sleeping platforms were strained as both sleeping and work areas (Beaudoin 2008; Kaplan 1983). Skins were likely hung from support heams to partition the interior living spaces (Petersen 1974/1975; Tayler 1974). Soppistone larges filled with sea manumal oil provided hear and light in the with robuses and work areas low (G rockwing (Cabak 1991).

2.4.2 Thule/Inuit Chronology: Northern Labrador

Jamins Hind (1045) initially developed a three-stage architecture classification for Thale/Imiti on houses in Labrator. Bird's (1945):120 chronology consisted of house Types I, Lin, and II. (1945):170, chronology followed a sequential order in which small, single-family houses (Type ) were replaced by dual-family rectangular houses (Type II) that in turn were succeeded by large multi-family households (Type III). Scholermann (1977) later adapted and elaborated Bird's three phase model and created a chronology composed of family. Communa, and Late period houses. Scholermann's adaptation of Hind's architectural model saw the merging of house Types II and III into the overarching Communal House phase and the extension of the chronology into the 19<sup>th</sup> centure.

Soluckermann's (1971:34) Early period (A.D. 1450-1707) is defined as rounded, single-family duellings with not era sleeping platform. Early period duelling were estimated to have boused between six and eight members of a machar family (Kaplan and Woollt2 2000:32). The following period, termed the Communal House phase (A.D. 1900-1850), consists of large, multi-family houses with alceping platforms located along three of the interier walls (Schledermann 1971:20) (Figure 2.A). These houses were generally rectungular in shape and contained an average of tweety individuals, and in some instances significantly more, and house an extended multy (Toph 1974:15). Recorded communal houses range in size from 6 m by 7 m to as large as 6 m by 16 m (Kaplan 1983;258). The Late period (A.D. 1859-present) is described as the taff. May round and Lingle-family deellings (Schledermann 1971:114). Both Early and Late revelocid houses treating. return to small family living arrangements in northern Labrador has been attributed to the pressure placed on Inuit families by Moravian missionaries to live in single family units in an attempt to end the practice of polygony (Schledermann 1971).

It must be noted that both Bird and Schledermann's chronologies were focused on northern Labrador Inuit settlements since it was not previously known if the same architectural trends even occurred in the south, let alone whether or not established chronologies were available to the souther revision of Labrador.



Early Period House

Staffe Island 1, House 10 (Redrawn from Fitzhugh 1994:Figure 7).



**Communal Style House** 

Ikkusik House C (Redrawn from Schledermann 1976a:Figure 4).

Figure 2.4. Labrador Inuit house forms (Early period and Communal House phase).

# 2.4.3 Thule/Inuit Chronology: Central Labrador

Complementary to the architecture chronologies discussed in the previous section is a three-stage chronology for the central Labrador coast in the vicinity of Hamilton Intet. This chronology is based on the exacution of close to twenty soft houses at various Eakimo Island sites with the changes in housing style attributed to the lmuit response to the European presence (Jordan and Kaplen 1980).

The first stage is titled the Colonization period (A.D. 1606-1700) in which architecture equates with the Early phase style of Schledermann's chronology with small and nonudor, single-formily bases cycled STPS17-171-80, Matterial culture recovered from sites of this period includes typical Thale-Innit items as well as European technologies, often altered into traditional items, for instance iron nails cold hammered into harpoor end-blacks, whor, and knives (Joedan 1978; To). The European items recovered from the assemblages could have been obtained through scavenging or pillinging and do not represent direct, format meet items (Joedan & Agalan 1980).

The next phase is named the Intermittent Trading period (A.D. 1700-1800), which coincides with Schledermann's Command House phase. Houses suddenly became larger in size and housed more people. Direct trade with Europeans became a significant sapect of finite iconvers, and the number of Europeans manufactured goods increased dramatically in lmit houses (Jordan 1978; Jordan and Kaplan 1980). Certain middlemen traders emerged during this period and moved European goods north and fmuit goods south along exabilished trade articroics (Derdan and Kaplan 1980). This period also save a shift in settlement location of winter sod houses from outer slands to inner islands in order to have access to a wider toroure back (Suplan 1983). The final stage is termed the Trading Prot period (A.D. 1800-1870) and corresponds with 55thdedemann's Late phase. Housing size noce again decreased and populations were reduced due to the introduction of European diseases (Jordan 1978:181). Tropping hearen a sanistray for the limit populations in order to trade the furs at trading posts for the European goods which were now heavily relied on, thus involving the limit in a cash economy (Jordan 1978; Jordan and Kaphan 1980). Exhibitshel interlmit and limit-European long-distance trade networks essentially collapsed during this period (Jordan 1978; Jordan and Kaphan 1990).

The Inuit-European interaction scheme places Schledermann's architecture chronology within a contact framework and situates the changes in household form within the larger historical themes that were occurring. For this reason, the three-stage chronology outlined above is the much-needed complement to the basic architecture chronology. As Jordan and Kaplan's chronology indicates, Inuit-European interaction changed over the tenure of the European presence from opportunistic raiding and plundering, to more direct and formalized trading partnerships, and finally to Inuit employment by the Europeans. The 18th century was undeniably a time of Inuit cultural elaboration, coinciding with the establishment of a permanent European settler population. During this period Inuit architecture style changed and began to incorporate multiple families, established trade networks thrived, and new high status roles, such as middleman trader, suddenly appeared. The next section presents the leading hypotheses concerning the shift of architecture style in the Communal House phase, which corresponds with the significant cultural changes outlined in Jordan and Kaplan's Intermittent Trading period.

2.4.4 Hypotheses Pertaining to the Adoption of Communal Houses

The Labrador Innii adoption of communal houses in the 18<sup>th</sup> century has intringued researchers for decades. Initially, various hypotheses were par forth including the wallability of superior building materials, families joining together due to face of the encroaching European presence, and even a Norea enchinectural influence was suggested, but these models found no archaeological support and largely did not stand the test of time (Bird 1961)?P, Petersen 1974/1975; Scholemanna 1976;a23), Conventionally, the hypotheses have taken two main stances focusing on either environmental or sociocomonic factors for filtenescing the abupt toosing change, however, hybrid models incorporating multiple factors with a faces on internal dynamics have recently come to the forefront. The purpose of this section is to culline the dominant explanations dailing with the communal house shift as these thems will be engaged later in the analysis. 24.41.Environment Casser

The traditional environmental perspective for the adoption of communal houses argued that a prolonged and severe eliminic cooling period occurred in Labrador between the start of the 1<sup>17</sup> century and the first docates of the 1<sup>18</sup> century (Scholermann 1971:111, 1976a:34, 1976b:39). Schledermann (1971, 1976a, 1976b) suggested that the cooling period would have increased sea ice and consequently reduced the availability of whales on which the northern populations relied so heavily, and instead the limit were forced to shift their attention to scal huming. The argument fibboxies, that unlike whales, which were shared at the community level, scals were only distributed at the household level. Living arrangements were soon altered and in solvadand families begats to merge into lever communal bousholds to ficilitate reserve theirin derire at not exceed solver the solut driver at the distributed at the household level. Living arrangements were soon altered and in solvadand families begats to merge into level. provide a safety net for less productive seal hunters and their families (Schledermann 1971;11-112; Petersen 1974/1975:178). Communal houses were seen as a response by less successful hunters to seek out and combine with more productive households.

Hypotheses based on hand climatic conditions have, however, falles ou of favour in recent years as it was revealed that Labrador experienced relatively mild weather duing this period, thus dispoving the main assumption provelling this interpretive framework (Koplan and Woodlert 2000.332.354; Woodlert 2003.613). Nevertheless, the mild climatic weather is similarly argued to have contributed to the communal house phenomena as it has been posside that mild weather and reduced sea ice would have alafied the faces to open waster seal hunting (Woodlert 1999). As opposed to ice based espanning which was a solitary task, eque water seal hunting from kayaki nivolved and organized group effort (Woodlett 1999). Cemmunal houses may have been used to organize and control cooperative hum. This would have althrefed certain housedbd heads particular leadership authority that may have been extended bycond the small hunt.

#### 2.4.4.2 Socio-Economic Complexity

Alternative interpretations focus less on the environmental aspects and more on the historical factors of the 18<sup>th</sup> century which cannot be ignored, namely the increasing and intensitying European presence on the landscare. The size of which houses appears to correspond with the development of wealthy middlemen tradees and it is suggested that large command dwellings are a result of the rise of a distinct middlement class (Jordan 1978), Jordan and Kaphan 1980; Raphan 1983; Taylor 1976). Ethnographic documents describe the resense of certain influential me in the 18<sup>th</sup> century who cocuried large

houses, often possessed multiple wives, and acted as middlemen traders and liaisons between the Europeans in the south and the Inuit groups of the north (Taylor 1974:80-81). The single southern point of entry of European goods produced opportunities whereby ambitious Inuit men could carve themselves a role through trading desired European commodities to the north where European goods were scarce in exchange for the baleen, oil, and other seal and whale products sought by the Europeans. The entrepreneurial middlemen often combined the lucrative role of trader with previously held respected roles, such as skilled hunter or shaman (Kaplan and Woollett 2000:352; Taylor 1974:81). It follows that European goods would only be distributed at the household level and through this process middleman traders would easily attract more members to their household (Taylor 1976). By gaining more household members, the traders would increase in status through controlling an even larger economic unit that collectively produced and acquired more of the surplus required for trading. The middleman theory connects with the larger themes of the intensifying European presence and resultant social complexity in an attempt to explain the appearance of communal residences. Moreover, this explanation is applicable also to Greenland, where communal houses appear approximately 50 years earlier than in Labrador, but similar extensive long distance trade networks and the European presence coincided with the building of large communal dwellings (Gulløv 1997).

An underlying assumption of the middleman hypothesis for the adoption of communal houses is that European items were considered private property by the limit and would only have been shared within a household (Jordan 1978; 184). If the foreign tems were considered private procept's individuals would what ho join the household of a

middlemmittader in order to have access to these commodies that were otherwise inaccessible. A contrasting view that has emerged within the middleman hypothesis is that European items may have instead been treated in the traditional limit manner of dealing with career resources, which invoice notions of recipievcity (Richling 1997;7:10). Each individual family may belong to a series of extensive social networks in which the distribution of limited resources, such as European manufactured items, is expected (Richling 1993). In this vein, commanal boucholds are interpreted as a mechanism for restricting the chain of recipievcity expected of one family. Commanal bouses served to reache the obligation of during to only the other residents of the commanal bouses body (Richling 1993). In this version, the adoption of commanal bousebodks is seen as limiting the obligation of reciprecity regarding covered trade goods rather than individuals congregating together through living arrangements to gain access to desired items. *24.4.3 Internet Forter* 

A growing number of researchers are not satisfied with the seemingly monocaual focus for the adoption of communal bouses in both the environmental and accincommonic approaches (Whittighe 2008). Instead, the focus has shifted to examining internal processes in an attempt to explain the communal house shift. One such explanation focuses on the long-term trends of Thate houseshold forms and the subsequent re-arrangement over time of the placements of the hearth. The original early Binnik house doingin, from which the Thatelen huar are descended, has the hearth place in the centre of the house (Whittighe 2008). This design changed over time with cooking areas often in a separate wing or placed of the has a first first the channes methy formis associated with the biotection is toward by a serification of channes methy formis associated with whaling, which placed less emphasis on women's household work (Whitridge 2008;300). In communal houses, the hearth areas were ence again located in the centre of the house and are arguably part of a long-term trend back toward the original early Birnith house form and the return to a focus on female household work (Whitridge 2008;301). The shift is also linked to the fact that men would often embark on trade ventures to the south and would sometimes not return, thereby leaving a disproportionate number of women left at settlements (Taylor 1974; Whitridge 2008). Joining together in large houses to distribute and share resources, including trade goods, as well as to pool labour seems a logical response to declining number of marks (Whitridge 2008).

The final interpretation that will be discussed way and forth by Kaplian and Woollert (2000) and includes a combination of reternal and internal factors. It is argued that herdivity will distance condition disting the 1<sup>th</sup> centry allowed for subsistence security and the significant opportunity to amass a surplus (Kaplan and Wooller 2000). Accumulating a surplus required increased leadenship roles and organization and ultimately allowed some individuals to enhulk on trading ventures to obtain desired Europona itsme (Neghain and Wooller 2000). Apart from environmental factors providing security and enabling trading ventures, the encreaching European presence is considered to be a etably for the building of large command destifiengs. It is argued that the final deals with the intensity fing European presence during this period through amplification of latenship roles and other cultural prescience, usin a architectual chabration, in a power performance of sects (Kaplan and Wooller 2000). Command houses are seen as intensification of existing cultural practices and a symbol of power and distinct "Indirection of existing cultural practices and a symbol of power and distinct "Indirection of existing cultural practices may Chabrane Multell' 20001." Exentially, the construction of large houses created a visible and distinct boundary between the limit and the European cultures. The communal house is viewed as a cultural response to the firing presence in part all models because of the mild environmental conditions and the relative security this afforded. Furthermore, the elaboration of cultural practices through such arcsmos as the construction of multi-family communal houses and the amplification of complex trade networks acted as a means to solidity alliances during a numbuos period (Legatura mat Wootler 2000).

# 2.4.5 Communal House Conclusions

The shift in Inuit housing style that occurred rapidly and rather dramatically in the 18th century is clearly compelling. The relatively short length of this phase, spanning only a century or so, and the contemporaneous development of this phenomenon in Greenland, has drawn the attention of numerous researchers. Significant cultural and historical conditions coincided with the adoption of communal houses in Labrador. External factors such as environmental conditions and the European presence cannot be disregarded but neither can the long-term internal workings of the Inuit culture itself (Kaplan and Woollett 2000; Whitridge 2008). The European presence was more intense and sustained during this period and historical documents outline the rise of a certain influential middleman group who managed to take advantage of the situation at hand and make a highly profitable play for power (Taylor 1974). It is clear that the development of communal houses was contingent on a series of enmeshed factors including both Inuit and European motives, environmental conditions, increasing socio-economic complexity, and the internal dynamics of Inuit society. The most comprehensive explanations will undoubtedly consider multiple factors in addressing the communal house phenomenon.

The execution of House 3 from the Huntingdon Island 5 site was not undertaken with the purpose of settling the debate on communal house origins, but instead was focused on contributing to the overall understanding of the nature of communal houses in Labrador through providing information about the first communal house to be investigated in Sadorkin Bay.

### Chapter 3. Methodology and Excavation

# 3.1 Site Description

The intent of this section is to provide a brief geographical overview of the Sandwich bay region in general and Huntingdon Island in particular. The geographic areas included in Sandwich Bay are discussed in a descriptive nature in order to highlight the main resources available in this region. Attention is focused on available load and use resources that were of importance to the limit. Considerably more detailed descriptions are available deteember of Labracia geography, climate, and animal and plant species (for more information see Amer 1977; King 1983; Loposhhine et al. 1977; Peterson 1966). J.J. Phy Sandwich Res (Pegion

Standwich Bay is the second largest bay on the Labrador const and is scattered with many small islands, peninsulas, and coves (Anderson 1944) (Figure 3.1). The bay is approximately 20 km wise and 20 km in length and so extends within those the research eosystem of the interior but also recompasses the eater constal regions of rocky bendlands and offshore islands (Rankin et al. 2011). To the north of Sandwich Bay is a long, sandy beach known as the Proregines Strand that extends is Orsowater Bay. Growstarter Bay, which contains a well-known Inuit occupation, was also formally believed to the issuement limit of final second on Lordon and Kapan 1960; Kaplan 1983). There are three major river systems in Sandwich Bay that were used by the limit and other indigenous groups for travel rotate sa a means to access the interior. Towerkers, Pandine River and Eagle River, dain into Sandwich Bay while the third, North Keres, it scend not) of the work (Bakk).



Figure 3.1. Map of Sandwich Bay.

Inuit, Sandwich Bay offered a settlement location that was similar to previously inhabited areas in many respects and was also a location ideally situated near the European visitors.

Standwich Bay is well equipped for diverse renource exploitation as access is provided to the Labrador Sea, a variety of river ecosystems, and the forested interior. The Labrador Sea effected an abundance of resources that were of importance to the limit including whiche, waltus, seal, and a array of fish species. Furthermore, mussels were also a predictable food source in coastal areas and were easily collected (Brewster 2005). The limit residing in the southern regions of Labrador had generally shifted away from an economy concentrated on whaling (Fitzhugh 1977). As whiles became scaree due to European entreprises, the limit in the south began to focus instead on seal hunting (Fitzhugh 2007). Harper, Justice, Jocker (ingia, and Bearded seals were present) the Labrackov waters and provided a substantial subsistence base (Auger 1991; Bankin et al. 2011). Seals have a tendency to congregate in large numbers at specific times and pless enabling equive in mass quantities, and more specier mermation in the area throughout the year, which was equally as important (Auger 1991; Brewster 2005). The assortment of seal species present in Labrackor created beneficial conditions for ther lenuit as at least one seal species was available at any given time of the year whether to be hundred by kayak in open water or on the ice in winter month (Grewster 2005). Seals provided the lmuit with fixed, oil, skins, and were a valuable trade commodity (Brewster 2005). It is noteworthy that the lmuit mants for Sandwich Buy is *Monhoekaka*; runslated as whet place spectness areas myrough scale" (Gradue 2012).

The major river system in Sandwich Bay provided a dependable supply of almon during the summer months as well as the aforementioned transportation routes. Terestrial mammals actualized in this area included carrbon, black bear, polar bear, workf for, and annall fur bearing mammals like marten, solverine, order and mink (Brakh et al. 2011). Terrestrial mammals were used as food sources, for clothing and bedding, and as trade items with European groups, in addition, there were close to fifty permanent brid species in Sandwich Bay and over two hundred migratory species that together provided food in the arging and fland eques in the spring (Broke-Bornett 1977; Todd 1983). Dreve wintering bird species, such as the ptamingan, were important winter food sources for the Innit (Brice-Bennett 1977). In terms of plant species, edible lichens and a variety of berries, for instance blackberries and cloud berries, were present throughout southern Larbordy in the summer months (Backkin et al. 2011).

It is evident through this brief description of Sandwich Bay that the initial Inuit colonizers of this region encountered a diverse and rich area containing many mammal and plant species the Inuit already exploited. One contrast with the northern areas of Labrador was the presence of the forested interior that provided plenty of timber for building and burning (Rankin 2010a; Rankin et al. 2011). Essentially, a variety of seasonally obtainable resources were available for the Inuit in Sandwich Bay with predictable animal migrations and gatherings creating the potential for the collection of sumbases. Most of the resources were available between the early summer and the late fall, but key species were present in the winter. Ice edge hunting and localized polynyas, or ice-free areas, allowed for hunting and fishing of ocean species throughout the winter (Rankin et al. 2011). The Inuit subsisted mainly on seal, terrestrial mammals, and fish, supplemented by birds, molluses, and berries. The Sandwich Bay region provided easy access to coastal areas, river systems, and interior environments and was consequently favourable for settlement. Access to a variety of diverse ecosystems was paramount for supporting a successful settlement and the proximity to the European presence was advantageous and likely numoseful (Rankin 2009-28: Rankin et al. 2011).

To date 29 funit sites have been identified in Sandwich Buy, however, Rankin (2010a;22)) suggests that the number of definite limit attes is closer to 15. The majority of the identified intel sites are located on outer constal islands and there in the archarological evidence thus far of funit sites within Sandwich Buy itself (Rankin et al. 2011). The scarce evidence of funit sites within the inner bay area may be the result of limited survey of this forested resource from there that and the microseries (Rankin et al. 2011).

# 3.1.2 Huntingdon Island

Humingdon bland is the largest island in Sandwich Buy and in recent years a number of limit sites representing both summer and winter habitation have been identified here (Bressetz 2002; Mole Rankin 2004; 2016; 2016; Rankin et al. 2011) (Figure 3.2). Humingdon Island is situated near the mouth of Sandwich Buy and offers easy access to diverse ecosystems and permits optimal resource exploitation. The island itself has low hills and needly beach terrace. It is classified as Portent Tunden, with the ground cover consisting of Tohen, moss, and low shorts with small clusters of space trees donting the landscape (Brevster 2005.39-40). There are fresh water ponds and streams that support mammal habitation, including a carebus population that presently reside on the island Brevster 2005.10(2).



Figure 3.2. Huntingdon Island with the sites of Snack Cove and Huntingdon Island 5 (also known as Indian Harbour) indicated.

The eastern side of Huntingdon Island was the location of intensive archaeological excavation between 2003 and 2005 at the site of Snack Cove (Brewster 2005, 2006-Rankin 2009: Rankin et al. 2011). One Inuit tent ring and three Inuit sod houses were excavated at Snack Cove 1 and 3, respectively. The dwellings at Snack Cove were occupied during the 17<sup>th</sup> century and represent summer through winter occupations (Brewster 2006:33-34). Beginning in 2009, excavation began on the western side of the island at the Huntingdon Island 5 site (FkBg-3), located on a small island named Indian Island. Indian Island is connected to and considered part of Huntingdon Island and one can easily cross between the two islands at low tide. Indian Island is snarser than Huntingdon Island, contains very few trees, and consists largely of a ground covering of moss and small shrubs interspersed with boggy areas. Indian Island has a harbour on the northern coast called Indian Harbour. The Huntingdon Island 5 site on Indian Island contains at least five semi-subterranean sod houses and at least six tent rines indicating more than one season of habitation on this island (Figure 3.3). To date, three of the sod houses have been fully excavated (Houses 1, 2, and 3). Houses 1 and 2 share an entrance passage and preliminary dating suggests an early- to mid-16th century occupation date for House 1 (Rankin 2010b:9) and a slightly later occupation date for House 2 (Rankin 2010c:3). House 3 forms the basis of this study and represents an 18th-century occupation date. The other sod structures have yet to be examined in detail but the initial assessment of size, shape, and amount of wall slumping is suggestive of later period occupations in relation to the houses already investigated (Rankin 2010b:5). It appears that the two distinct sites of Snack Cove and Huntingdon Island 5 represent systained use of the

Huntingdon Island area by the Inuit spanning two or more centuries and reveal multi-

seasonal visits.



Figure 3.3. The Huntingdon Island 5 site map. All known sod house structures and tent rings are indicated. The structures identified in red have been excavated.

# 3.1.3 House 3 (FkBg-3), Huntingdon Island 5

House J at Huningdon Island 5 was identified in 2006, mapped in 2009, and completely exeavated in 2010. Prior to excavation, the house appeared to be excavated into the ground with high soft-walls and was roughly rectangular in shape (Figure 3-4). The entrance number as not vell drifted bus ta sligid depression stubils in the south wall extending to the southeast. Measurements taken from the highest periton of the wall creat prior to excavation indicated that the house measured 10 m in length by 8 m in wildh. Spruce trees were growing out of the sod walls around the perimeter of the structures as well as in the prohability entroper source. Charge mass, we may all should have



Figure 3.4. House 3 prior to excavation.

patches of mosa covered the entire surface of the structure and large rocks were exposed in several locations. Initial survey did not locate a visible midden area near the site, To the were of the house it the highest ridge on thank hank with an elevation of approximately 20 m (Rankin 2010b:3) and ene of the many small fresh water ponds on the sitand is located directly to the southeast of the house. The basels and harbora area are located less than 50 m sorth of House 3. Houses 1 and 2 are located to the east and House et al positioned to the north of House 3. Houses 1 and 2 are located to the east and House the island is the north of House 3. Houses and cluster on the western side of the siland. The text rings are scattered to the north and to the east of the soch houses and are situated cluster to the scatt han most of the house.

# 3.2 Field Methods

During the summer of 2010 a crew of thirteen, composed largely of graduate students, helped to excavate House 3. We arrived in late July and remained for six weeks. The crew was shared between two excavations, as Dr. Lins Rathin excavated House 2. In addition, a laboratory was established in the nearby community of Cartwright, which employed for local undents for the summer.

The execution of House 3 was structured in a similar manner to previous excavations undertaken on Hamingdon kland at Snack Cove and Hamingdon bland at order to ficilitäte comparisons and to keep rooks constitute. To 2000 to prearter destingtion explores and the previous grid. A total atation was used for treeording purposes and for earbhilding the excavation grid. In stud, 70 kl-l-m units were used to plo flows 37 ordered bords-bord and casis-were, and 63 of the units were completely excavated. Four datums were placed within the borze in order to take level measurements and to record the provenience of artifacts. All measurements were taken from the modwards or que unit and units/vers, the orders site ad externing the functional content and the morthest control south at construct and for the minute of the provenience of artifacts. All measurements were taken from the modwards correct the unit and units/vers, the orders site ad extermine the two manners and to record the provenience of artifacts. All measurements were taken from the mothward correct placed units and the previous the advectorient of the units were advectorient of the transmitter to the structure of the transmitter the transmitter and to record the provenience of artifacts. All measurements were taken from the mothward correct placed within the totage of the taken to the structure of the transmitter the transmitter the transmitter and the transmitter the transmitter taken the totage and the transmitter the transmitter the transmitter the transmitter and the transmitter taken the transmitter the transmitter the transmitter the advectorient the transmitter the transmitter the transmitter and the transmitter taken the totage advectorient the transmitter the transmitter the transmitter advectorient the transmitter taken the totage advectorient the transmitter the totage advectorient the transmitter the transmitter the transmitter advectorient taken the transmitter the transmitter advectorient taken the totage advectorien

Due to the lack of visible stratinggraphy, which was also encountered during Snack. Cove excavations (Brewster 2005;59), the excavation was undertaken in arbitrary 10 cm levels. Excavation was by tower (Bhowge the removal of the out sortface hyre. Excavation began with east-west and north-south trenches that were then profiled to record any visible stratigraphy. The trenches were placed through the centre of the house in order to expose portions of the laceptage platforms and the floor area and with the execution of northerable cross-strate the trentherable constant. excavated by 50 cm quadrants and all artificates were measured in nin-apart from finanal remains, which were recorded to level and quadrant. Large and important finds were photographed in nin. All sediment was screened through \s' mesh and all artificits and finand remains recovered were collected. Excassion continued until house floor stores or sterile and were reached. Large rocks resting on the floor stores were left in place and mapped. After all of the stores were mapped, thuse determined to be roof collapse were removed to fully reveal the floor area. Once the entire floor area was exposed it was intensively mapped, depth and angles of vertical rocks were recorded, and the house was photographed. After all of the condustion of the floor plan mapping, the house floor stores were removed to collect any artifacts that may have fallen between the floor stores and to determine if there was a previous accupation beneath. After reaching storile and directly beneath the house floor stores, the house those.

Sediment samples were collected from the steeping platforms and the entrance parages for anhancemenological and paloeethnabotanical analysis. Radiocarbon angelies were collected at various points throughout the excavation however, it has been noted that the radiocarbon dates obtained from the most common organic remains recovered from finit titles – wood and sea mammal home – are particularly supper as these items produce dates that are often to odd for the centers (Friesten and Arnold 2005/524; Radiak 3000-171). This is due to the fart that the wood may be driftwood or curated from other contexts and as such may pre-date site ecceptation and the sea mammal bones are majoret to the marine receiver effect, which also produce dates that are to odd (Friesten and Arnold 2005;252; Ramdian combets 2006;710; Into attempt to obtain the most accurate radiocarbon dates from Inuit sites, sumodified terrestrial mammal bone, particularly caribou bone, has been suggested as the most viable organic to sample (Friesen and Arnold 2008; McGhee 2009); Ramsden and Rankin 2010). Only unmodified caribou bone recovered from House 3 was selected for radiocarbon analysis.

### 3.3 Excavation Results: Architecture

#### 3.3.1 House Description

The execution of House 3 revealed a large, single room funit winter house orientated to the northwest (Figure 3.5). During the course of excavation, no whatehout structural elements were recovered as is typical in that houses in northern Lahendor, which is likely due to the availability of timber in this region. House 3 appeared to be constructed of sand, turf, and large recks with timber structural components. Measurements taken from the interior limits of the excavation, excluding the entrance passage, revealed that the internal house dimensions were 7 m in length by 8.5 m in width constraining a 40 m<sup>2</sup> area. The flow was constructed of tighthy placed and levelled flagged stores. A large periodi of exposed bolfsch, formed part of the flow space near the assign wall of the house and flow stores were placed around this natural feature. The bedrock was also exposed near the edge of the sleeping platform on the southwet side of the house and the entrance passage. The total flows prace marked approximately 23 m<sup>2</sup> in a generally rectangular shape.

Raised sleeping platforms were located along the three interior walls around the periphery of the floor area. The sleeping platforms were composed of grey to brown coloured sand and fine gravel with small, rounded beach cobbles. The sleeping platforms



Figure 3.5. House 3 with floor and features exposed.

were mised approximately 30 cm above the proved floor and were skirtled by upplied store slabs. Vertical rocks were placed in an angular arrangement around the sleeping platforms and portunded into theor space creating discrete expense mole, alsower or nicke areas (Figure 3.6). Furthermore, in at least five separate locations and corresponding with the distinct alsower areas, were horisontal tabular neeks situated around the edge of the sleeping areas. The horizontal tabular neeks around the edge of the sleeping areas. The horizontal tabular neek around meeting and the edge of the alsower area, Ac least three distinct areas of compact light yellow to brown coloured and alsower area. At least three distinct areas of on-space and the edge of the sleeping tafferms are university of the slower three of of the flow for space and the edge of the sleeping tafferms and were interpreted a neek of the of the slower space and the edge of the sleeping tafferms are university of the slower three of the slower areas and the university of the slower areas and the edge of the slower approxement at the junction between the end of the flow space.



Figure 3.6. House 3 floor plan map.

rocks on the sleeping platforms around the wall area were either roof collapse material or post support locations.

The entrance passage was also constructed of rightly placed flagged stores and meanered 4.5 m in length and was 75 cm wide. The entrance parsage was excavated approximately 40 cm below the house. Becover, and the belows, that exclosed in into the entrance passage may have been the limiting factor for the depth of the tunnel. Upright store is this bordered the passage and a horizontal step ramatison the entrance passage to the livine save. Classes of oxies hordered the exterior of the tunnel area and were likely structural components of the covered passage. The passage did not follow a straight path and curved slightly along its length. The entrance/exit opened to the southeast directly to a small pond situated behind the house.

House 3 had simple stratigraphic layers with little surface disturbance. The initial excavation level consisted of a sod surface and roof collapse layer in which limited material culture was associated. The first level was covered with thick sod and plant roots with lenses of sand (Figure 3.7). Beneath the sod level was a dark organic level composed of fine-grained, slightly oily sediment representing the occupation layer. This level contained the majority of the material culture and faunal elements recovered. The dark occupation level often contained remnants of mussel shells, although all that remained of the bivalves was the brown periostracum or outer skins (Bird 1945:134). At the base of the dark organic level was either the floor stones or sterile sand on the sleeping platform areas or areas beyond the house limits. The floor stones were resting on a brown coloured sterile sand level that also represented the limit of excavation. In the sleeping platform areas, one often excavated through a light brown organic layer composed of wood and other fibres before reaching the sand layer. The light brown organic layer was likely the remnants of plant-based matting or covering placed on the sleeping platform for insulation and comfort.

When the limit were building House 3 and cutting sod blocks from around the house area to use for construction, it appears that they cut into previous occupations from Recent Indian groups. This was speculated due to the prevence of quartz and Ramah Chert flint kamping debris in the root collapse and sod level. The India used ground atome technologie when working store (Rama 2009), and the flake debates recovered from technologie with avoid store (Rama 2009), and the flake debates recovered from technologie with avoid store (Rama 2009). And the flake debates recovered from technologie with avoid store (Rama 2009).



Figure 3.7. Profile of north-south trench.

the sod layer was most likely Recent Indian in origin. The quartz and Ramak Chert flakes were net associated with the occupation layer of the dwelling. The presence of Recent Indian material culture was a direct result of cutting turb flocks to construct and cover the exterior of House 3 for insulation, and in all likelihood remained buried in the sod roof during the final recention of the house.

#### 3.3.2 Discussion

House 3 appears to adhres to the communal house from in terms of size and spatial design. In regards to size, Kaphan (1983-220, 238) identifies Early and Late period houses as averaging 18 m<sup>3</sup> whereas Communal period houses: were in the range of 42-96 m<sup>3</sup> flows 7 measures nearly 60 m<sup>3</sup>, on clinchding the entrace passage, and fulls well within the size defining parameters of communal houses. Spatially, House 3 conforms to the general description of communal houses in Labrador. The house had three interiors alsoping patients around the rear and lateral walls and a number of discrete alows or lame stand areas. The receases of multitive description that the same stari distinct to command structures as cartier and later period basses tended to contain single, rear platforms. House 3 contained a large, paved central living area and a paved, sunken emmer passage to enter the house. It convantual structures, finally the shared the central floor space but each family had a separate lamp and cooking area and a separate steeping area (Petersen 1974/1975). The steeping platforms would have been divided into family units by akins suspended from the roof and the area directly in front of a skeeping area was a storage location for that particular family (Petersen 1974/1971.311; Taylor 1974/70). Each alcove area defined by vertical store slabs and associated brench was interpreted as belonging to a single family. Along this line of reasoning, the results of the exervation of House 3 revealed that five families were residing in this structure (Figure 35).

According to chanographic documents, large wither houses were generally shared by closely related nuclear families (Taylor 1974). The most common household composition of wither houses was the abitry of a large structure between fafters and their married sons, though brothers were documented as sharing a residence if the father was deceased (Taylor 1974;73). Jahrein-in-laws and son-in-laws did not frequently share living quarters in the winter and, similarly, uncle and nephew household sharing was equally as sacce (Taylor 1974;75). Sharover, polygamous marriages were relatively common which created a large, extended family and kin network (Taylor 1974;67). Members of an extended family or kin group would often create to generative vidence, it fair to special that the inhabitants of thouse3 were likely paternally related mainly related.



Figure 3.8. House plan map with the five posited family spaces indicated.

members or an extended family with most, if not all, of the inhabitants being related in some manner.

The lack of a large and separate midden accumulation or refuse area associated with Houre 3 is suggestive of a single senson eccapation. Although two small faunal deposit areas on either side of the entrance passage were encounted during excavation, neither area was deep or large enough to suggest sustained use and accumulation. A potential explanation for the lack of a rich midden area is that refuse was damped atto the small pend located directly to the southeast of the house. It may be, however, that so rich midden area was accumulated due to the boatment.
noted that the accumulation of a separate and distinct midden area near to Inuit houses was generally the result of an interior cleaning of the house the following autumn prior to the re-occuration of the dwelling (McGhee 1984a:78). If the house was not re-occuried a large midden area would not be present. In accordance with the absence of a large and rich midden area, the stratigraphy of House 3 lacked visible and complex layers, which also suggests a short stay or a single period of habitation as opnosed to a long-term occupation. House 3 did not appear to have been rebuilt in any manner for re-use or to have been re-occupied over a series of seasons. The presence of multiple sod houses at the Huntingdon Island 5 site with a range of occupation dates suggests that Inuit groups were frequenting this area over time as part of a land-use area, but rather than rebuild an abandoned structure, groups chose to build new houses near to the previous house locations. After moving out of the sod houses and into tents in the spring, the sod structures would often become waterlogged while the snow covering melted, causing wall slumping and potential collapse. It may have been faster and safer to build a new house rather than attempt to fix a slumping structure. Regardless of the motives, it is clear that House 3 represents a single component, winter period babitation in which multiple families resided.

The archaeological data presented in the next chapter places the exervation of House 3 within a narrowed time frame of occupation to enable future discussion about the positioning of this house within the larger themes of the Labendor Communal House phase.

### Chapter 4: Results

# 4.1 Introduction and Artifact Classification

Chapter 4 presents the attlfatt and finand data recovered from the excavation of House J. The artifacts have been divided into categories based on material of composition in order to effectively organize the discussion. The categories insteader metal, glass, stone, ceramic, whalebone and mammal products, clay, and wood (Table 4.1). Metal is further subdivided into iron, Isad, copper, and powtre. The artificts are discussed in terms of material type in order to distinguish those of funit origin from those items of European origin (Revestre 2005/23). Jenums of hum origin include whalebene, scopatom, stone, and wooden items whereas European items are manufactured from metals, ceramic, clay, and glass. A muther of artificar recovered are European in origin but have been modified in some manare two for limit, which will be discoss flowsoft.

Table 4.1. The artifacts recovered in House 3 sorted by materia	type	٤.
---	------	----

Material	Amount
Metal	372
Glass	125
Stone	117
Ceramic	81
Bone and Mammal	29
Products	
Clay	25
Wood	4
Total	753

In total 753 artifacts were recovered from House 3. The artifacts are discussed from most abundant to least abundant based on material type. Whenever possible, date ranges for the manufacture of European artifacts will be outlined as well as a country of origin if relevant or known. After the presentation of the findings, the final sections will discuss the artifact distribution within the house and the assemblage date range followed by a summary of the House 3 collection.

### 4.2 Artifact Results

4.2.1 Metals

Items composed of metal were the most abundant material type recovered forming 49 percent of the entire assemblage of House 3. Of the metals, iron constituted the largest portion of the entire assemblage of House 3. Of the metals, iron constituted the largest Each of the four metal types will be discussed separately from most abundant to least abundant type.

4.2.1.1 Iron

Nails

To not dominated the assemblage from House 2 with a total of 239 iron objects collected. Over 80 percent of the iron objects recovered were nails. All the nails that could be identified into circuitary were of hand-wrought manufacture, cocept for our that was of machine-cut manufacture. The machine-cut nail was found near the sol interface and is not directly associated with the occupation level and may represent a recent instants. Hand-wrought nails were the only type of nail available throughout the 17<sup>th</sup> and 40<sup>th</sup> centuries prior to the introduction of machine-cut nails in the 1200, Aquer 1991-05, Notel Hame 1970-252-253). Despite the introduction of machine-cut nails in the 1200, Aquer 1991-15, Not Hame 1970-15, The alignesses in this assemblance could have been cound or collected by main continued to be produced and used throughout the 17<sup>th</sup> century (Aquer 1991); Not Hame 1970). The main spresent in this assemblance could have been cound or collected by the Inuit from older European or Inuit sites and used and re-used well past the end of the manufacture date for hand-wrought nails and are therefore not reliable time indicators.

In general, the nails were in poor shape and the head type was difficult to identify, however, both rose-head and T-head types are represented in the assemblage, with the rose-head tope approximation from times and requestive with 00 distintify begiverisms. Resehead nails were the most common and variety peoduced and were used for general, multiparaset task (Auger 1991-167). Of the 277 multi fragments recovered, only 80 were complete and the majority of the mails recovered in complete form manged in length from 5 not 10 etc. The bulk of the mails were small to medium in size, hough three complete iron spikes were collected. The Inuit had modified 18 of the mails in some manner, most commody through removing the null head and/e cold hummering the shaft flat. One cluster of three large irons units wars found directly below the western sleeping platform i displayed evidence of huming. The mult chart may have been a stash of raalis tucked away in the personal space loaded in fout of the sleeping platform (Petersen 1974/1975).

Women and Men's Knives

Six traditional style Thule/Innit knives were collected including *ubar* or women's knives and one men's style knife. Five *ub* bludes or semi-lunar shaped knives were recovered. The *uba* appear to be made from iron pieces that were hammered this into the desired shape. The Innit may have fashioned the iron *ubar* out of a variety of collected iron items, such as spikes, European tools, or doee parts. Two *uba* are complete on near to complete blue forms, variegin in size from 50 min within 16 size in width. The larger



Figure 4.1. Iron ulu.

and has a protion of a wooden handle still hande to the iron blade (figure 4.1). A dirid, incomplete and blade was also collected. The final two items are identified as probable and. These are constructed of two pices that have been roughly fromed into an adu shape (Figure 4.2). It is interesting to note that there are drifted circular holes in each of these items centred in the upper portion of the blade directly below the vertical handle form. The holes may have been drifted to ficalize the harding of a handle to the iron blade as appear in Thule and frems made of slate (McGhee 1984b-Figure 2)). The similarity of the hole location on these two items suggests that the central hole was for handle harding purposes and lends credence to their identification. Apart from the five and fragments, one stemmed one-blade men's kaffe form was recovered (Figure 4.3). The kaffe is constructed of hammered into and is made in the radiational Thule/Imuli kaffe



Figure 4.2. Probable ulus.







Figure 4.4. Iron axe.

Axe

A roughly reetingular axe blade measuring 15 cm in length with straight sides was discovered during excavation (Figure 4.4), an oval abaped sys is present where the handle would have been matched. A rousolde poll extends from the exposite end of the blade. Axes were generally constructed of two identical pieces welded together around a removable set bar in order to create the sys for the handle attachment (Neumann 1973). In this case, only one half or side of the axe have any encovered. Axes and the simaller halder were popular trade items in the 1% century and were predominatly hand-freque in a variety of race head sayles (Kauffman 1972; 11; Neumann 1973; 252;254). The first axes brought to North America from Larope were large and heavy with blads meaning over 15 cm in itendity for length 19 means. in North American contexts for thede and utilitation purposes and axe heads became smaller and lighter (Neumann 1973). The axe head recovered from House 3 is 15 cm in length and in terms of dimension and weight appears to be the larger caupo or felling axe form and not the small hatchet or beh as form popular by the 1720s, it did not replace the larger camp axe and both forms were used throughout the 15<sup>th</sup> exempt (Neumann 1973). An identical axe blade was recovered from Smeature 4 at the Hare Harbour i site, at 1<sup>th</sup> or 18<sup>th</sup>-century Junit site in the Quebec Lower North Shore (Fitzhugh 2010;Figure 10). *Paulock* 

Once complete iron pathods was collected, Padlocks similar in appearance to the one recovered from House 3 are common in 18<sup>th</sup> century North America, particularly in Britishi contexts. (Prives 2000;80). The padlock resembles Prives et al.'s (1975:416). Category 6 padlock from described as a parallel platt type with asymmetrical housing and a pivotel iron keyhole cover (Figure 4.5). The style of padlock recovered from House 3 has been identified by Prives (2000;81) as dating to within the second or third quarter of the 18<sup>th</sup> century. The keyhole cover may suggest an approximate date range as keyhole covers from the 17<sup>th</sup> and arty-18<sup>th</sup> centures were made of row shifts keyhole covers dating to the 19<sup>th</sup> century were made of brass (Notel Hame 1970;250-251). The padlock frond in House 3 has an iron pivoted keyhole cover, which places it prior to the 19<sup>th</sup> century who hrass keyhole cover were in use (Notel Hame 1970;250-251). A munificative date 19:1080 was assistered to be anallock.



Figure 4.5. Iron padlock.

### Miscellaneous Iron Items

For iron fulfabox fragments were recovered. One of the fishhooks collected is a composite iron and lead end jig. Moreover, one nearly complete iron built of European manufacture was collected as were three partial balaifor straight area blacks. Due to poor condition of the three partial blade pieces, it was not possible to distinguish if the items represented kuife or straight razor blades. In addition, a bodtin and a partial iden nose show were recovered. The ideal nose is made of iron with six circular holes spaced along the hengle of the object for attachment locales, and ore and its ill attached to the shed part. Finally, two pieces of iron strapping, one har iron piece, and 51 miscellaneous and audientfable iron fragments were also recovered dring the course of excavation, 11 of which disjourd excluse or working.

#### 4.2.1.2 Lead

## Projectiles

In hoal 20 lead artificia were recovered in House 3. The most common lead item collected was lead projectiles with seven represented in the assemblage. The projectiles range in size from 1.1 - 1.2 are in diameter. According to size classifications, three of the market balls (Auger 1991:65-64). Mold seams are visible on all of the items collected and one of the back shots atll has the casting sprue attached. It appears that the European groups in contact with the lumit during this time were casting their own lead projectiles as bobd head sheet pieces and casting sure as were also collected with one piece roughly hammered into the shape of a harpoon head (Figure 4.6). A harpoon head fashioned from lead would be inteffective for hunting and may instand represent an item fashioned by a child to practice canting the traditional harpoon sight or the item pay have been hammered into the shape that pieces more.



Figure 4.6. Hammered lead harpoon head.

### Pendants

One enrical shaped lead pendant with an incident moref encircling the object with a drilled hole at one end was collected. Similarly, three lead drop pendants were also recovered which consist of the excited at base slaged in a linear two with an indentation in the centre of the first drop (Figure 4.7). Lead drop pendants of this design were recovered from House 7 at Uvisk, Point near Okak, which was occupied in the 18<sup>th</sup> continy (Woolffer 2003-184), and 75 such pendants were found in a Thisi grave at Iglassicalization 2003-184), and 75 such pendants were found in a Thisi grave at Iglassicalization at 17<sup>th</sup> century term ring site at Stack. Cove 1 on Haurington Island (Brevsster 2005-77, 2006-23). The lead drop pendant form resembles an ivvey pendant recovered from the Thales size of Bresonin Point (McGlee 1964-1812-260). The lead drop pendants decorated the fringes of clothing and talismans in a similar manner thap leaforted animal teelt were matinionally used (Eachlina 1992-198-1994; Woolftet 2003-184).



Figure 4.7. Lead pendants. From left, three lead drop pendants and one conical incised pendant.

# 4.2.1.3 Copper

### Sword Hilts

Two copper sword hilts were recovered from the western sleeping platform and were situated less than 2 m apart (Figure 4.8). The term "hilt" refers to the entire bandle portion, which together with a blade, constitutes a sword. In this case, the hilt portions recovered are half-heart shaned (for complete image see Neumann 1973;Figure 54.S). The complete hilts lacked an inboard counterguard and had a wooden grip wound in brass wire (Neumann 1973-79). A hulhous quillon protrudes from one end and the knuckle mand or how has been removed from both specimens recovered. One of the hilts has been hammered flat and has leather or fibre tied around the quillon presumably to facilitate the wearing or hanging of this item. Hilts of this variety were carried by French grenadiers during the first half of the 18th century and were manufactured from 1725 to 1750 (Neumann 1973:79). The type of sword that would accompany the hilts is known as the pontet simple sword (Bryce 1984:31). At least ten examples of this type of hilt were recovered from the archaeological investigation of the 1760 wreck of the French frigate Machault (Bryce 1984:31). Machault was attacked by the British en route to resupply French troops in Canada and was sunk near the Restigouche River, which bisects present day Ouebec and New Brunswick (Bryce 1984:7-8).

During the 18<sup>th</sup> century, sworth were important defence weapons but were also representations and visual indicators of status and rank (Bryce 1948-31; Neumann 1975-51). In colonial contexts, swords were of particular value as Neumann (1975-31) aptly discribes, "so the ordinary soldier or sailor the sword was as "last resert" weapon who face-6-fice at close quarters". Are only as 19(), Gaspar & Corte Real's travels through the Strait of Bielle Iski documented adverginal captives possessing a broken awood (Holly et al. 2010.37; Karklins 1992; 1941; The captives cannot be culturally identified; however, they could quite possibly have been limit (Karklins 1992; 1944; 195). Furthermore, Houce 2 at the site of Eskimo Ishand 1 in Hamilton Index, which was occupied during the 15<sup>th</sup> century, contained two sword picces (Jordan and Kaplan 1980;42). The pocosimity of the sites of Eskimo Ishand 1 and Hamingdon Ishand 5 and the presence of two source pieces in each of the communal houses at these sites is compelling. Considering that swords word not be a possession a French saltor Labendor would consericably part with easily, it is surprising that four sword pieces were recovered within two separate Lunit dwellings. Perhaps the Innui obtained a pair of swords and each was subsequently out into pieces and moved through established rade retworks, as sword retworks word words words moved moved through established rade networks, as sword networks words how the analyse the Innui obtained a pair of swords and each was subsequently out into pieces and moved through established rade networks, as sword networks words how that output the install form.



Figure 4.8. Copper sword hilts. The hilt on the left has been hammered flat and has leather tied around the quillon.

Coins

Three copper coins were collected during the course of executation. One of the copper coins is a Goorge II halfpenny with a circular durilled hole in the centre (Figure 4.9). The George II exin dates from the period 1729-1754 and is of British origin (Krause and Malher (1993-192). Furthermore, two circular disks, presumed to be copper and suspected to be coins, were also found (Figure 4.10). The coins were examined by an expert but were unfortunately too degraded to enable identification. Both coin objects have small disled holes near the edge and one of the disks had a second drilled hole in which a strip of leather suspends a small purple bead. It is noteworthy that the three coin times collected were in an altered state with drilled holes around the centre or edge presumably for suspension. The 19<sup>th</sup>-century ethnologist, Lacien Turner, reported secing Innit with "coins of various countries attached to the arms and densi" (Turner 1894:212). It is likely that the coins recovered from House 3 were used for a similar docontrive purpose.



Figure 4.9. George II halfpenny.



Figure 4.10. Perforated copper coins.

Miscellaneous Copper Items

In total five miscellancous copper based items were collected including a small machine-cut nul, a partial fishbook, and a pain band finger ring. Two triangular shaped copper pieces with drilled holes were also present and show evidence of hummering. The triangular drilled pieces are possited to have been pendants or attached to clothing or other items for decomtion.

### 4.2.1.4 Pewter

The peveter objects were recovered including a partial spoon in which approximately half of the handle has been cut off and is missing (Figure 4.11). During the 17<sup>4</sup> and 18<sup>th</sup> emittings power spoon systes, handling draidly which is useful for providing date ranges in archaeological contexts (Waldy 1983-36). Lacking touch marks and the finial of the spoon, the pevter spoon was dated through stem cross-section, rat-tall, and boord alange (Waldy 1983-36). The stem cross-section is roughly rectangular in shape and roughd across the tous in the rough and support sche, which was manifectured rest-1700-



Figure 4.11. Pewter spoon.

(Waldey 1985:39). The elongated rate-tail present on the hotomo of the spoon hood is indicative of spoon styles that were manufactured between 1700+1730 (Waldey 1985:41). The bool forms is long and narrow and appears to be in the cround end style, which was developed between 1690 and 1730 (Waldey 1985:40). The dates obtained from the three aspects examined in the pewter spoon indicate the spoon is of the round end style, which was developed between 1690 and 1730 (Waldey 1985:40). The dates obtained from the three aspects examined in the pewter spoon indicate the spoon is of the round end style, which was manufactured between 1700 and 1730 (Waldey 1985:43). It is interesting to note that during an ethnological study in the late-19<sup>40</sup> exetury, Turner (1984:211) described and collected limit women's costs, one of which was address with pewter spoon. In this instance, the handles were removed and the bowds were attached to the front of the cost in a linear fashion (Kardimi 1992:197), Although this may not be the case for the poon recovered in House 3, it is an intriging explanation for the presence of a severe soon bowd with a removed handle. Apart from the pewter specon, two other pewter pieces were collected which also appear to be utensil parts. One pieces s part of a handle, though in size and shape does not match the spoon described above. The other object is the finial of a utensil. The finial has been cut at one end and has a small, drilled hole near the top edge presumably to facilitate suppression.

4.2.2 Glass

Bottle Glass

Altogether, 72 gluss fragments were recovered during excavation. Unfortunately, the fragments are largely small and undiagnostic pieces lacking designs and markings. Of the undiagnostic specimens, 53 are curved body shorts and 16 are flat abords. Excerpt for 10 colourless fragments, the gluss recovered is exclusively shades of light and dark green gluss were collected. Moreover, one incomplete, light green coloured gluss stopper was recovered: The stopper hava finals of 1.8 cm in duantee and the diameter of the abank is 1.1 cm. Twelve of the pieces recovered have a green exterior with a blue coloured crosssection which is likely a result of exposure to hear or burning. Judging by the differing bottle gluss colours and considering the two base fragments, it is suggested that the remants of approximately four different vasels are represented in the assemblage. Despite the preserve, end.

Glass Beads

Fifty-three glass beads were recovered, 47 of which were of the seed bead variety. Seed bead is a generic term referring to small, drawn beads that were typically used in beakbork or atrung to wear around the meck or wrisis (Francis 3007-93). The teed beak recovered from House 3 average less than 3 mm in diameter. Using Kidd and Kidd's (1970) colour calacitation guide, it was determined that bright navy and white were the most common colours collected with 15 and 13 beads, respectively. The white beads are compound beads, consisting of an opsage white core covered with an exterior white layer. A dual-coloured layered bead was the third most prevalent colour type with free specimens and consisted of a redwood exterior with an apple gene coloural core. Three beads each of black, palm green, agan blac, and robin's egg blue were recovered and two shadow blace coloured seed beads were also present. Aprt from the 47 seed beads, six wound beads of a larger size (twerange 8 mm in diameter) were discovered in House 3. Five of the larger, wound beads were tunquote and each differ flightly in happe and form due to the wound manufacturing technique but are all basically round in shape (Kidd and Kidd 1970). Finally, one large, wound bayeed bead with a new hown exterior and maple gene cover was clered.

The five seed beads and one wound bead with genera cores and red exteriors are often referred to as "green heart" beads (Francis 2009) (Figure 4.12). The compound "green heart" style of beads was popular in North American contexts beginning in the 1600s and had targely disappeared by the 1830s (Francis 20092, S). Similarly, the compound white beads were manufactured from 1600-1890 and the two shadow blue coloured seed beads were manufactured from 1609-1890 (Intain 1979;101-102), 105-106). Unfortunately, none of the other beads recovered were diagnostic of a specific time period.



Figure 4.12. Green heart beads. The bead on the left is of wound-manufacture while the other five beads are drawn-manufactured seed beads.

### 4.2.3 Stone

## Stone Tools and Debitage

Finit knapping dehiage and a small number of finished tools were collected from House 3, As outlined in Chapter 3, the flakes appear to be Recent Indian in origin and likely appear in House 3 as a result of curing sod blocks from nearby Recent Indian nites to construct the dwelling with the flink knapping dwells remaining in the rool of the house during its occupation. Three complete stone tools were recovered including a chert scraper and two chert projectile points. Sixty-two flakes were recovered, 50 of which were Ranuk Chert, 11 were quarte, and 1 was chert. The stone tools and dehiage collected during execution cannot be directly associated with the Inuit occupation of the dwelling and trevial time irresoft stone investment.

# **Pyrite Concretions**

Twelve iron pyrite convertions (FeS) are included in the House 3 assemblage. The rounded iron pyrite cobles would likely have been collected from streambeds as the coater surface appears to be weathered by water (Gnham Layne, personal communication 2010). Interestingly, the pyrite convertions are not available on Huntingdon Island and these items would have to be collected from other parts of Labrador and brought to this location (Gnham Layne, personal communication 2010). The pyrite nodules were used as effective strekes-lights and have been reported in a mumber of Thuke and Imuit contexts, including nearby Eakimo Island (Jordan and Kaplan 1980-41; Macwell 1985, Taylor 1972; 139).

#### Soapstone

Elight soupstone fragments were recovered in total. Two triangular shaped vessels, positied to be scapatone pest or kettles, were recovered with rounded corners and straight, vertical walls. Both of the triangular scapatone pieces show evidence of working around the rim edges and are blackened from huming activities. One of the triangular poptieces was inset into the floor in the western side of the house with the paving floor stones placed around he triangular scapatone vessel (Figure 4.1). The vessel was likely much larger in original form and over time and breaking episodes, only the triangular corner protion of the pot around. Two more pot humes were celleted, both which chabits a roughly rectangular shape with short verised avail. None of the pot fragments collected were from the same vessel and the pot fragments indicate that at least four different scapatone stores were present in Home 3. The final four pieces that were recovered are imilar in from and are to have here sholly occuried hances. Nore of the programment are scapatone parts to the scapatone barries were the scapatone of the fragments collected were from the same vessel and the pot fragments indicate that at least four different scapatone parts are to have been sholly were indicated barries that were recovered are and the first and and are to have here sholly we clusted hance. Nore of the fragments the scapatone parts are scapatone parts are to a scapatone parts are to have been sholly barries that here the scapatone parts are to a scapatone parts are to have been sholly barries that parts are parts and parts are parts ar an incised parallel line design below the rim. A scopatone fragment with an identical incised design was recovered from a midden at the Avertok site near Hopedale and was roughly dated to the period perior to the 18<sup>th</sup> ecentry (Bird 1945;151). The fragments found in House 3 represent at least two different lamps as the pieces vary in shape, thickness, and size. The collective scopatone vessel count within the house is six, with a minimum of two lamps and four pots.



Figure 4.13. Triangular soapstone pot.

#### Gunflints

Two gunflints were present in the assemblage. Due noi of a yellowish blood colour and is a blade-type gunflint while the other is a spall-type variety gunflint and is dark grey in colour. Coverednish, the colour of gunflint was used to determine the country of origin with yellow or brown flints regarded as French in origin and grey to black coloured flints considered to originate from Bettain (Noel Hume 1970;220). Similarly, spall-type gunflints were traditionally believed to pre-date black-pee gunflints (Durr 2002;1). In recent years, both of the fremer assertions for sourcing and during gunflints through oolson and type have been reasoned (Dear 2009; I). It is not clear that colour cannot directly indicate country of origin and that spall- and blade-type gunflints have similar production dates as both types have been found in contemporaneous contexts (Durt 2009;1). The two gunflints recovered from House 3 cannot be assigned a country of origin or dute entimes; with any certure,

#### Miscellaneous Stone Items

A rectangular shaped studiatore whetstone was also collected with horizontal striations along the top surface. Approximately 30 pieces of mica were also present in House 3, four of which were burnt. Mica may have been used in place of a window or as mirrors and is commonly found within fauit dwellings.

### 4.2.4 Ceramic

Eighty-one ceramic fragments were collected during the course of excavation. Five different ceramic types are represented, including Normandy coarse stoneware (CSW), coarse eartherware (CEW), Ligurian-style, tin-glazed eartherware (TGEW), and refined earthenware. Each type will be discussed separately from most abundant to least abundant type present.

# Normandy Coarse Stoneware (CSW)

Normandy coarse stoneware, produced in the Normandy region of France, was the most prevalent ceramic fragment with 30 pieces (Figure 4.14). The fabric is of a beigebrown colour with a matte dark brown to bluish-grey exterior. Twenty-two body sherds from at least two different vessel types were present, including a thick and straight walled form and a small, thin walled form. Fight base sherds all of the thicker walled variety were present and interestingly, no rim sherds were collected. Although eight base pieces are present, only five were large enough specimens to determine the base size of the vessel. Three base diameter sizes are represented in the assemblage: 8 cm (1), 9 cm (2), and 11 cm (2). Four of the base sherds display evidence of huming on the exterior base of the vessel. Normandy CSW was produced from the Middle Ages to the 20<sup>th</sup> century, but production was at its height in the 17th and 18th centuries (St. John 2011:100). Normandy CSW yessels are typically jars and bottles that are storage related and were used to transport food, butter, and liquids (St. John 2011). At least four vessels of differing sizes are represented in the House 3 assemblage, including at least three different sizes of thick and straight-walled forms and one small and thin-walled type. The lack of rims and prevalence of base pieces with evidence of burning is suggestive that these pots might have been acquired in an incomplete form and were used as lamps or cooking vessels. much in the same way soanstone nots were traditionally used. At Snack Cove 3, a Normandy CSW bottle was recovered with humt residue, and a similar cooking or heating function was posited for this vessel (Brewster 2006:26-27).



Figure 4.14. Normandy coarse stoneware base fragment,

# Coarse Earthenware (CEW)

The next most abundant creamic fragment type was cause eartherware with 29 sherds. The vast majority of the CEW sherds were undiagnostic body sherds and by two tim fragments and one base fragment were excored. It appears that two different hollowware vessels are represented in this assemblage, as there are two differing temper and glace colours present. The first vessel type represented is a pith-beige fabric with green glace, which is generally classified as Saintong-type of French genera glaced coorse eartherware (Tassard and Lecence 2012-28-28, Jack and Jack 1940) (Figure 41-5). This cernicity per has been recovered from a number of Prench sites in Eastern Canada, including the Scal Islands site in Labradar, Fort Hemasijour, Luuisburg, and the Machandr shipworks (Bassand and Leclere 20012). The French green galaxed LeW has a production range from the 1600s to 1760 (Brassard and Leclere 200129; Sc. John 2011.84). A variety of vesal forms were constructed of this cernnic type ranging from field preparation to storage vesaels (St. John 2011.84-85); however, the fragmentary name of the hierker recovered in 160aa 26 does to tallow i from to be clearly identified. The second type of CEW is composed of a grey-being fabric with a dark yellow glaze. Only four durchs of this description were recovered and all are in poor shape with only small remnants of the glaze still present, though it is evident that both the interior and are involved were glazed. Unfortunately, the anomal of body identia and and fragmentary tim and hase pieces did not allow for vessel type to be identified for the CLW durch, Two different CEW weareh appear to be represented in this callection, though nother forms was complete.



Figure 4.15. Green-glazed coarse earthenware.



Figure 4.16. Ligurian-style ceramic sherd.

# Ligurian-Style

Eleven cerumic shorts with a red term corta coloured patte and dark red to hymore coloured glaze with black stripes were recovered (Figure 4.16). This ceramic has been identified as a Ligner shyle cerumic polarity in the 1% eventry (Brasand and Leveler 2001-22; SJ. John 2011/20). Lignerian-style ceramics were originally created in Northern Italy but the Freech replicated this style throughout the 1% eventry (Brasand and Leveler 2001-22; SJ. John 2011/20-11). The quality of the French replica does not allow one to discern Italian from Freech origin in ceramics of this from, thus the general term Lignerin-style is applied to ceramics of this type (Brasand and Levler 2001-22; SJ. John 2011/20-71). The Lignerin-style vessel recovered in House 3 is a flaware, likely a plate or platter. The vessel has been glaced on both sides, though the black stepe decorning appear oedy on the whole, togeind of the tart. The irin framemous indicate that the flatware had a 20-21 cm diameter for the vessel and only one vessel of this type is present in this assemblage. Ligarian-style ceramics were most popular in the 18<sup>th</sup> century, prior to the installation of a heavy tax on this ceramic by the first few decades the 19<sup>th</sup> century, which drastically reduced in distribution (St. John 2011/71).

### Tin-Glazed Earthenware (TGEW)

Five ting-glazed earthenware fragments were collected, all of which are body fragments eacept for one foot or tim fragment. The fabric is dark hows to prey in colour with white glaze containing a him of very light bace colour. Glaze is present on both sides of the barks collected. This ceramic is list likely white fabrice, which is the particular mane for French tim glazed earthenware (St. John 2011). White fabrice, which is the particular mane for french tim glazed earthenware (St. John 2011). White fabrice, which is particular mane for french tim glazed earthenware (St. John 2011). White fabrice vessels were generally serving rather than cooking diabes and came in a variety of forms (St. John 2011;74-76). This type of ceramic was common in North American contexts between 1700 and 1760 (Bassard and Leclere 2001;40). The sheeds of white fabrice recovered from House 3 are too fragmentary and walls values common on evenel from or aire.

# Refined Earthenware

Finally, two refined earthensure sheats were collected during the course of execution. Refined earthenswares are common in late-18<sup>th</sup>, and 19<sup>th</sup> century sites in North America (Noth Hame 1970; St. John 2011.66). Its must be noted that these two sheads were collected from the surface of the sol during execution and do not appear to be associated with the occupation level and instand appear to be recent intrusion. Two small fragments of white coloured galax were also recovered, though the small size and separation of the galax from the ceramic fabric does not allow comment to be made on voted to put of rom.

#### 4.2.5 Bone and Mammal-Derived Products

### Leather and Baleen

Boe and other mammal-derived items composed approximately four present of the overall assemblags. Fourteen leadher pieces were collected, all of which were small and fragmentary. One leadher pieces data generic formation of the present as even in a bailed, over-leapping manner. A pair of leadher abse soles with probable machine stitching was collected from the sod surface layer. The shoe soles are not associated with the occupation level of the dwelling and may be evidence of recent disturbance or dumping. Four pieces of haleen were recovered, one of which was rectangular in shape with a rounded to portion displaying lateration tooks. Furthermore, one coil of fibroson material, potentially baleen, was discovered. The fibres were formed into a circular shape and were tied into a koot at one end to keep the bundle secured. A small and fragmentary texitic fragment was also discovered, thrugh linite information could be glanned in regards to fibric torys as the piece was incredibly fragilite.

### Whalebone

Server whatlebone pices were collected, all of which were modified in some manner, particularly through shaping and dilling. Five of the pices have drilled holes and lashing grooves and are led shoe fragments (Figure 4.1). The diffields holes are aligned in linear arrangements as well as in staggered patterns and in all the pices recovered the end of the whatebone fragment is notched. The diameters of the drilled holes range from 4 to 14 mm with the majority measuring 10 mm in diameter. All of the side parts (sidew) events or thinking and theories on the structure of the drilled holes range from 4 to 14 mm with the majority measuring 10 mm in diameter. All of the side parts (sidew) events or thinking and theories on the structure of the drilled holes range from 4 to 14 mm with the majority measuring 10 mm in diameter. All of the side parts (sidew) events or thinking and theories on most. (Too 14 underes). It spectrum the analysis of the structure of that the fragments recovered were construction pieces for the same item, as the pieces show a uniform amount of wear (Tim Rast, personal communication 2011).





Apprt from the whateboos teld purst, a matticek blade was also recovered (Figure 4.18). The item is roughly rectangular in shape with a rounded distal end. Centred in the upper point of the docise is a rectangular blane measuring 6 on in length by 2 on in which in which the handle would be attached. Mattacks were tools typically used to dg house pits (Maxwell 1985;2d). Finally, one wound pits used in such muting was found and its sarate in toos-science and has been freemed tion a point and a singurant in const-science and has been freemed tion to point at our end.



Figure 4.18. Whalebone mattock.

#### 4.2.6 Clay

Pipes

Clay items represent less than four percent of the overall assemblage with 26 items, 19 d which are kaulin pip process. There pipe bowk and one pipe bowl fragment were recovered and the three partial pipe bowls were examined in terms of bowl from as legable maker's mark or decention were are present. The from for pipe bowls has evolved over time and chronologies exist in which is generally place a pipe bowl in the chronological scheme (Noël Hame 1970; Oswald 1975). The general chronological pattern of pipes in the 1<sup>th</sup> and 18<sup>th</sup> centuries was that stem holes because imalier over time and the bowl moved from a none horizontal orientation to an upright position (Numann et al. 1972; 442; 0swald 1973; 73:37; The pipe bowls covered sever place)



Figure 4.19. Kaolin pipe bowls (A, B, and C).

in the general classification scheme in terms of general form, size, and shape in order to produce a date range for the item (Figure 4.19). The first hype bowl form (pipe A) collected from House 3 has a broad 18<sup>th</sup> ecnuty manufacturing date (1700-1780) (Savard and Droain 1990). The bowl a almost heterizantal in its orientation with a pronounced heel. A country of origin could not be assigned to pipe A with any certainty. The second pipe bowl (pipe B) has a more vertical bowl orientation with a heel that displays a raised pinwheel pattern. This pipe appears to be of Drinish manufacture during the period of 1700-1703 (Savard and Dousin 1990). E5:157. The hint bowl (pipe C) is also 0 fitthin origin and has a crown with an Illegble initial underneath present on either side of the bowl. The bowl form safkers to the forms manufactured from 1720-1780 (Savard and Droain 1990;164-165; Walker 1977;1531). Overall, it appears that the pipe bowls present in the assemblay were manufactured from active at 1990. Fifteen stems were recovered, two of which have a bore diameter of 4.64°, nine with 5.64°, and three with 6.64°. Stem hore diameters are not a reliable indicator of time period in this context or with such a small assemblage and thus stem-hore chronological analysis will not be applied here. The presence of three different stem-hore sizes, however, indicates that at least three pipes were present in this assemblage, which correlates with the mane of oppe box.

Aside from the kaolin pipe pieces, one coarse tempered, red-brown, clay pipe stem with quartz inclusions was collected. The pipe stem is of irregular shape and displays evidence of huming on the exterior. The pipe does not appear to be of European manufacture and is likely of aboriginal origin, though cultural affiliation is presently unknown.

# Roof Tiles

Apart from the clay unsking pipes, six red clay roofing tile fragments were recovered. The tiles appear to be visually similar to the Basque norf tiles that are found at finding and whating stations in the vicinity of the Strait of Rell Bay. How to totably at the site of Red Bay. Woolfert (2003):270 suggests the tiles may have been used as abraders and could explain the presence of small picces of the clay tiles, which would be effective trees abarpeneses. Roofing tiles likely of Basque origin have been found in Imit houses across Labrador, including neighbouring Houses 1 and 2 at the site of Hantingdon Island 5 (Paukin 2016); 2016c).

### 4.2.7 Wood

Four wooden artifacts were collected from House 3, including a large circular item suspected to be a button. A folded bark handle was also present and would have been wound around a metal, store, or bone blade. Apart from the identifiable wooden items, an instellanoous layered wooden item roughly rectangular in shape with evidence of lateral shaping was recovered. Finally, a circular wooden picce posited to be a post support was collected from the western side of the house roting on the flagged store floor, further supporting the notion that the house contained a timber frame.

# 4.3 Artifact Discussion

#### 4.3.1 Artifact Distribution

The artifacts recovered from within Houz 3 were generally chattered around the edges of the house interior. Few artifacts were collected from the flagged stone floor and most of the items were concentrated on the deeping platforms and in the alcover areas give below the sleeping platforms. Personal effects of each family residing in the house were stored in the alcover areas and on the sleeping platforms and it is understandable that the artifacts were distributed in this manner. The entrance passage contained fewer artifacts than the house proper, with the first 2 m of the passage close to the house instrior containing the most items. The final 2 m of the house leading to the exit produced few artifacts. The passage was quite more areas and confited with a low celling and it is understandable that decises would be deriven of to as an one moved forway the tunnel.

Metals were the most abundant material spec officed and in terms of distribution appeared to be evenly specar around the bours, which indicates that all members of the bounded) that access to metal items (Figure 4.20). Sosphote items were located on the floor area around the sloeping platform edges, suggesting the use of sospisone in the traditional manner for heating, lighting, and cooking (Figure 4.21). Similarly, how of the Normandy course structures these were similar around the sleeping platform edges.



Figure 4.20. Distribution of metal items in House 3.

which may further support the proposition that the Normandy CSW bases were used in the same manner as traditional sopostore vestels. The distribution of the more rare items within the house and the items of adormment were almost exclusively located on the platform areas or aloces directly below the platform. As is demonstrated in Figure 4.22, the beads, lead pendants, word hilts, and copper ring were found on the platform areas. A distinct cluster of beads and lead pendants was located on the eatief manner and may indicate a family's personal space and property. A similar cluster of items, including both sowed hilts, was located on the southwest platform and may also represent the property of one family within the shared dwelling.



Figure 4.21. Distribution of soapstone in House 3.



Figure 4.22. Distribution of adomment items in House 3, including glass beads, lead pendants, sword hilts, and a copper ring.

Levels 1 and 2 contained the most cultural material with over half of the assemblagic collected from these levels. The sod surface contained approximately 30 items, which were not included in analyses for during the bouse experision as these items cannot be firmly associated with the ecception level. The items collected from the sod surface may be representative of recent fill or damping as they were not buried in the house deposit. For instance, the refined earthwaver and the machine-stitched leather shee soles were collected from the surface level and appear to portach the machine and the first state of the state of the state of the dwelling. Less than be items were collected from the scatterine level inside the dwelling. Less than be items were collected from the scatter stores and the vertical stores skirting the sleeping pathfroms when these stores were lifted at the conclusion of the execusion. 4.1,2.4.scombards Datest

In order to provide a date range for the acceptation of House 3, the datable European artificits were examined (Table 4.2). Artificits recovered from the soil layer were not included in this analysis as only items associated with the occupation level of the dwelling were considered. The European artificts of which date ranges could be obtained included beads (green heart, compound white, and shadow blac), ceramics (CRW, ToEW, and Egarian-style), George II eoin, wered hilts, patheck, pipes, and a prover spoon. Normandy coarse stoneware was not included in determining the date range of House 3 as Normandy CSW has board namofacturing may from the 14<sup>th</sup> through to the 20<sup>th</sup> century, though its production did peak in the 17<sup>th</sup> and 18<sup>th</sup> centuries (St. John 2011:100). The communal House architecture style was included for comparative parposes. The Communal House phase was generally considered to range from A.D. 1700-1806 (Scheldermann 1771-70).


Table 4.2. Artifact and architecture dating chart. The highlighted areas indicate the probable occupation date range for House 3.

According to the assembling analysis, House 3 was accupied at some point during the last three quarters of the 18<sup>th</sup> century. Although many of the datable artifact types have extended chronological ranges, the beatmann datases tend to align in the priord between 1720-1780 and in particular breemen 1720-1740. Most of the datable European artifacts were manufactured within this period or a few decades prior, and artifacts may have been traded to the limit after the terminating manufacture data. The sword hills and the Greeger II colinal datast manufacture ranges of 1725-1730 and 1720-1734, respectively. Similarly, the powers spons had a bird" manufacture period from 1700-1730. Though all three artifacts could have been obtained much later than these time manges, these artifacts are useful indicators that the house was no occupied prior to the early 18<sup>th</sup> control. The struct and indicating the structure constraints are used in early 18<sup>th</sup> British manufacture. The ceramise and sword hilds are indicative of a French presence while the two pipe bowls (B and C), George II coin, and patheck are considered to be of British origin. The French had control of Labrador from 1713-1763 and the House 3 assemblage largely does to the French tenuer in Labrador. Nevertheless, the French were not the only group frequenting Labrador during this period, which may explain the items of British manufacture within House 3. To complicate matters further, European countries traded goods with each other and British manufactured items may not have been beought to Labrador exclusively by fushers or tradeer from British. For instance, Presenb setters may very well have traded British manufactured items, tobacco pipes for example, and be lmait. More than one European group is visible in the assemblage of House 3, which serves to highlight the complexities of the Labrador contact milieu during the 10<sup>th</sup> entury.

### 4.3.3 Radiocarbon Dating Results

Three amples of caribos hone were submitted for radiocarbos during to Beta Analytic incorporated to be used in conjunction with the artifiet during results (Figure 4.23). The first sample (sample #H1 2) submitted was collected from underneath the floor stores of the house and the calibrated disc argues are A.D. 1447-1328 and A.D. 1580-1630. The dates from the first sample are not consistent with the date range received from the artifact assemblage analysis and may be representative of an earlier eccupation or component to the site that was not visible during the execusion. The second sample (sample #22041), collected from the southwest midden accumulation, produced three calibrated date ranges. The higher probability date for the sample fill within the period calibrated date ranges.



\* calibrated to 2 sigmas. Thickness of bar segments is proportional to the probability of each segment's range.

Figure 4.23. Graph displaying calibrated date ranges for the three radiocarbon samples submitted from House 3.

A.D. 1530-1690. The other two calibrated date mages obtained for the sample fell within the periods A.D. 1530-1580 and A.D. 1760-1880, respectively. Note of the date mages received from the scored sample are necessarily a perfect fit for the assemblage date obtained from the scored analysis, but the two dates, A.D. 1630-1680 and A.D. 1760-1800, are largely consistent with the overall findings of an early- to mid-18<sup>th</sup> century occupation date. The third sample (ample 1520-22) submitted for analysis produced two date ranges, an earlier 18<sup>th</sup> century range and a much later 19<sup>th</sup> 20<sup>th</sup> century date mags. The earlier mage from A.D. 1640-1770 is included in this analysis as it is most consistent with the other data. The third sample was collected from the northern end of the extrance passage. Although radiocarbon duting of recent samples is problematic and radiocarbon duting is best suited for archaeological cortexis that are at lates 16<sup>th</sup>

96

other dating methods employed. An 18<sup>th</sup> century date range is consistent with the radiocatron data obtained from sampled caribou tones and this corresponds with the other date ranges associated with House 3 from both artifact and architecture analysis (Table 6.3).

### Table 4.3. Artifact and architecture dating chart, including radiocarbon samples. The highlighted areas indicate the probable occupation date range for House 3.



# 4.3.4 Artifact Summary

The assemblage from House 3 provides a mixture of traditional limit items, European manufactured items, and modified artifacts. The artifacts recovered were discussed in categories based on material of composition in order to distinguish limit from European-origin items. Overall, unaltered European manufactured lenss dominated the assemblage with 554 artifacts in total (Table 4.4). This included nails, ceramics, glass builded, edites deal orderecities, our (Table 4.4). This included mails, ceramics, glass

### Table 4.4. Origin of artifacts.

Origin	Amount	Percent
Inuit	52	7
European	554	73
European - Modified	52	7
Unknown	95	13

other miscillaneous flagments of iron and other metals. Inuit-origin items included balens, whalebone, izather, wood, samstner, and pyrite nodules. Perhaps the most interesting items recovered in House 3 were the European manufacture items that had been altered in some manner by the lmit through such menus as hammering, drilling, cutting, and bonding. Just over 50 of such items were collected including altered malts, menerous drilled metal pieces pressuably for suspension, hammered metal items, and iron alsa nak faith Babes. Inuit-origin items and modified European items totalled over 100, still a fifth of the amount of the unahered European items. A fourth category is delimeted as unidentified, and this includes fint kaopping debitage, a coarse city pipe, a trute fragment, and nice spices.

The aerificate collected provide imights into the type of activities taking place during the occupation of the intracture. For instance, sled parts of both inon and whalebone are indicative of winter truets. The presence of fishbooks and a wound pin are suggestive of things and scale huming activities. Furthermore, lead projectices and gamflass indicates that the limit were potentially in possession of firearms, though the ganflants could have been collected for fire starting purposes. At least three landin pipes were present in the assemblage suggesting that smoking may have been an activity undertaken by the limit inhibitation of House. Journal of the starting purposes are least the limit indication of the starting purposes. soanstone not and lamp pieces indicates that food was prepared through traditional means and that sea mammal oil lamps were providing heat and light within the structure. The Normandy coarse stoneware may also have been used in this manner. All of the ceramics recovered were hollowware vessel forms, except for the one Ligurian-style flatware. Traditional Inuit food preparation and cooking vessels were pots constructed of soanstone, haleen, skin, or wood to facilitate the preparation of communal meals of stews and broths (Jurakic 2007:81). Although European ceramics were incorporated in the assemblage of House 3, hollowware forms predominated. The dominance of hollowware forms indicates that traditional liquid based meals intended for communal consumption were still the norm and that the Inuit were selecting hollowware ceramic forms to be used in the same manner as traditional materials (Jurakic 2007:81-82). In addition, the importance of iron implements is highlighted through the plethora of iron pieces recovered, including iron tools such as European and traditional knives and an axe as well as a number of roof tile fragments and a whetstone ideal for sharpening iron implements. Finally, a large amount of adomment items were collected including beads, pendants, a ring, and an array of metal items drilled and modified to permit suspension. Attachments of European manufactured items to clothing and to the interior of houses were emblems of prestige and status (Gulløv 1997:369). Both utilitarian and adomment items of European origin were collected by the residents of House 3 and incorporated into daily practices through processes of direct replacement.

The predominance of European manufactured items within the House 3 assemblage firmly places the house occupation in the contact period. The quantity and variety of European items indicate direct Inuit-European trade and interaction rather than screening activities (Jordan and Kagalan 1980-22). Certaini terms in the assemblage, such as coins, sword hilts, beads, and kasolin pipes, suggest that direct exchange was taking ploce at those lines were milderly bite galaxies of a single milder through scavering in events. In terms of cultural electronology, House 3 appears to fall within Jordan and Kaglan's (1990-22) Interminister Trading period (J.D. T100-1800) defined as a period of flourishing tradie networks, increasing amounts of European goods in lmit bouses, and intensifying familie fumppean contact. Traditional lmuit implements continued to be made and used during this period; however, foreign goods began to dominate the trade networks creating an increased demand and dependence on European commodities (Jordan 1978; 18).

## 4.4 Faunal Results

#### 4.4.1 Quantification and Results

During the course of exacustion, 688 faual elements were collected and were recorded to level and quadrant. The faual remains were sent to a zooachaeologist, Lindang Swainten, et the Universital Land for identification to the species level when tenable. The elements recovered from the sod surface layer totalled 54 and were not included in the quantifications or distribution analysis in order to ensure that only the elements associated with the undutatived occupation level were considered. The faund assemblage mismo the sod layer elements included 610 pieces. To aid in the interpretation of the faunal assemblage, two main quantification methods were employed including the number of identified specimeses (VSDP) and the minimum number of individual (MNI) (Tolde 4.53. NSP) tempide the heat sill be count of the recover ensuits. NSP is to Table 4.5. Faunal quantification results.

Species	NISP	MN
Caribou	121	6
Ringed Seal	42	11
Harp Seal	7	4
Harbour Seal	3	1
Bearded Seal	1	1
Ringed or Harbour Seal	105	
Unidentified Seal	178	
Fox	13	1
Arctic Fox	7	1
Dog	13	2
Unidentified Bird or Duck	4	
Eider Duck	3	1
Bear	1	1
Whale	1	1
Indeterminate Gastropod/Bivalve	4	
Indeterminate Mammal	127	
Total	630	

seen as a relative abundance count and not a true representation of the number of individual animals present in the assemblage. Many of the beness collected could belong to one individual animals and may appear more frequently in the assemblage due to fragmentation processes, case of identification, or animal size (Ringrose 1993;125-126). In order to correct for the over-representation of species from the NISP count, the MNI for each identified species is also presented. The basic terms of MNI is to reduce or eliminate the potential for counting the same animal more than once in a collection (Ringrose 1993). MNI is calculated through violing the remains of each species by element and side and taking the maximum value of fils calculation to represent the number of individuals from that species present (Ringrose 1993). In abort, the highest mather or side of an element is the MNI value for each species. WNI tends to varersystems the maxy species, as childed through the breaded scalar who, and becare and species. one element of each of those species was collected, though the MNI value is also one. In contrast, 15 fox elements were collected, but only one individual was represented through the MNI calculation. Nevertheless, the combination of the NISP and MNI counts provide imights into the future assemblyse of theora 3.

Collectively, seal species were the highest number of remains recovered with 336 elements. In both NISP and MNI calculations, seals comprised just over 50 percent of the overall assemblage. Seals are considered difficult to identify to the species level (Brewster 2005:88) and in the House 3 assemblage, 183 were classified as unknown members of the seal family. The unknown seal species were only included in the NISP count and not in the other calculations. Similarly, 105 pieces were identified as either ringed or harbour seal, but were also not included in the MNI calculations. In terms of MNI values, the most abundant species found within House 3 were ringed seals (11). caribou (6) harn seal (4) and dog (2) Harbour seal hearded seal fox. Aretic fox, eider duck, bear (likely polar bear), and whale each had one individual represented in the assemblage: however, both the bear and whale were represented by only one element each and do not indicate that a complete individual was present in the house. At least 17 individual seals were included in the collection and appeared to be the most important resource, followed by caribou. The diet of seal and caribou was supplemented to a limited degree by birds and shellfish. The foxes and dogs were unlikely to have been primary food resources and instead were used for pelts and winter transportation and traction. respectively (Brice, Bennett 1977: Woollett 2007). No fish hones were collected during the excavation, which may be a result of taphonomic processes or recovery techniques.

In terms of aging the elements recovered, just over 20 percent of the assemblage was definitively ansigned a category of either adult or immunare, with the remaining portion of the assemblage indeterminate in regards to age. All of the carbour remains assigned to an age category were classified as adult. Similarly, the majority of the identified ringed and harp seals were also adults, and adults, the majority of the identified ringed and harp seals were also adults. Internative, the majority of the identified ringed and harp seals were also adults. Internative, the majority of the searce. Degs were called during periods of severe accounts atraces, however, if this were the case in House 3 much larger amount of dog elements would be expected (Woolffell 2007). Finally, cutting, chopping, and carrivore grawing evidence was visible on approximately 10 percent of the overall assemblage exclusively on the seal and carbou houses, further indicating the use of these species for human and dog consumption. 4.4 Scenometic

Ringed seal was the most abundant and species in the House 3 assembly one of the only seal species present year round in Labrador (Urice-Bennett 1977). The Innit term for Standwice BMS, Architochosch emening "aftee where there are many ringed seat", clearly rings true for this assemblage (Rankin 2010s:232). Despite the presence of ringed seal athoset coefficient and the state of the state of the state of the state where the state of the where the state of abundance of ringed seal, and to a lesser extent harp seal, in the collection suggests a late fail and winter period occupation for the dwelling. This is further supported by the lack of seal species that prefer open water conditions of the late spring and summer, such as the harbour seal.

Caribou and fox were hunted by the Inuit in the late fall and winter and polar bear would most likely be encountered and bunted during this period as well (Brice-Rennett 1977). Eider ducks, of which one was represented in the assemblage, gather in large flocks in coastal areas during their southern migration in the late fall prior to the winter freeze-up (Brice-Bennett 1977). Shellfish were generally collected in the spring (Brice-Bennett 1977), but were also gathered in the winter (Petersen 1974/1975:171: Taylor 1974:54). The faunal assemblage supports a late-fall to late-winter season of occupation. which correlates with the winter soil house architecture style. Seal comprised over half of the total assemblage, suggesting that seal was an important resource to the Inuit residing in House 3. Nevertheless, the reliance on secondary species, caribou in particular, indicates that seals may not have been plentiful enough to fully support the residents of House 3 or that caribou was readily available in the area and was taken when encountered. Alternatively, caribou may have been exploited in larger numbers than usual to allow seal to be stockpiled for trading purposes. Although large quantities of seal remains were not encountered, the inhabitants of House 3 may have gathered seals in large numbers for trading numoses and processed these animals at the shore after canture Sandwich Bay is regarded as an excellent sealing location and the residents may have exploited this resource for trading ventures with little evidence of this activity transcending into the archaeological record.

### 4.4.3 Archaeoentomology Results

In addition to the funual analysis, two samples were submitted for archaesentemological analysis. One sample was collected from the southwest sleeping platferm and one from the entrance passage. The minimum number of individuals (MNI) from the sleeping platform samples was 12 innects with ore 90 entrance of the intestidentified belonging to the Staphylinidae family, commonly known as rowe beetles (Cloutier-Gélinas et al. 2011;7:8). The other 10 percent of the intestigrain and ground beetle species (Cloutier-Gélinas et al. 2011). The sample from the entrance passage contained very few intext remains overall with 13 individuals represented (Cloutier-Gélinas et al. 2011;8-9). The entrance passage sample included scarab beetles, water scareinger beetles, a row beetle, and unidentified intext species. Apart from the identified beetle species, both the sleeping platform and entrance passage samples contained numerous *payoria* or the larval stage of flies (Cloutier-Gélinas et al. 2011).

In regards to the skeeping platform sample, all of the beetle species detuiled were predutory, meaning they fed on other insects. It is suggested that the beetles were feeding on the pupuria and also that decaying organic matter was present on the sleeping platform (Coutter-Gillmas et al. 2011;15). It appears that food was stored on or met the sleeping platform and also that waste accumulated in these areas and was likely periodically removed from the bouse by the residents of House 3. The entrance passage sample contained both predatory and non-predatory beetle species indicating that decaying erganic and vagetable matter was present in the entrance passage (Coutier-Gillmas et al. 2011). The low multicer finest species present in the entrance massage samples were result of systematic cleaning of the tunnel (Cloutier-Gélinas et al. 2011:16), or perhaps the natural clearing of the tunnel due to annual spring flooding.

### 4.5 Faunal Discussion

### 4.5.1 Faunal Distribution

The identifiable famal elements were plotted within House 3 to assess the distribution. Only the identified species were included and the and level elements were not plotted as the analysis was focused eschariely on the occupation level. During the course of excavation, two small exterior indiken areas were located on the southeast and southwest areas of the house on either side of the entrance passage (Figure 4.24). The famal accoundation areas were seeningly outside of the interior living space of the atructure and may represent periodical damping of reflue outside of the house. As eaching and food preparation would occur indoes, animal bones and ether waste would gather in the house interior on a daily basis. The archaecenemological analysis supports the notion that some amount of food storage, preparation, and cooking occurred on the sleeping platform areas. It appears that the resistent of House 3 were regularly throwing watte out of the entrance passage into the two central accumulation areas outside of the bones wald).

Each species was plotted separately and it was revealed that each species conformed to the general distribution pattern with heavily concentrated exterior clusters on either side of the entrance passage. A few elements were scattered within the house interior on the thirdners marcs while the word central flow area was basically devoid of





faunal remains. The seal species plotted together were distributed the most widely, with elements recovered from all treat of the reat and lateral platforms as well as the exterior accumulations (Figure 4.25). Caribou was restricted to the exterior accumulations with one element recovershifts from the interior of the house on the northwest platform (Figure 4.26). Interestingly, the dog remains were only collected from the western side of the house. Furthermore, the eider duck elements were clustered together on the northwest platform, an area containing few faunal remains in general. The isolated elder duck may indicate that the duck was being processed in order to use the faulters for various mems or that the duck was being processed in order to use the faulters for various mems area.







Figure 4.26. Distribution of caribou remains recovered from House 3.

108

During excavation, the perioditracum or outer skins of mollises were frequently encountered and were recorded by quadrant and quarity. The mollist remnants were encountered most frequently in the occupation level and were scattered around the odges of the platform areas: In Becentral Hoor areas produced for mollistics in general. The highest concentration of mollises: occurred in the same areas as the faural accumulations located outside of the bouse walls on either side of the entrance tunnel. Apart from the collection of periostracum skins from mussels, clams and gastropode were also present in the assemblage suggesting the periodic collection of shellful by residents of House 3 throughout the duration of occupation.

#### 4.5.2 Faunal Summary

Anaplayis of the House 5 Inaural assemblage indicates that setus were an important resource, that is were seasonally available resources such as carbon. According to Woollett (2007;7), the majority of fumal assemblages from Inaux witter houses are empletely dominated by seal, usually constituting over 40 percent of the recovered material per house. The famal assemblage from House 3 at Huntingdon Island 5 contains fewer seal remains, with seal comprising just over 50 percent of the total assemblage. The majority of funit winter houses examined in Labrador to data are from more northere locations than Sandwich Bay, and the variation in the House 3 assemblage may be a result of operaptival and rathele resources. Regardless, the House 3 assemblage appears to be atypical due to the relinece on species such as carbon. The winter that House 3 was accoupied may have produced unfovourable seal hunting conditions, such may have brea processed in large quantities away from the house perpet for that gruposos, and nor carbon may have breadment on the suce percent per transmitter on the suce operational search and the searce communities that the suce operation of an extension of the suce may be an extension that and were known commutationally. The types of species present in the ausenblage, such as ringed and hap scal, carihoa, fin, and eided duck suggest a late fail to late winter occupation for the dwelling. Ringed scal was the dominant scal species in the collection with scale to 11 individual seals of this type represented. Furthermore, the presence of duc areas in supports the notion that dogs were used in the traditional manner for winter threed and traction. The archaecemenological analysis of sediment samples from within the losse indicate that decaying organic meter was present on the sleeping platforms and that field was periodically stored on or mar the platforms. The entrance pasage contained few insect remains, which may be a direct result of specing flowding. The distribution of the faund remains, which and around the structure taggess a distinction between present living areas and areas in who to dispose of orace oracide of the house represe.

Next, the archaeological results discussed in this chapter are compared to contemporaneous limit witter houses located in Labrador and Greenhand. The data discussed in Chapter 4 are positioned within the Labrador Communal House phase in order to assess the nature of the House 3 occupation.

110

#### Chapter 5: Communal House Comparisons

## 5.1 Comparative Sites

In nedre to contextualize the House 3 acception, the architecture, interior quarial organization, and artifact and futural assemblages are examined within a comparitive framework. Comparing House 3 to contemporations limit houses from various regions within Labardoe and Greenland allows an assessment to be made about similarities or divergences in terms of style, size, and other command house attributes. The facus of this comparative analysis is on the Command House phase rather than involving earlier and later period houses, as an analysis of such a vast temporal scope is beyond the limits of this provide.

The purpose of the comparisons is to shell light on whether House 3 is a typical communal style dwelling or perhaps represents a regional variation specific to the south of Labrador. It was not definitively known whether the development of communal houses eccurred throughout all the regions of Labrador or whether the communal houses within Labrador were similar in ferm or function. As House 3 from the Huntinghen Island 5 site represents one of the only communal house investigations south of Grasswater Bay, it needs to be positioned within the context of Labrador Imatic communal houses in order to indicate if adaptations related to its southers location are present or abnert. Furthermore, the comparative tashy allows an assessment to be made in regreds to whether or not the preximity to European groups affects the nature of communal houses and the associated assemblage. The residents of House 3 were living relatively near to the premament European enterments in the south Guabrador, which differs markedly from central and notherm communal bases that were removed from direct European contact prior to the southerm. artival of the Moravians in the late 18<sup>th</sup> century. Ethnographic documents from the 18<sup>th</sup> century indicate that a middlement trading system was thriving in Labendor with certain influential limit middlemen controlling was inter-regional trade networks (Taylor 1974). Northern Labendor controlling to the studies are therements in which coopentive libour was required to produce a surplus in order to india with the middlement for covered European technologies. For the purpose of this study, what is under investigation is how House 3 from the Humingdon Italad 5 arise compares to contemporaneous. Labendor fluit command houses and how the structure fits within the cultural framework and systems of 18<sup>th</sup> eventure Vandor.

First nits were included in the comparative using and were selected on the basis of predefined criteria in regards to temporal period, geographic area, and level of exavation. Althougammenus usis fit in 'thirt in the difficat criteria, sample size of they situs included were all 18<sup>th</sup>-central processions in order to be contemporaneous to House 3. Furthermore, fur alies were selected from various locations within Lareador and Gerenhandic ettics areas included in order to provide geographic breaches the tot study. Finally, preference was given to sites that had undergore complete or near to complete executions to that architectural frames and spatial egazitation could be discussed. The Gerenhandic is the examined in south-settern Gothhab District and cannot be considered representative of Greenhala as whole. The southwest area of Greenhand is posterio to the areas where communal boxess first emerged and was the main geographic region frequented and eventually colonized by Europeans following the Norea abandonment Giller 199727).



Figure 5.1. Map of Labrador and Greenland with the locations of the comparative sites used in this study.

The focus is on a brief description and overview of the five situs examined with the main concentration on architecture, spatial organization, and assemblage traits. The due presented in this section is a compressed version of characteristic relevant to this comparative study and should note be considered a full description of each site. Attention is particularly directed to dimensions, interior organization, construction material, types of items present, and fluanal species exploited. It must be noted that the dua asks warmined are not encodence in the of discretion or amount of dual interview. general features of the architecture and collections create a framework in which to compare and contrast House 3. The five 18<sup>th</sup>-century furit houses selected for this discussion are likansik House 8, Uvak Point House 7, Eskimo Island 1 House 2, Seal Islanda, and Illorpaat 3 House IV (Figure 5.1). The four sites from Labendor are discussed first from the most northern site to the most southern site and the single Greenlandic site examined in discussed last.

5.1.1 Ikkusik, House 8

The Ikkusik site (IdCr.2) located in Saglek Bay, is situated on a small island referred to as both Rose Island and Saglek Island (Schledermann 1976a). House 8 is the focus as it was the most thoroughly investigated structure dating to the Communal House phase at the Ikkusik site (Schledermann 1971). The occupation of House 8 dates from the mid-18th century to the early-19th century (Schledermann 1971:90, 1976a:29). The rear wall measured 11 m in length and the width of the house differed on either side (Schledermann 1971:77). The western wall of the house measured approximately 5.5 m in width and the eastern wall measured approximately 8.5 m in width (Schledermann 1971-77) The total interior floor area was estimated to be roughly 75 m<sup>2</sup>. The southeast facing entrance passage was over 10 m long and was excavated approximately 20 cm below the floor level (Schledermann 1971:77). Both the house floor and the entrance passage were paved with flagged stones. The house contained three sleeping platforms around each of the interior walls as well as six lamp stand areas that protraded from the sleeping platforms and were skirted by upright stone slabs (Schledermann 1971). The structure was built of whalebone, timber, and sod elements.

The artificst assemblages collected from the communal houses at the Rkash, site examined by Schladermann were discussed collectively in order to delineate artificts characteristic of this period (Schladermann 2017).84, Novemblack the types of artifices found were representative of the artifacts recovered from House 8 and included shate and trow knives, iron hurpoon bash, whalebone tell and kayka pieces, sognostoe per and lamp fragments, iron implements, guarflatts, betted galas, metal and ivery pendants, kaolin pip fragment, and centuris (creanware, parthoure, and stoowers) (Schlodermann 1976a.25; 1971). Although items of European manufacture were recovered, it is stated that European commodities were not collected in large quantities from any of the astructures examined at Ikkasik (Schlodermann 1977;103). Unfortunately, no fanal evidence wais included in the report of the House 8 exervation.

#### 5.1.2 Uivak Point, House 7

Urback Point (PGCP) is located near Okak. Bay and the focus here is House 7 as it was the house investigated most intensively at the site (Woollett 2003). House 7 had a relatively length ycourpointo history. Two according by the mil-Fife entury through to the 1770s and showed evidence of rehalid after 1783 and was inhabited until the first few years of the P<sup>®</sup> entury (Woollett 2003-H1). The presence of a large midden near to House 7 harther supports the notion that the house was occupied repeatedly and in a sustained flashion for a number of years. The interior of the house measured 11 m by 8 m constituting a pace approximately 88 m<sup>2</sup> (Woollett 2003.320). The longest perform of the house was orientated netthivedn and a short entrance passage extended out of the west wall not be southwest (Woollett 2001). The house was constructed of rocks, net, and whalehouse and information theorem and the southwest (Woollett 2001). and the entrance passage were constructed of paved floor stones. Three interior platforms lined the inner walls with the largest platform situated along the rear wall measuring between 10-12 m in length and 1-2 m in width (Woollett 2003).311). At least three lamp stand areas were inferred due to the presence of fit astanted area (Woollett 2003).

The artified assemblage included 2633 items, close to 70 percent of which was European in origin (Woolfert 2003;35:336). European goeds included adomment items such as beads and pendants, numerous iron toola and kaives, thimbles, combs, button, and kalon pie pieces (Woolfert 2003;399). Traditional Time Inturning, fulsing, transportation, and food preparations equipment were present in the assemblage, some of which were constructed into traditional forms from imported iron implements (Woolfert 2003). Seals, particularly ringed and harp species, comprised close to 80 percent of the famal assemblage (Woolfert 2003;599:560). Furthermore, mollaces, fass, and dogs were also well represented, though carbox appears to have been of limited importance (Woolfert 2003).

### 5.1.3 Eskimo Island 1, House 2

Three eetfements were located at the Eskino Island site in the Hamilton Indel region and are so-named Eskino Island 1, 2, and 3. The focus of the comparison is House 2 from Eskino Island 1 (Gallp-1) due to its intensive excavation in comparison to the other sites at Eskino Island 1 as well its 18<sup>4</sup> century occupation range and communal house classification. House 2 was the largest of the three houses at Eskimo Island 1 and was the centre house in the group of three interconnected dwellings. House 2 had a back will approximately 12.5 m long and side walls measuring over 8 m in length, comprising a roughly 100 m<sup>2</sup> mer (Algent) 1883-1817. The entrance houses was about 11 m in length and opened to the south. There was a deep and rich midden area adjacent to the three linked communal houses inflacing a lengthy and sustained occupation (Jordan and Kaphan 1904-21; Kaphan 1903-1413). House 2 was constructed of rock, sod, and timber elements with an interior flagged stoone floor (Jordan and Kaphan 1980). The interior spatial organization of House 2 consisted of three mised sleeping platforms lining the rear and lateral walls along with interpreved langt and areas (Jordan and Kaphan 1980).

The artifact assemblage of House 2 was indicative of the accumulation of goods related to participation in a trade network (Jordan and Kaplan 1980). Thousands of European manufactured items, most notably close to 9000 trade beads, were included in the collection (Jordan and Kaplan 1980:42). Other European items included nails. fishbooks, knives, pewter spoons, files, a key, an axe, kaolin pipes, gun spalls, two sword pieces, and stoneware ceramic sherds (Jordan and Kanlan 1980-42). Apart from the European manufactured items were traditional Inuit items such as a wooden how and harpoon pieces, a kavak seat, and numerous soapstone and baleen fragments (Jordan and Kaplan 1980:42). Modified European items such as iron ulu blades, iron harpoon heads. metal pendants, and modified pails and spikes were also prevalent (Jordan and Kaplan 1980:42). The majority of the European commodities date to the 18th century and were of French manufacture (Jordan and Kaplan 1980). The sheer variety and quantity of the European goods within House 2 suggests formalized and direct trading encounters with Europeans (Jordan and Kaplan 1980). The faunal assemblage was analyzed at the site level in an amalgamated format and revealed that seal constituted more than 90 percent of the overall collection at Eskimo Island 1, whereas caribou formed approximately 2 percent of the assemblage and is considered a minor resource (Woollett 2003:504).

## 5.1.4 Seal Islands

The Seal Islands site is located in the Strait of Pdelle Islav, which is the acea between southern Labendor and the island of Newfoundland. This site was included in this analysis as it is the most southern communal house recorded in Labendor to dust; however, it must be noted that the Inuit cultural affiliation of this site has recently been drawn to question (Gaudrean 2011), and it may indeed represent a strictly European escapation. Nevertheless, the site is included for comparative purposes, but is ultimately approached with custom.

The tool house excurated at Seal Island, (FaAv-9) measured 12 m by 6.5 m constituting a living space 78 m<sup>2</sup> (Auger 1991.28). Two separate occupations are inferred for the Seal Islands house including a European occupation during to the 1720n and a later Inuit occupation suggested in the 1790. (Auger 1991.75). The bouxe lacked some traditional characteristics of Inuit architecture, such as an entrance passage and a paved floor, but basically first the standard communal house description. Auger (1989;106) suggested that he lack of an entrance passage at this site might be due to the entrance passage originally being constructed of snow. A midden area was located near to the house entrance. It was possited that there were slopping platform along all of the interiwalls of the house of which only one lateral platform was constructed of rowel Auger 1991.35). Furthermore, the structure had a wooden planked floor and a timber house frame (Auger 1991).

The Seal Islands site contained a large amount of material culture and particularly of European manufactured items. For instance, the assemblage included close to 6000 iron nails, hundreds of kaolin pipe fragments, beads, buttons, pewter spoons, window glass, fishhooks, lead projectiles, gunflints, and over 1000 ceramic sherds (Auger 1991:77-78). Traditional Inuit material was extremely limited, including a whalebone harpoon, a pierced tooth pendant, wound pin, and fragment of a soapstone pot (Auger 1991:73). The large size of the Seal Islands collection was likely a result of the multiple occupations of the site and the mixing of the assemblages (Auger 1991): nevertheless, the assemblage itself was clearly diverse and substantial. Auger (1991:82) suggested that the large size of the assemblage was a direct result of the accumulation of goods by the Inuit inhabitants for trading. For the purposes of this analysis, only the faunal remains collected from the house interior are discussed as these elements have been attributed to the Inuit occupation of the house. The faunal remains collected from the house interior total over 1500 with seal species (likely harp seal) and a variety of sea birds comprising the majority of the assemblage (Auger 1991:101). In total 10 individual seals were represented in the assemblage and 84 sea birds (Auger 1991:102). Fish bones and small fur bearing animals were collected in limited quantities. Interestingly, very few caribou remains were collected, which may be related to the general scarcity of caribou in the Strait of Belle Isle region (Auger 1991:101). Just over 50 elements of domestic pig and cow were collected and may indicate the Inuit were trading with the Europeans for salt pork or the elements may be intrusive from the earlier European occupation of the dwelling (Auger 1991:101).

5.1.5 Illorpaat 3, House IV

The Illorpaat 3 site is the Greenlandic Inuit site included for comparative purposes. The site is located on the southern side of Hope Island in the Godthåb District of southward Greenland (Gallue' 1997). The Illorpara 3 arise consisted of four communal houses that were built one atop another representing almost continuous occupation of this location throughout here IB<sup>6</sup> entrops (Gallue 1997). For the purposes of this study, House IV is the factor of analysis as it was the most recent structure at the site and consequently the least disturbed and least complex to interpret. The occupation of House IV was dated to the period 1770-1800 (Gallue' 1997). 546). The house was rectangular in shape and had a paved store thore and entrance passage (Galler 1997). The intermed intensions of the house were roughly 11 m in width by 4 m in length, constituting a 44 m<sup>3</sup> area (Gallue' 1997).357). The passage was caevated lower than the flow level in the cold trap fashion. Only the rear platform running the width of the house was clearly defined and was eccupates of House IV shared the rear platform that measures 11 m in length as evidence for lateral platforms was lacking. The presence or loations of alcove or lamp stand areas was unknows.

Honce IV contained traditional hunting implements, fishhodsa, men and women's knives, pendants, suspatone pieces, iron, kachin pipes, ganfilinta, huttona, and over 100 glass beach (Gullav 1997-105-109). Goeds of European maunfacture comprised close to 55 percent of the total assemblage from Honce IV (Gullav 1997-2057). Famal data was not provided for the escavation; however, carbon, hanp scal, and sea hird elements were collected and were likely associated with the arthest Thate acceptation of the site and thus not directly associated with the Honce IV indicators (Gullav 1997). Regardless, the hunting cauptement reversed from Honce IV indicates that these are precises were failed the not directly associated with the Honce IV indicates that these are precises were failed to the site of the sit hunted during the occupation of the structure with bird darts, bladder darts, wound pins, and bows present in the collection (Gulløv 1997).

5.2 General Trends in Comparison to Huntingdon Island 5, House 3

5.2.1 Introduction

The information deemd relevant to reference for the following discussion is displayed in Table 5.1. The table presents a brief outline of total house dimensions excluding the entrance passage, total artifiet assemblage counts, percent of European in origin items in each assemblage, and lists the most abundant finand species recovered from each house discussed in the previous section. House 3 from the Hantingdon Island 5 site is included for comparative purposes. General trends or divergences in house dimension and use of space, artifict assemblages, and funal assemblages are each outlined separately followed by a discussion focused on situating House 3 within the comparative functoweds.

Table 5.1. Table containing total interior area of the houses examined, artifact assemblage counts, percentages of European manufactured items in assemblages, and most abundant faunal species. If no data were available, "unknown" is listed. The – symbol indicates approximate values calculated by the author.

Site	Area	Artifact Counts	European Items	Most Abundant Faunal Species
Ikkusik, House 8	75 m <sup>2</sup>	unknown	unknown	unknown
Uivak, House 7	88 m <sup>2</sup>	2653	67 %	seal (ringed, harp)
Eskimo Island 1, House 2	100 m <sup>2</sup>	$\sim 10,000$	~ 75-80 %	seal (harp, harbour)
Seal Islands	78 m <sup>2</sup>	11,296	~ 85-90 %	seal (harp), sea birds
Illorpaat, House IV	44 m <sup>2</sup>	~ 400	55 %	unknown
Huntingdon Island 5, House 3	60 m <sup>2</sup>	753	74 %	seal (ringed), caribou

### 5.2.2 Dimensions and Organization

In terms of interior dimensions, Huntingkoh Island S, House J was the smallest examined house in Labendor by 15 m<sup>24</sup> to as much as 40 m<sup>2</sup>, but is larger than the commonal house at the HUDPLAT J site in Greenelland. It is interesting to note that the largest communal house recorded in the Godhabi district of Greenland measures only 61 m<sup>3</sup> and its size and assemblage, which contained a larger amount of cospositoer vessel fragments, lead researchers to suggest a special purpose for this structure revolved around fragming (Guller 1097).260). Intrance passages appear to vary in length from over 10 m long at likknik House 8 and Eakimo Island 1, to roughly 5 m in length as at Uivak Point and Honizapho Island 5, to non-scinient as at the Soal Balands site. In terms of size, House 3 vars smaller that its contemporteries.

The spatial erganization of Labrahov funit communal houses appears to be quite standard with three interior sleeping platforms along the raw wall and both lateral walls. The longest platform was piscally the ore along the raw wall areally across from the lance passage. The Seal Islands site contained one traditional style raised platform of sand, graved, and rock and two or three probable platform state of veceden planks. Similarly, the platform at Illopara I 3 was contracted of a combination of wooden planks and that stones. Interestingly, the Illopara I 3 was contacted only one single platform along the trar wall in a different go the dual Labrahov communal house, though this form was common in Greenland communal houses (Petersen 1974) 1973). Multiple lamp stand areas interceptered along the platforms are a standard communal house feature and are inferred to former each further's was ex-



Figure 5.2. House plans from Huntingdon Island 5, House 3 (left) and Ikkusik House 8 (right), Ikkusik House 8 is redrawn from Schledermann 1976a:Figure 4.

In design, House 3 bears uncanny recemblance to Rkanik House 8 (Figure 5.2). The interior alcoves are similar in terms of placement indicating parallels in the division and the use of space as well as sple conformity within Labrador. The Ikkanik tite is located near the northern tip of Labrador and the close correlation in design between the two contemporaneous houses over a vast geographic areas indicates that communal house design is not regionary queficies to norther outdrete.

All of the houses examined were constructed of sod, stone, and timber elements with the two most northern Labrador sites, likkasik and Uivak Point, containing whalehone structural components. This appears to be a regional trend as timber was utilized from central and southern regions where trees were more prevalent. When possible, it appears that the Inuit would use timber elements for construction. All of the houses examined with the exception of Seal Islands, had flagged stone floors, including House 3.

#### 5.2.3 Material Culture

Material culture analysis revealed a trend towards a large amount of European manufactured commodities within the assemblages alongside traditional Inuit bunting transportation, and food preparation items indicating a consistency in Inuit subsistence and daily activities. Traditional Inuit items common in each collection included soapstone vessel fragments, whalebone sled and kayak parts, seal hunting equipment, and traditional knife and tool forms often possessing iron blades. Furthermore, modified European items were recovered from the sites examined with the exception of Seal Islands, which contained a large amount of European goods in complete unmodified form. The Eskimo-Island 1 assemblage contained modified nails, perforated items, and a pewter spoon formed into a pendant (Jordan and Kaplan: 1980:42). Similarly, Uivak Point contained metal nieces reworked into traditional tool forms, cold-hammered nails and snikes, and hammered corner pieces (Woollett 2003;339,340). House 3 from Huntingdon Island 5 is consistent with the other assemblages in terms of reworked and modified European manufactured goods with 52 such items present representing seven percent of the entire collection. In terms of representative European commodities, items such as iron nails and tools, ceramics, sunflints, lead projectiles, kaolin pines, and plass beads were collected in each house examined. The Inuit were predominately acquiring items of utilitarian function and items for adomment purposes.

124

The assemblages discussed reveal marked similarities in the types of items present and the variation is instead revealed in the quantity of items in each house. Eskimo Island 1 and Seal Islands both contained a significantly large amount of items, the majority of which were European manufactured. Both sites were suggested to be areas where goods were stockniled for trading nurnoses. Seal Islands must be approached with caution as the amount and variety of goods may be a result of the mixing of assemblages from the previous European occupation (Auger 1991), and the Inuit cultural affiliation of this site is debatable (Gaudreau 2011). Uivak Point House 7 has a considerably large assemblage with close to 3000 items, almost 4 times the amount recovered from Huntingdon Island 5 House 3, Just over half of the Illormant 3 House IV assemblage was composed of European in origin items with a much larger traditional toolkit than House 3. No overall counts were provided for Ikkusik House 8 but it was stated that few European items were recovered (Schledermann 1971:103). The European items common to each assemblage, including beads, pipes, and adornment items, are indicative of trading rather than scavenging activities (Jordan and Kaplan 1980). This is particularly revealing for the northern sites as these groups were unlikely to be in direct European contact during the first three quarters of the 18th century, which subsequently provides evidence that a middleman trading system was in operation.

### 5.2.4 Faunal Data

Comparative faunal data was not included from likusik Hoase 8 and this site is not incorporated in the faunal discussion. Similarly, lloopaat 3 House IV is not included as the faunal component only received eurosry mention inasmuch that the inhabitants exploited arthour pars seal, and sea birts. The general trend that append from Uvice Point, Ekimo Island 1, and Seal Balada was that seat much up the majority of the assemblages, constituting 80-90 percent of the overall collection in these assemblages. The House 3 assemblage was composed of 50 percent seal and the total aseal NISP count was just over 700, as small fraction of the much larger samples of over 2300 seal elements each at both Eskimo Island 1 and Uivak Point House 7 (Woollett 2003). The seal assemblage at Eskimo Island 1 was dominated almost exclusively by harp and harbour seal with very minimal riged seal elements. (Woollett 1999;377). In contrast, Uivak Point aligned closely to the House 3 assemblage with ringed seal constituting the most abundant identified seal species followed in lesser amounts by harp and harbour seal (Woollett 2003;561). Seal Islands contained 10 individual seals, which was almost half the annout reavevered in House 3, however, the subsistence base for this house was heavily haused on sea bind with over 30 individual binds represented in the assemblage (Assem 1991;120).

Considering the small number of seal elements in House 3 in relation to the other assemblages, the NISP count of caribox was much higher with 121 fragments representing six different annihas. This is usell large when directly compared to the much larger fusual assemblages from Uivak Point House 7 and Eskimo Island 1 House 2, where only 27 and 45 caribos elements were recovered, respectively (Wouldtz 2005;56), 1999-377). The faund comparisons reveal that House 3 represents a different exploitation of resources than the more northern areas with loss cal taken overall and higher caribox yields. Nevertheless, House 3 compared to Uivak Point House 7 was similar in terms of the types of easi precise exploited most heavity, which may indicate that the houses were coursiled driven the sus easone. Denote root that mith with a similar dates more of occuration. House 7 at Ursk point contained almost eight times the amount of faual matrial compared to House 3. House 3 was occupied for a shorter duration than the comparative houses and contains itses flucal density outs will. The short occupantion likely affected the nature of the ansemblage and the differences in the collection may represent a specific sessional variation rather than a regional subsistence pattern. It is suggested that House 3 located in Standwich Bay, an area renowned for its ringed scal hunting, may have been chosen for its potertia of gathering a scal surging for that hyperball the been that a seemblage does not attest to large amounts of scal captured for trading purposes, the scal could have been processed outside of the house proper. No evidence is forthcoming to support thin notion, how-ever, the potential for mass scal hunting and surghus anthering in this may is not solver boxy.

5.2.5 Discussion

The discussion is concentrated on addressing the previously stated queries regarding () whether House 3 is a typical communal style dwelling or perhaps represents a regional variation specifie to the south of Labrador and, 2) if the proximity to European groups affects the nature of communal houses and the associated assemblage. These two inquiries are certainly closely linked as becomes clear when these issues are explored further.

To begin, House 3 adheres closely in style to the contemporaneous houses examined. In Labrador, though size of communal houses can vary, the spatial erganization does not deviate and follows a standardized type of pattern. Typical communal house features include a payved entrance passage and central floor area, three mixed platforms around the interior edges of the house, and direct hung stand tensus. House 3 essentially conforms to this standard patterning. The patial organization is not exactly the same in Greenland, which may represent a regional variation. In terms of architecture style and spatial design, House 3 is a typical 18<sup>th</sup> century style Labrador Inuit command house.

All of the sites examined except for House 3 show evidence of a lengthy or repeated occupation and/or rebuild through the accumulation of rich and distinct midden areas and evidence of rebuild within the structure. This is where House 3 seems to differ in comparison to the other structures, as there is no evidence to suggest that House 3 was occupied for longer than a season. The length of occupation may also explain its smaller size, as the inhabitants may have expended less energy in building the dwelling for a short stay. This leads one to speculate about the purpose of building a large, communal structure at all, even for a short duration stay. It is possible that the house was slated for a longer occupation but the area was not conducive to repeated occupancy. This proposition is weakly supported in light of evidence for sustained re-use over multi-seasonal visits to the Huntingdon Island 5 site (Rankin 2010b. 2010c). Perhaps the building of the communal house during this period of increasing European encroachment in Inuit territory was a symbol of power and "Inuitness" (Kaplan and Woollett 2000:357) and a connection to the north of Labrador. The inhabitants of House 3 were likely closely related (Taylor 1974), and the household head may have instigated the building of a communal style structure in a show of solidarity to the northern kin eroups. The large communal structures were representations of power and wealth to other Inuit groups as well as to European groups who would have recognized that large houses were home to wealthy Inuit and/or Inuit willing to trade. The large dwelling at Huntingdon Island 5 is a

reflection of the desires of the bousehold head or residents to construct a winter house of a particular style and size, suggesting a level of cultural solidarity within Labradoe. Furthermore, the large command structure is representative of a certain level of prestige attributed to the family residing within the structure. The building of the command structure at Huminghon haad 5 may have been more symbolic than necessary.

Taking into consideration that House 3 was a single season or partial season occupation, the assemblage is relatively large and laden with European commodities. The inhabitants of House 3 were undoubtedly in contact with European groups and arouably southern traders acting as ligitons between the Europeans and the central and northern Inuit communities (Taylor 1976). Ethnographic documents reveal that the middlemen themselves were not involved in whaling and instead established trading partnerships with Europeans and subsequently traded desired commodities at a high price to the northern Inuit in exchange for copious amounts of baleen and other products (Taylor 1976:2). Contemporaneous houses in northern Labrador, such as Uivak Point, were clearly supplied with a rich and diverse amount of European goods. To keep this supply constant to allow for the type of accumulation of goods seen in the north, the northern population must be heavily involved in capturing whales or hunting seals to obtain the products that enable trade. This may be correlated with the large size and lengthy occupation of the houses in the north. The focus on whaling and amassing a surplus requires a substantial amount of people and a level of coordination, which may affect the size and nature of settlements (Taylor 1974:43-44, 84). Alternatively, Eskimo Island 1 in central Labrador represents a different phenomenon not focussed on whaling. Instead it annears Eskimo Island was a nermanent trading location that was central to other areas
and a place where surplus was guithered and stored. Both the orthern whaling communities and the central trading post locations differ from the House To occupation in Standwich Bay. The ability of the even equality from the House To occupation of potentially undertook scaling in standwich Bay for trading purposes. Essentially, the limit residing in northern Labrador were focused on communal whaling, the limit in central Labrador were involved in a trading post endeavour, and the limit in the more southerne locales were front of the line tradees undertaking direct transactions with Europeans. Significantly, the limit groups throughout Labrador were constructing and living in sulfast style communit houses.

In regards to the initial quantion posed, the result as variation of them the analysis of Home 3 suggest that the structure appears to represent a variation of the communal house despite its typical communal style form. House 3 represents a different type of occupation of a less permanent nature than the contemporareous houses from mothem Labrador or the trading centre of Eskimo Island. Inuit groups involved in European trade relationships required settlement flexibility and mobility in order to move quickly to the European groups. In contrast, whaling communities of northern Labrador involved in the middleman trade needed a more permanent settlement system for undersking whaling and also of the purpose of bring located early by the middlemen for trading to occur.

To address the closely related second question regarding the proximity to Europeans affecting the assemblage, it appears that closeness to Europeans does not necessarily equate with robust assemblages full of European manufactured items. The Imati in the scuth behaviour European imaginate bits where they

130

eventually transcended into the archaeological record, while more southern sites, such as House 3, remained bare in comparison (Bankin 2009:25). Proximity to European does not mean houses: will be full of European items, as commodities were gathered and traded up north, thereby creating a type of regional assemblage variation. Historical documents detail the difference in household assemblages between the north and south populations, with northern houses described as containing a greater variety of items of better quality and appearance than residents of southern Labeader (Rollmann 2011:3). Evidence of the accumulation of goods for trading purposes in not present on the face of the House 3 assemblage, but that is as expected unless the house lad to be unexpectedly or addemly described with the trade items abandoned indicates. The House 3 assemblage instead indicates that the inhibitants were in possession of European items and that many more items were likely sent orth along the established trade networks in exchange for baleen, oil, and other items in which house the site house calchange for baleen, oil, and other items in which house the other works.

To sum up, the proximity to Europeans did essentially after the nature of communal houses and the associated assemblage. This was manifested in a more mobile settlement system and less diverse assemblages transcending into the archaeological record. Significantly, the communal style was minimized throughout Lahador, which may have been less a result of function as it was a cultural symbol of power and identity within the lmit social system that was sustained at the local family level. The House 3 excavation has been thoroughly cannined within a comparative framework and now the initial research objectives can be fully addressed and the final interpretations put forth in the next and final choirer.

131

# Chapter 6: Discussion and Conclusions

# 6.1 Introduction

The final chapter first provides a condensed summary of the House 3 excavation and results. The summary of results is not meant to be comprehensive as the full data presentation is available in Chapters 3-5. Instead, the summary is provided to reiterate the main findings in order to inform the proceeding discussion, and to facilitate further interpretation. The final accetion presents the closing remarks and incorporates suggested areas for future research.

## 6.1.1 Summary of House 3 Excavation and Findings

The necessarian of House 3 underskinen in the summer of 2010 revealed a large semi-subtermanen structure with paved interior and entrance passage. The house contained there niceles design platforms limiting used of the interior walk and student codd trag entrance passage. The interior of the house measured 8.5 m by 7 m and wa orientated to the northwest. At least four other such houses were situated near to House 3 at the Humitingson Island 5 size representing various contact period occupations used in the limit re-use of Humitingson Island over a lengthy chronological period. House 3 was constructed of soft, stone, at limber components indicative of an Intit winter house. The size and spatial organization of House 3 classified it is a typical Labrade finati command house form and it was very similar in design to 18<sup>th</sup> century command structures is contral and orther labrader.

In terms of material culture, 753 items were collected, approximately 80 percent of which were of European manufacture. Although European items dominated the assemblage, traditional Inuit food preparation, tools, and transportation gear were recovered. Seven percent of the European manufactured items were modified from the intended function and fashioned into traditional limit tool forms or adorment items; however, the majority of European items recovered were in unaltered form. The artifacts were generally distributed around the sleeping platform and alcove areas.

In total 686 finand remains were collected. Over 50 percent of the assemblage consisted of anal species, which was largely dominated by ringed and harp seal. At least 17 individual cases the expresent in the assemblage and at least is individual carbox. Apart from the dominant presence of seal and earlies in the assemblage, the inhubitants also exploited seasonally available resources such as for, edier duick, and nothers in limited amounts. The species present in the assemblage were indicative of a late full to white period cacegointon which is consistent with the winter house from. Two small midden areas were eccountered during the course of excavation located outside of the house perpert on ether side of the entrance passage. Limited famal elements were recovered from the interior of the house.

# 6.2 Addressing Initial Research Questions

As outlined in Chapter J, this research has three central objectives that seek to address the date of the Home 3 occupation, the extent and nature of the cultural interactions between the limit and Europeans, and the positioning of Home 3 within the region of Lahadoad as a whole through placing it within a comparise framework. The primary objective is concerned with the description of Home 3 and the dating of the home accupation through various complementary means. The secondary research objective in focuated on the cultural interactions between the Inuit and the Europeans groups in Lahadoac, predicably the manuer in which European times were incorporated and used by the limit residing in Hoose 3 and the nature of the limit-European trade relations. The third objective is focused on assessing the similarities or differences in command house characteristics across the region of Labrador through placing the execution within a comparative framework consisting of contingremenous Labrador limit winter houses. The purpose of the house form comparison is to situate House 3 within the region of Labrador to allow comment on the nature of the southern communal house and any potential variation to leadine content, on the nature of house of its kind to be examined that is could of Gorossett Res. Nava yrepresent.

## 6.2.1 Dating of the House 3 Occupation

The necavation of House 3 exposed a large multi-family residence in the Labrador Initi winter house style. The volume of European goods recovered during excavation Initiation that the bows was eccepted during the contact period. A torus pecific dual renebos including datable European terms, radiocarbon during, and architecture and results were outlined specifically in Chapter 4, but the multi conclusions are usecidary extensible blow. The recovered European-origin marinal culture of which duar ranges could be obtained included beads, ceramics, a George II coin, sword hills, a publick, pipes, and a previer spoor. According to the muterial culture analysis, Hones J w accoregied after 1720 and prior to 1730. Radiocarbon duas obtained form sumodified quarters of the 18<sup>40</sup> century. Radiocarbon ranges for such a recent period cumot status alone and ette to be substantiated with other dating methods, as have been applied in this analowise. Final Proc. Retheremer 24 and 24 a architecture chronology for northern and central Labrador, which dates communal houses to the period 1706-1850. Altogether, a 1720-1780 date range was suggested for House 3 with the occupation likely falling within the period of 1720-1740. This places House 3 finniby within the period of permanent French settlements, Schledermann's (1971) Communal House period, and Jordan and Kaglan's (1980) Intermitter Trading period.

Despite the dating of the surveuter falling within the period of the French control of Labrador, the assemblage of House 2 does not appear to represent husi instructions with one specific Housen calural groups on both French and Hittmark matteria during wars person. The occupation date of the structure likely falls around 1720-1740, which is the period that France hald rights to southern Labrador. Pixertellesia, even when France hald control of Labrador prior to 1760, other groups were still frequenting the area and material collute from different European cultural groups entered husi exchange networks. Europeans in Labrador traded manufactured items from various countries to the Instit and, as a result, there is no clare evidence of direct huni interaction with one specific European cultural group in the assemblane.

# 6.2.2 Inuit-European Cultural Encounters

# 6.2.2.1 Incorporation of European Goods

As outlined in Chapter 1, the focus of the interpretation will not be on estimating the level of acculturation of the limit as these models are both restrictive and directional in outcome (Lightfield 1995; Lightfield et al. 1998). A large percentage of the recovered assemblage was European to origin, but this is not to be interpreted as a widespread adoption of European behaviours, practices, or beliefs. As indicated in the assemblage, trational food preparation terms such as solution per recovered as well as traditional atyle women and men's knives. Furthermore, whaleboose idel goar and huming expirpment were also collected as were traditional fire starting implements. The assemblarge from librogate to hist histointar specietic denisional scale huming techniques, used oil lamps to heat and light the dwelling, prepared food and materials in conventional manners, and used traditional transportation gear. The assemblage also staggests that European iron tools and items were incorporated as substitutes for traditional atoms, how, and wood items. Each ten ten percent of the European items recovered were altered to axit traditional futuit functions and certain items, such as iron implements and ceramics, were used as direct replacements for slate tools and suspostue post. Beaping the large quantity of European-origin items, the assemblage from House 3 points towed cellunal containing it terms of daily activities and precises.

The manner in which foreign objects were incorporated and imbated with meaning is at least as significant, if not more significant, than the fact that they are found in contact contexts (Kopytoff 1986; Silliman 2005). (Objects in colorali attainations are complex to interpret as these items were generally produced in one context and commande in a separate milieu (Stahl 2002; Silliman 2005). (Objects and the set incorporated on a large scale but were often used in traditional ways itereby providing a contaction to the part (Stahl 2002). (Objects were selectively incorporated into fmait threakits and were likely collected for threafing proposes to and to northern. Larknow there direct contact with Europeans was nonexistent. The House 3 assemblage suggests that the fmait were obtaining items that were both utililation in function and items for adornment. The cultural tradition determined how items were incorporated and basds, lead predatus, and other comments were used to them see to incorporate and and basds, lead predatus, and other comments were used to descore choicing in the same manner animal toth and

136

amulets were used in the past (Karklins 1992; Woollett 2003). The lnuit were not collecting all European items available and were selectively incorporating certain items in familiar ways.

Objects in contact situations were used in both traditional and novel ways to create and negotiate identities (Silliman 2005). To Inuit traders, European items represented a conduit to increased social standing and connections. To the people obtaining the goods from the middlemen traders. European items fulfilled utilitarian functions and were a display of status exhibited through access to these items and the means to acquire them. Embellishing women's clothing and accessories with beads and other European manufactured ornaments was a traditional sign of material wealth in Inuit society (Kaplan and Woollett 2000:357). The prevalence of beads and other decorative items in House 3, such as pendants, a ring, and perforated copper coins and pieces, indicates that the inhabitants were displaying overt symbols of wealth on their bodies as signs to other Inuit and to Europeans and were acquiring these nieces to trade to northern communities. A compelling example is the pair of French grenadier copper sword hilts recovered in House 3. The Inuit wearing these sword pieces, which were altered to permit suspension, were likely representative of prestige and access to Europeans. The sword pieces may also have embodied a symbol of warning to Europeans that these Inuit were dangerous and capable of acquiring prized French possessions.

#### 6.2.2.2 Nature of Interactions

The nature of the cultural encounters and contacts between the Inuit and the European groups was an integral aspect of the House 3 analysis. The focus was on the long-term Inuit-European entanelements rather than short-term contact episodes. The awareness of the existence of the other was not a new cultural concept for the limit as for centuries the Thale were knowledgeable about other groups through both direct contact and access to foregate material culture. Its Labrador, the finite dividual opols initially through pilfering and sporadic contact during the tenure of the migratory fishery, which eventually hilfed to direct exchange transactions by the 10<sup>4</sup> centure. The types of items present in blows 3 indicates some form of direct exchange coccurred rather than pare excerning or opportunistic collecting. The short volume and variety of goods within the assemblage attests to a certain level of direct, perhaps even formalized, exchange. For instance, beach, pipes, and other emanced alterns such as coins and swort blink, are lidely indicative of direct trading material terms such as coins and avard blink, are

Encounters between the limit and the Europeans were ongoing in Labarder for centuries with both groups involved in processes of matual accommodation. A permanent contain limitidized presence was all discales away during the exequation of House 3, and 19<sup>th</sup>-century Labrador was not a time solely of limit cultural subordination to the Europeans. Instead, Innie European relationships were turniluous and supredictable, though undership interviend. Arguably, the relationships with the Europeans, which were intensity (in our supercedented scale during the 15<sup>th</sup> century, superard a reaction from the limit in which local customs were elaborated to contrast with the foreign presence (Kaplan and Woolfer 2000, Thomas 1991-4). This secured through the amplification of architecture and the expansion of support networks and allances through testonfue trace versions: Kashun and WOOLF 2000.

The nature of the Inuit-European trade relations during this time was likely direct, as indicated by the types of goods recovered, and this increased access to the foreigners

138

created scenarios in which traditional Inuit cultural boundaries could be pushed and new social roles negotiated. Contact situations are instrumental in "reshaping cultural orders since they provide individuals from all walks of life with new opportunities to negotiate and redefine their social identities in the process of daily practice" (Lightfoot et al. 1998:202). In 18th-century Labrador, ambitious Inuit traders were able to adapt to the situation at hand and create a vital role for themselves as middlemen bridging two or more cultural groups. An 18th-century Inuit questionnaire recorded by a missionary reveals that the Inuit were uncomfortable residing near Europeans and were "afraid of their irregularities with respect to their Women etc." (Taylor 1972-138). Certain individuals may have used this general feeling of unease around the foreign presence to their advantage and took on the liaison and intermediary role. The middleman had access to the Europeans and their goods and possessed information concerning the foreigners. Through attaching distinct European emblems on clothing, such as perforated coins, the Inuit perhaps provided an immediate status indicator to both Inuit and European groups. Despite the potential for new high status roles, "the contact situation was both an economic windfall and a source of tremendous ideological stress" (Kaplan and Woollett 2000:352). Although a regularized European presence created advantageous situations for certain ambitious traders, the year-round settler nonulation was also a threat to the established Inuit cultural system.

#### 6.2.3 Comparative Framework

The purpose of this section is to position House 3 from the Huntingdon Island 5 site within the context of 18<sup>th</sup>-century Labrador. The discussion begins with the larger picture of the Communal House phase and then focuses specifically on the nature of the

139

House 3 occupation in Sandwich Bay. It is through the information gleaned from the comparative analysis that an interpretation is put forth concerning the purpose of House 3 located in the southern stretches of Labrador.

6.2.3.1 Continuity and Change in 18th-Century Labrador

During the 18<sup>th</sup> century in Labrador a nuther abneye change occurred throughout the region regularing the size and organization of space within limit wither dwellings. There or more finalise combined into large structures, replencing the small, single-finally houses of earlier periods. The re-organization of space and the domestic unit would have dramatically affected the lived experiences of the resident of the multi-family books. Household units are areas where people perform tasks, interact, ulery, reproduce, comman, and, mog sementially and importantly double. According to Heidegger (1977:325; emphasis in original), to dwell is the way in which "humans are on the earth" and the manner in which human being create a sense of self and place in the world. Clearly, during the 19<sup>th</sup> century in Labrador, the sense of self and subaging and adapting as readirences was amplified on a much larger scale.

Various hypothesise exist for the dratic charge in housing size and armagement that occurred in 18<sup>th</sup>-century Labrador, which were outlined in Chapter 2. The evidence gathered during this research does not allow for direct comment on the origins of command houses in Labrador, incertheless, indirect evidence from this research indicates that communal houses were built in all the environs of Labrador and that multifamily structures were associated with increased communalism, high natura roles, and culturally prescribed notions of pressing. Regardless of the motives for the aboption of command houses, the change occurred quire praisib and it agrees, hughendoby, while the change occurred quire praisib and it agrees, hughendoby, while Labradore. Communal houses were fairly well documented in parts of northern and central Labrador while House 3 represented the first house of this period to be examined in Sandwich Bay. The analysis of House 3 allows preliminary comments to be made on the nature of communal houses throughout the entire region of Labrador as the results of the execution suggest that the Communal House phase was a Labrador side photometors.

The comparative analysis employed for this research revealed a marked continuity in the organization and use of space within contemporaneous Inuit winter houses. All of the structures examined contained three interior sleeping platforms, multiple lamp stand locations, sunken entrance passage, and delineated discard areas senarate from the house proper. Cooking and food preparation occurred indoors near the bench areas through the use of oil lamps. This is consistent with earlier period single-family winter houses in terms of the organization of internal and external space and the types of activities taking place, but the similarities occurred on a much smaller scale in the single-family structures. The consistency in the use of space within communal houses and the similarity in the types of activities taking place are telling as "people repeatedly enact and reproduce their underlying structural principles and belief systems in the performance of ordering their daily lives" (Lightfoot et al. 1998:201). With the abrupt and widespread shift from single-family houses to large communal structures, it appears that the use of space and ordering of daily life remained structured in a specific manner throughout the region of Labrador, Furthermore, as outlined in the previous section, foreign material culture was incorporated into daily life but was used in familiar ways. During this period, families converged to form a single economic unit, create and maintain political alliances, and negotiate previous social positions and create new social roles. Nevertheless, foundational cultural systems and beliefs remained constant in regards to the organization of space, practice of daily activities, and cultural ideals of status and prestige (Lightfoot et al. 1998). The geographic location of the houses within Labrador does not appear to alter the style or use of space within these dwellings.

Apart from the relative continuity in the ordering of daily life in 18th-century Labrador, the adoption of communal houses instigated a drastic change in lifestyle for the Inuit. The adoption of communal houses did not occur in isolation and coincides with significant changes on the Labrador landscape involving a permanent European presence, intensifying trade networks as the availability of European items suddenly increased, and resultant overt displays of wealth and power by the Inuit. The structuring of daily life was altered to incorporate more neonle within the residential dwelling and new opportunities materialized for obtaining powerful social roles. For instance, new high status roles were suddenly available in the form of long-distance trader and liaison. High status roles were conventionally narrowly restricted and were generally held only by whaling captains and shamans. The new role of middleman trader was a lucrative means in which to gain wealth in addition to a leadership position. Traditionally, high status males often acquired multiple wives, which was a cultural symbol of power and social distinction (Kaplan and Woollett 2000:357; Taylor 1974). By the 18th century, polygyny was relatively common with more men having access to wealth and power with the sudden increase in availability of prestigious roles (Taylor 1974:70). During the Communal House phase, wealth was expressed in traditional ways such as possessing multiple wives, owning extensive dog teams, and living in large houses (Richling 1993:72). The difference during this period

was that the traditional forms of wealth could be gained through unconventional means including acting as a middleman trader and liaison.

# 6.2.3.2 The Nature of the House 3 Occupation

Assessing Houre 3 within a comparative framework revealed that was indeed a typical sky ecommand structure. The differences do not appear to lie in the skyle of form of the communal house, which was remarkably similar to its contemporates, but rather in the associated assembling and length of occupion. Although mothoraghly outlined in Chapter 5, House 3 was occupied for a much shorter duration than contemporaneous houses from central and northern Labrador and the associated assemblage was much smaller in the number of terms present. It was presented in this study that these two factors constitute a type of regional variation in regards to communal houses in the southerm ease of Landork.

Location did seem to determine the nature of the occupation related to the ceconomic undertakings of the inhubitant. In regards to Sandwich Bay, the ceconomic maintawy gaughy bijnolved flexo of the intradiguation of the sandwich Bay, the ceconomic perhaps the location was chosen for seal production to enable the collection of a surplus for trading ventures. Sandwich Bay was well away from the French settlements zone in which Inuit competed directly with the French for the best snalling grounds (Andersono 1944; Stopp 2002), and was regarded as a productive scaling locals. Scaling have been caught in abundance at the Hantingdon Island 5 site and processed away from the houses for trading ventures, it was largely an independent undertaking in the wirter months when ice-see the burget was the minitary and the arcsenice the large communal Babe. force required for whaling. Moreover, to remain productive and maintain trade alliances, the inhabitants of House 3 may have practiced a highly mobile lifestyle to continually move back and forth to trading groups. In this scenario, the residents of House 3 would not have required the more permanent houses found at the northern whaling locales or the trading posts in central Labrador. Both whaling settlements and trading centries were integral to the operation of exchange networks as the relatively permanent settlements associated with these undertakings allowed people to be easily located throughout the region for mange purposes.

House 3 contained fever Itunyean manufastured items, which would be expected if any acquired items were immediately traded north. There was a general level of observee during the Communal House phase in Labrakor in items of architecture style and the possession of European manufactured items of similar kind, but a type of regional apecialization is seen in the quantity of goods recovered. More robust and diverse assemblages are encountered in central and northern Labrakor communal houses compared to House 3, which is related to the middleman trading system and the role of the southern Inuit in this network. Houses in the south of Labrakor were not stockpiling European lems, and were instead instrumental in acquiring the desired commodities and moving them mork.

It is suggested that House 3 was a single season residence, perhaps for a travelling front of the line trader and/or scaling captain and his extended family that differs from the more permeant northern whaling settlements and central trading posts. In addition, House 3 was the only communal house present at the Hunringdon Island 5 site, which differs from the contemporaneous central and ortherm site. Central and northerm settlements contained multiple communal residences that also produced rich midden deposits indicative of statisticed ecoeptations. House 3, and likely other southern commanal houses, was perhaps more representative of the desires of the residents to project a certain culturally prescribed image of status and power through architecture rather than a structure listic out of necessity.

### 6.2.4 Summary: A Southern Variation

The excavation and analysis of House 3 from the Huntingdon Island 5 site provided a glimpse into the dynamics of 18th-century southern Labrador. As stated by Whitridge (2008), the single southern point of contact with Europeans in Labrador calls for separate regional analyses of communal houses as the situations in the north and south are not entirely comparable. The comparative analysis of House 3 to contemporaneous communal houses from central and northern Labrador revealed that regional variations are indeed present in Labrador despite continuity in household design and spatial organization. The economy of southern Labrador had shifted away from whaling (Fitzhueh 1977), and with the advent of nermanent European settlement in the southern region, the economic focus in the south was much more likely about access to Europeans and desired European commodities. In terms of House 3 specifically, the assemblage indicates that at least some form of direct exchange was taking place, that the incorporation of European goods was selective to fit within the established Inuit toolkit and daily practices, and that there was a basic consistency in the subsistence nattern. The residents of House 3 were arouably in direct contact with Europeans but were choosing to live on Huntingdon Island away from the foreign presence rather than live next to or among the Europeans. In essence House 3 appears to represent a continuation of the

Communal House phase with a distinctive southern variation based on a highly mobile settlement system directly related to the middleman economy.

# 6.3 Suggestions for Future Research

The findings and interpretations of Houss 3 are largely preliminary in noscepa si i represents the first communal house excension in the Sandwich Bay region and therefore lacks comparative dats. The analysis of contingenancous souther communal houses in Labrador may fully support or refute my interpretations of the southern communal houses as more findings come to light. The inevitable future discovery, documentation, and examination of claber limit communal house attes in Sandwich. Bhy and other southern regions of Labrador will undoubtedly create a clearer picture of the name of these sites. In dation, the identification and examination of more sites will enable a referencent of the limit settlement chronology for this region. A comprehensive comparative study of all reported J<sup>the</sup> century Labrador limit winter houses available to date, a scale not possible for this particular study, would be most beneficial for revealing trends and disparities within the Labrador Communal House parts.

A promising avenue to explore that was similarly beyond the scope of this particular research is a complete fanual analysis of the houses located at the Humfingdon Island 5 site to determine any changes or persistence in subsistence systems over time from Early to Late great bouses. Furthermore, an inclusive attrikts analysis of communal house sites in Labrador in terms of the types of European items present, the origin of items, and any visible modifications would serve to illuminate regional differences, preferences, and outline the suite of items that were obtainable by the Inuit and how these items were inconvenient thought the label. during the complexition of the 18<sup>o</sup> contray appears particularly finitful and will enable the understanding of the long-term history of the lmit. The Communal House plane has intrigued researchers for cheades and there are still many unanswering equestion that further research will undoubtedly explore and necessarily provide valuable contributions to the field of Labradez lmit studies. The future analysis of the Communal House plane and its southern variation will produce a more textured understanding of the lmitt inhibitants of southern Labradez and there if ways.

# 6.4 Conclusions and Final Remarks

The limit tavelled to southern Lahrador for a purpose, which constitutes an important component of their history. The two centuries of the seasonal European presence during the migratory fishing and whaling industry were generally hostile, but the nature of the fishey created certain opportunities for the limit inter of access to desired items. With the establishment of permanent European settlement in the 18<sup>th</sup> erentury, new opportunities were afforded for certain function data accompanies (by, of course, restrictions from the pending European encreachment in lunit durindus accompanies (by, of newly negotiated social roles changed the Lahrador landscape during the 18<sup>th</sup> entruty. It is posited in this study that communal houses in the outh of Lahrador, douby similar in style and organization, are representative of a type of regional variation related to the trade accourse presentative by the sudtements endes.

The Inuit groups residing in Labrador were by no means a static group before, during, or after contact with the Europeans as marked changes and adaptations were ongoing and appear to be a fundamental component of Inuit culture. Although the findings from House 3 are both preliminary and exploratory, it represents the first analysis of a communal structure in Standwich Bay and has contributed to the understanding of this plane of fruit culture. The research pertaining to House 3 at the Huninghos Indual 5 site contributed to the left of Lathord term tustices by providing information, however preliminary, about the relatively undecumented southern inhabitants of Labeador. The Inuit did colonize and inhabit the southern stretches of Lathordor type 1 (b<sup>h</sup> century, and it is time for this region to receive the floxu of archaeological inquiry and investigation in order to understand more about the part lives of the southern turk.

## **References** Cited

# Ames, R.

1977 Land Use in the Postville Region. In Our Footprints are Everywhere: Inuit Land Use and Occupancy in Labrador, edited by C. Brice-Bennett, pp. 279-308. Labrador Inuit Association. Nain.

### Anderson, David

1984 The Development of Settlement in Southern Coastal Labrador with Particular Reference to Sandwich Bay. Bulletin of Canadian Studies 8(1):23-49.

# Auger, Reginald

1993 Late-18<sup>th</sup>- and Early-19<sup>th</sup>-Century Inuit and Europeans in Southern Labrador. Arctic 46(1):27-34.

1991 Labrador Inuit and Europeans in the Strait of Belle Isle: From the Written Sources to the Archaeological Evidence. Collection Nordicana No. 55, Université Laval, Laval.

1989 Labrador Inuit and Europeans in the Strait of Belle Isle: From the Written Sources to the Archaeological Evidence. Unpublished Ph.D. dissertation, Department of Archaeology, University of Calgary. Calgary.

# Beaudoin, Matthew

2008 Sweeping the Floor: An Archaeological Examination of a Multi-Ethnic Sod House In Labrador (FkBg.-24). Unpublished Master's thesis, Department of Archaeology, Memorial University of Newfoundland, Sz. John's.

# Bird, Junius B.

1945 Archaeology of the Hopedale Area, Labrador. Anthropological Papers of the American Museum of Natural History 39(2).

# Brain, Jeffrey P.

1979 Tunica Treasure. Papers of the Peabody Museum of Archaeology and Ethnology 71. Harvard University, Cambridge.

#### Brassard, Michel and Myriam Leclerc

2001 Identifier la céramique et le verre anciens au Québec. Guide à l'usage des amateurs et des professionnels. Cahiers d'archéologie de CELAT, no. 12. CELAT, Université Laval, Ouébec.

# Brewster, Natalie

2006 The Imit in Southern Labrador: The View from Snack Cove. Occasional Papers in Northeastern Archaeology, No. 15. Copetown, St. John's.

2005 The Inuit in Southern Labrador: A View from Snack Cove. Unpublished Master's thesis, Department of Archaeology, Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's.

# Brice-Bennett, Carol

1977 Land Úse in the Nain and Hopedale Regions. In Our Footprints are Everywhere: Inuit Land Use and Occupancy in Labrador, edited by Carol Brice-Bennett, pp. 97-203. Labrador Inuit Association, Nain.

### Bryce, Douglas

1984 Weaponry from the Machault: An 18th-century French Frigate. National Historic Parks and Sites Branch, Parks Canada, Hull.

# Cabak, Melanie Ann

1991 Inuit Women as Catalysts of Change: An Archaeological Study of 19<sup>th</sup> Century Northern Labrador. Unpublished Master's thesis, Department of Anthropology, University of South Carolina, Columbia.

#### Cabak, Melanie and Stephen Loring

2000 "A Set of Very Fair Cups and Saucers": Stamped Ceramics as an Example of Inuit Incorporation. International Journal of Historical Archaeology 4(1):1-34.

Cloutier-Gélinas, Maryse, Julie-Ann Bouchard-Perron, and Marie-Michelle Dionne 2011 Insect Remains from Inuit Houses of Huntingdon Island 5 Site (FkBg-3). G.A.I.A. Inc., Québec.

#### Durst, Jeffrey J.

2009 Sourcing Gunflints to Their Country of Manufacture. Historical Archaeology 43(2):18-29.

## Fitzhugh, William W.

2010 An Inuit Winter House on Petit Mécatina (Hare Harbor-1, EdBt-3) and Notes on the Harp Seal Failure of 2010. Provincial Archaeology Office 2010 Archaeology Review 937-50.

2009 Exploring Cultural Boundaries: The Less "Invisible" Inuit of Southern Labrador and Quebee. In On the Track of the Thule Culture from Bering Strait to East Greenland, edited by Bjarne Grønnow, pp. 129-144. Publications from the National Museum of Denmark Volume 15, Copenhagen.

1994 Staffe Island 1 and the Northern Labrador Dorset-Thule Succession. In Threads of Arctic Prehistory: Papers in Honour of William E. Taylor, Jr., edited by David Morrison and Jean-Luc Pilon, pp. 239-268. Archaeological Survey of Canada Paper No. 149, Mercury Series. Canadian Museum of Civilization, Hull. 1985 Early Contacts North of Newfoundland before A.D. 1600: A Review. In Cultures in Contact: The Impact of European Contacts on Native American Cultural Institutions A.D. 1000-1800, edited by William W. Fitzhugh, pp. 23-43. Smithsonian Institution, Washington.

1977 Indian and Eskimo/Inuit Settlement History in Labrador: An Archaeological View. In Our Footprints our Everywhere: Inuit Land Use and Occupancy in Labrador, edited by Carol Brice-Bennett, pp. 1-41. Labrador Inuit Association, Nain.

## Francis, Peter Jr.

2009 The Glass Beads of the Margariteri of Venice. In The Beads of St. Catherines Island, edited by Elliot H. Blair, Lorann S.A. Pendleton, and Peter J. Francis, Jr., pp. 59-64. Anthropological Papers of the American Museum of Natural History No. 89, New York.

# Friesen, T. Max and Charles D. Arnold

2008 The Timing of the Thule Migration: New Dates from the Western Canadian Arctic. American Antiquity 73(3):527-538.

## Gaudreau, Nathalie

2011 Stratégies de Subsistance et Identité Culturelle des Occupants Seal Islands (FaAw-5) au Labrador Méridional Entre 1760-1820. Unpublished Master's thesis, Department of Archaeology, Université Laval, Québec City.

## Gosling, William G.

1910 Labrador: It's Discovery, Exploration and Development. Alston Rivers, London.

## Gulløy, Hans Christian

1997 From Middle Ages to Colonial Times: Archaeological and Ethnohistorical Studies of the Thale Culture in South West Greenland 1300-1800AD. Meddelelser om Gronnland, Man and Society 23, Copenhagen.

#### Heidegger, Martin

1977 Building, Dwelling, Thinking. In Basic Writings, edited by David Krell, pp. 319-339. Harper, San Francisco.

## Holly, Donald H., Christopher Wolff, and John Erwin

2010 The Ties that Bind and Divide: Encounters with the Beothuk in Southeastern Newfoundland, Journal of the North Atlantic 3:31-44.

# Jordan, Richard H.

1978 Archaeological Investigations of the Hamilton Inlet Labrador Eskimo: Social and Economic Responses to European Contact. Arctic Anthropology 15(2):175-185. Jordan, R. H. and S.A. Kaplan

1980 An Archaeological View of the Inuit/European Contact Period in Central Labrador. Etudes/Inuit/Studies 4(1-2):35-45.

## Jurakic, Irena

2007 Up North: European Ceramics and Tobacco Pipes at the Nineteenth-Century Contact Period Inuit Winter Village Site of Kongu (IgCv-7), Nachvak Fiord, Northern Labrador. Unpublished Master's thesis, Department of Archaeology, Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's.

# Kaplan, Susan A.

1985 European Goods and Socio-Economic Change in Early Labrador Inuit Society. In Cultures in Contact: The Impact of European Contacts on Native American Cultural Institutions A.D. 1000-1800, edited by William W. Fitzhugh, pp. 45-69. Smithsonian Institution, Washington.

1983 Economic and Social Change in Labrador Neo-Eskimo Culture. Unpublished Ph.D. dissertation, Department of Anthropology, Bryn Mawr College, Bryn Mawr.

#### Kaplan, Susan A. and Jim M. Woollett

2000 Challenges and Choices: Exploring the Interplay of Climate, History, and Culture on Canada's Labrador Coast. Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research 32(3):351-359.

# Karklins, Karlis

1992 Trade Ornament Usage Among the Native Peoples of Canada: A Source Book. National Historic Sites Parks Service, Ottawa.

#### Kauffman, Henry J.

1972 American Axes: A Survey of their Development and their Makers. Stephen Greene, Brattleboro.

# Kennedy, John C.

1995 People of the Bays and Headlands: Anthropological History and the Fate of Communities in the Unknown Labrador. University of Toronto, Toronto.

# Kidd, Kenneth E. and Martha Ann Kidd

1970 A Classification System for Glass Beads for the Use of Field Archaeologists. In Canadian Historic Sites: Occasional Papers in Archaeology and History No.1, pp. 45-89. National Historic Sites Service, Ottawa.

# King, Judith E.

1983 Seals of the World, 2nd Edition, British Museum (Natural History), London.

#### Kopytoff, Igor

1986 The Cultural Biography of Things: Commoditization as Process. In *The Social Life of Things: Commodities in Cultural Perspective*, edited by Arjun Appadurai, pp. 64-91. Cambridge University, Cambridge.

# Krause, Chester L, and Clifford Mishler

1993 Standard Catalog of World Coins: 18<sup>th</sup> Century Edition 1701-1800. Krause Publications, Iola.

#### Lightfoot, Kent G.

1995 Culture Contact Studies: Redefining the Relationship between Prehistoric and Historical Archaeology. American Antiquity 60(2):199-217.

## Lightfoot, Kent G., Antoinette Martinez, and Ann M. Schiff

1998 Daily Practice and Material Culture in Pluralistic Social Settings: An Archaeological Study of Culture Change and Persistence from Fort Ross, California. American Antionity 63(2):199-222.

# Lopoukhine, N., N. A. Prout and H. E. Hirvonen

1977 The Ecological Land Classification of Labrador. Lands Directorate (Atlantic Region), Environmental Management Service, Fisheries and Environment Canada, Halifax.

## Loren, Diana DiPaolo

2008 In Contact: Bodies and Spaces in the Sixteenth- and Seventeenth-Century Eastern Woodlands, Rowman and Littlefield, New York.

# Loring, Stephen G.

1992 Princes and Princesses of Ragged Fame: Innu Archaeology and Ethnohistory in Labrador, Unpublished Ph.D. Dissertation, Department of Archaeology, University of Massachusetts, Amberst.

### McGhee, Robert

2009a The Population Size and Temporal Duration of Thule Culture in Arctic Canada. In On the Track of the Thule Culture from Bering Strait to East Greenland, edited by Bjarne Grønnow, pp. 75-89. Publications from the National Museum of Denmark Volume 15, Conenhaeen.

2009b When and Why Did the Inuit Move to the Eastern Arctic?. In *The Northern World AD 900-1400*, edited by Herbert Maschner, Owen Mason, and Robert McGhee, pp. 155-163. University of Utah, Salt Lake City.

1996 Ancient People of the Arctic. University of British Columbia, Vancouver.

1984a The Thule Village at Brooman Point, High Arctic Canada. Archaeological Survey of Canada Paper No. 125, Mercury Series. National Museums of Canada, Ottawa.

1984b Thule Prehistory of Canada. In Handbook of North American Indians, Volume 5 Arctic, edited by David Damas, pp. 369-376. Smithsonian Institution, Washington.

1969/1970 Speculations on Climatic Change and Thule Culture Development. Folk 11-12:173-184.

Martijn, C.A and N. Clermont

1980 The Lande God Alloted to Caine. Etudes/Inuit/Studies 4(1-2)5:11.

Martindale, Andrew

2009 Entanglement and Tinkering: Structural History in the Archaeology of the Northern Tsimshian. Journal of Social Archaeology 9(59):59-91.

Mathiassen, Therkel

1927. Archaeology of the Central Eskimos, the Thule Culture and its Position within the Eskimo Culture. Report of the Fifth Thule Expedition, 1921-1924, No. 4. Glydendalske Boghandel, Nordisk Forlag, Copenhagen.

Maxwell, Moreau S. 1985 Prehistory of the Eastern Arctic. Academic, New York.

Neumann, George C. 1973 Swords and Blades of the American Revolution. Stackpole, Harrisburg.

Neumann, George C., Frank J. Kravic, and George C. Woodbridge 1975 Collector's Illustrated Encyclopedia of the American Revolution. Stackpole, Harrisburg.

Noël Hume, Ivor

1970 A Guide to Artifacts of Colonial America. Alfred A. Knopf, New York.

Odess, Daniel, Stephen Loring, and William W. Fitzhugh

2000 Skraeling: First Peoples of Helluland, Markland, and Vinland. In Vikings: The North Atlantic Saga, edited by William W. Fitzhugh and Elisabeth I. Ward, pp. 193-205. Smithsonian Institution, Washington.

Oswald, Adrian

1975 Clay Pipes for the Archaeologist. British Archaeological Reports 14, Oxford.

Perttula, Timothy K.

1994 Material Culture of the Koasati Indians of Texas. Historical Archaeology 28(1):65-77.

#### Peterson, Randolph L.

1966 The Mammals of Eastern Canada. Oxford University, Toronto.

## Petersen, Robert

1974/1975 Some Considerations Concerning the Greenland Longhouse. Folk 16-17:171-188.

# Priess, Peter J.

2000 Historic Door Hardware. In Studies in Material Culture Research, edited by Karlis Karklins, pp. 46-95. The Society for Historical Archaeology, Uniontown.

#### Priess, Peter J., P. Michael Shaughnessy, and Barbara J. Wade

1975 Hardware from Fort Beauséjour, New Brunswick. Microfiche Report Series 82, Parks Canada, Ottawa.

# Ramsden, Peter

2010 The Acquisition and Use of European Goods by the Labrador Inuit. Report on File with the Labrador Métis Nation, Goose Bay.

# Ramsden, Peter and Lisa K. Rankin

2010 Thule Radiocarbon Chronology and its Implications for Early Inuit-European Interaction in Labrador. Paper Presented at the Society for Post-Medieval Archaeology Conference, St. John's.

# Rankin, Lisa K.

2010a A People for All Seasons: Expressions of Inuit Identity over the past 500 Years in Southern Labrador. Identity Crisis: Archaeological Perspectives on Social Identity, pp. 320-328. Proceedings from the 42<sup>nd</sup> Annual Chactmool Conference, Calgary.

2010b Huntingdon Island 5 (FkBg-3) Huntingdon Island, Labrador. A Report on Activities Conducted under Permit 09.22 in 2009. On File Provincial Archaeology Office, St. John's.

2010c Indian Harbour, Labrador. Provincial Archaeology Office 2010 Archaeology Review 9:126-129.

2009 An Archaeological View of the Thule/Inuit Occupation of Labrador. Report on File with the Labrador Métis Nation, Goose Bay.

### Rankin, Lisa K., Matthew Beaudoin and Natalie Brewster

2011 Southern Exposure: The Inuit of Sandwich Bay, Labrador. In Settlement, Subsistence and Change Among the Inuit of Nanatsiavut, Labrador, edited by David Natcher, Larry Felt, and Andrea Proctor. University of Manitoba, Northern Studies Series, Winnipeg, in press.

#### Richling, Barnett

1993 Labrador's "Communal House Phase" Reconsidered. Arctic Anthropology 30(1):67-78.

## Ringrose, T.J.

1993 Bone Counts and Statistics: A Critique. Journal of Archaeological Science 20:121-157.

#### Rollmann, Hans

2011 "So fond of the pleasure to shoot...": The Sale of Firearms to Inuit on Labrador's North Coast in the Late Eighteenth-Century. Newfoundland and Labrador Studies 26(1), in press.

## Savard, Mario and Pierre Drouin

1990 Les Pipes à Fumer de Place-Royale. Les Publications du Québec, Québec.

# Schledermann, Peter

1976a Thule Culture Communal Houses in Labrador. Arctic 29:27-37.

1976b The Effect of Climatic/Ecological Changes on the Style of Thule Culture Winter Dwellings. Arctic and Alpine Research 8(1):37-47.

1971 The Thule Tradition in Northern Labrador. Unpublished Master's thesis, Department of Archaeology, Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's.

# Silliman, Stephen W.

2005 Culture Contact or Colonialism? Challenges in the Archaeology of Native North America. American Antiquity 70(1):55-74.

2001 Agency, Practical Politics and the Archaeology of Culture Contact. Journal of Social Archaeology 1(2):190-209.

### Stahl, Ann Brower

2002 Colonial Entanglements and the Practices of Taste: An Alternative to Logocentric Approaches. American Anthropologist 104(3):827-845. St. John, Amy

2011 An Interpretation of French Ceramics from a Migratory Fishing Station, Dos de Cheval, Newfoundland (E/Ls-99). Unpublished Master's thesis, Department of Archaeology, Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's.

Stopp, Marianne

2008 The New Labrador Papers of Captain George Cartwright. McGill-Queen's University, Montreal.

2002 Reconsidering Inuit Presence in Southern Labrador. Etudes/Inuit/Studies 26(2):71-106.

1992 Archaeological Site Record Form for Permit 92.07. On File Provincial Archaeology Office, St. John's.

Taylor, J.G.

- 1980 The Inuit of Southern Quebec-Labrador: Reviewing the Evidence. Enudes/Inuit/Studies 4(1-2):185-194.
- 1976 The Inuit Middleman in the Labrador Baleen Trade. Paper Presented at the 75th Annual Meeting of the American Anthropological Association.
- 1974 Labrador Eskimo Settlements of the Early Contact Period. Publications in Ethnology No.9. National Museum of Canada, Ottawa.
- 1972 Eskimo Answers to an Eighteenth Century Questionnaire. Ethnohistory 19(2):135-145.

## Thomas, Nicholas

1991 Entangled Objects: Exchange, Material Culture, and Colonialism in the Pacific. Harvard University, Cambridge.

# Todd, W. E. Clyde

1963 Birds of the Labrador Peninsula and Adjacent Areas. University of Toronto, Toronto.

### Trudel, Francois

1981 Inuit, Amerindians and Europeans: A Study of Interethnic Economic Relations on the Canadian South-Eastern Seuboard (1500-1800). Unpublished Ph.D. dissertation, Department of Anthropology. University of Connecticut, Hartford.

# Turner, Lucien M.

1894 Ethnology of the Ungava District, Hudson Bay Territory. 11<sup>th</sup> Annual Report of the Bureau of American Ethnology for the Years 1889-90, pp. 159-350, Washington.

# Wadley, Cathryn Ann

1985 Historical Analysis of Pewter Spoons Recovered from the Sunken City of Port Royal, Jamaica. Unpublished Master's Dissertation, Department of Anthropology, Texas A&M University, Texas.

#### Walker, Ian C.

1977 History and Archaeology 11D: Clay Tobacco-Pipes, with Particular Reference to the Bristol Industry. National Historic Parks and Sites Branch, Parks Canada, Ottawa.

# Whitridge, Peter

2008 Reimagining the Iglu: Modernity and the Challenge of the Eighteenth Century Labrador Inuit Winter House. Archaeologies: Journal of the World Archaeological Converse 4(2):288-309.

1999 The Construction of Social Difference in a Prehistoric Inuit Whaling Community. Unpublished Ph.D. Dissertation, Department of Archaeology, Arizona State University, Phoenix.

### Woollett, James M.

2007 Labrador Inuit Subsistence in the Context of Environmental Change: An Initial Landscape History Perspective. American Anthropologist 109(5):69-84.

2003 An Historical Ecology of Labrador Inuit Culture Change. Unpublished Ph.D. dissertation, Department of Anthropology, City University of New York, New York.

1999 Living in the Narrows: Subsistence Economy and Culture Change in Labrador Inuit Society during the Contact Period. World Archaeology 30(3):370-387.

## Zimmerly, David William

1975 Cain's Land Revisited: Culture Change in Central Labrador, 1775-1972. Unpublished Master's thesis, Institute of Social and Economic Research, Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's.







